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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR
THE SCUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 9:18-cv-80771-RLR

ROBERT W. OTTOQ, PH.D., LMFT,
individually and on behalf of his patients,
JULIE H. HAMILTON, PH.D., ILMEFT,

individually and on behalf of her patients,

Plaintiffs,
vs.

CITY OF BOCA RATON, FLORIDA, and
COUNTY OF PALM BEACH, FLORIDA,

Defendants.

* ko, ok ok K K K&

DEPOSITION OF HELENE C. HVIZD, ESQUIRE
TAKEN AT THE INSTANCE OF THE PLAINTIEFFS

* ok ok ok ok ok & Kk

DATE : September 20, 2018
PLACE: 300 North Dixie Highway

Suite 359

West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
TIME: 9:03 - 6:11 o'cleck p.m.
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6 BY: ROGER GANNAM, ESQUIRE
tmail: Rgannam@lc.org
7 .
PALM BEACH COUNTY ATTORNEY'S OFFICE
8 300 North Dixie Highway
Suite 359
9 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401-4605
Telephone: 561-355-6337
10 Atteorneys for the Defendant, Palm Beach County
BY: RACHEL M. FAHEY, ESQUIRE
11 Fmail: Rfahey@pbcgov.org
BY: KIM PHAN, ESQUIRE
12 Email: Kphan@pbcgov.org
13
WEISS, SEROTA, HELFMAN, COLE & BIERMAN
14 200 East Broward Boulevard
Suite 1900
i5 Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301-1949
Telephone: 954-763-4242
i6 Fax: 954-764-7770
Attorneys for the City of Boca Raton
17 BY: DANIEIL L. ABBOTT, ESQUIRE
FEmail: Dabbott@wsh-law.com
18
CITY OF BOCA RATOCN
19 201 West Palmetto Park Road
Boca Raton, Florida 33432-3730
20 Telephone: 561-393-7716
Fax: 561-~393-7780
21 BY: CHRISTOPHER R. FERNANDEZ, ESQUIRE
Email: Cfernandez@myboca.us
22
Alsc Present:
23
Robert W. Otto, Ph.D., LMET
24 Julie H. Hamilton, Ph.D., LMFT
Shayna Ginsburg, Psy.D.
25 Michael Woika, Assistant City Manager for the
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1 The depcsition of HELENE C. HVIZD, ESQUIRE, witness,
2 was taken before me, Rachele Cibula, Notary Public,

3 State of Florida at large, at 300 North Dixie Highway,

4 Suite 359, in the City of West Palm Beach, County of

5 Palm Beach, State of Florida, pursuant to notice in said
6 cause for the purpose of taking said deposition at the
7 instance of the Plaintiffs in the above-styled action

8 pending in the above-styled court.

9 THE COURT REPORTER: Raise your right hand,
10 Please, ma'am.

11 THEREUPON,

12 EELENE C. HVIZD, ESQUIRE,

13 being by me first duly sworn to testify the whole truth

14 as is hereinafter certified, testifies as follows:

15 THE WITNESS: I do.

16 * k k& k Kk Kk Kk *

17 ' MS. FAHEY: Harry, I'd like to make it clear
i8 for the record for which topics each witness is being

19 designated this morning.

20 MR. MIHET: I was planning to actually do
21 that -- |

22 MS. FAHEY: Okay.

23 MR. MIHET: -- before we get too far into

24 it. So ~-

25 MS. FAHEY: Great.
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1 MR. MIHET: -- why don't you let me do that.
2 And, if you have anything to add, you can do that at

3 that time.

4 MS. FAHEY: Sure.

5 MR, MIHET: Okay?

6 MS. FAHEY: Okay.

7 DIRECT EXAMINATION

8 BY MR. MIEET:

9 Q. Goocd morning, Ms. Hvizd.
10 L., Actually, it's pronounced Hvizd; so the H is
11 silent.
12 Q. Thank you. That was going to actually be my
13 first question to you. So Hvizd, Hvizd. I will work
14 very hard to get that right.

15 A. Thank you.

16 Q. Please forgive me if I mess up.

17 A. No worries. You wouldn't be the first.

18 Q. For what it's worth, my last name isn't the

19 easiest to pronounce either. So I'm kind of used to 1it.
20 So we've actually met before, and you know that
21 we're here to take today the County's deposition on
22 certain topics as to which you have been designated for.
23 Just so we're all on the same page, the obligatory
24 groﬁnd rules of depositions, I'm sure you've heard them
25 many times. The court reporter next to us is

Florida Court Reporting
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1 transcribing everything down which is why it's important
2 for you and I to speak one at a time. Okay?
3 A, Correct.
4 0. And it's also important for you to verbalize your
5 answers because nonverbal cues and communication cannot

6 be accurately written down.

7 A. Okay.
8 Q. If you don't understand one of my questions, will
9 you ask me to repeat it?

10 A. T will.

11 Q. And, if you answer one of my questions, is it

12 fair for me to understand that you understood it?

13 A. TIf I answer as if I understood, yes.

14 Q. Okay. If you should need a break today, feel

15 free to ask. I may be asking for a break before you.

16 But we'll be sure to accommodate you so long as there's

17 not a question pending. Is that ockay?

18 A. Thank you.
19 Q. Throughout the day today, I may be using some
20 shorthand terms; and I want to make sure we're all on

21 the same page. So, if I use the word County, you'll
22 know that I'm talking about Palm Beach County, one of
23 the Defendants in this lawsuit.

24 A. Okay.

25 ¢. And, if I refer to the ordinance, you'll know

Florida Court Reporting
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1 that I'm talking about the ordinance regarding
2 conversion therapy that Palm Beach County has enacted

3 which is the subject of this lawsuit?

4 A. Okay.

5 Q. If I refer to SOCE, you'll know that I™m
6 referring to Sexual Orientation Change Efforts?
7 A. Okay.

8 MS. FAHEY: Form.

9 BY MR. MIHET:

10 0. And, if I refer to GICE, you'll know I'm

i1 referring to Gender Tdentity Change Efforts?

12 A. Okay.

13 Q. And, if I refer to conversion therapy more

14 broadly or generally, T could be referring to either
15 SOCE ¢or GICE or both?

16 MS. FAHEY: Fozrm.

17 BY MR. MIHET:

18 ¢. Is that okay?

19 A. I'm only that -- only to clarify --

20 Q. Yeah.

21 A. —— our ordinance bans conversion therapy defined
22 as the practice of seeking to change sexual orientation

23 or gender identity. So that is how we define conversion
24 therapy.

25 Q. Okay.

Florida Court Reporting
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1 A. It may become difficult if you begin to define it

2 differently than we do.

3 Q. I think we can -- we can use that -- that working
4 definition for purposes of today.

5 A. Very good.

6 Q. COkay.

7 (Plaintiffs' Exhibit No. 1 marked for identification)

8 BY MR. MIHET:
9 Q. Now, Ms. Hvizd, I'm showing you a document we've
10 marked as Plaintiffs' Exhibit 1. Do you recognize this

11 to be the Second Amended Notice of Deposition that the

12 Plaintiffs have provided in this case?

13 A. Yes.

14 Q. And you've seen this document before?

15 A. T have.

le Q. Now, beginning on page two, there's a section
17 called Matters For Examination.

18 Do you see that?

1% A. Yes.

20 Q. And it lists thirteen matters, thirteen

21 paragraphs, I should say.

22 A. Through page four, correct.

23 Q. Right. Now, you've been designated to testify on
24 behalf of the Cecunty as to some of these matters,

25 correct?

Florida Court Reporting
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1 A. Correct. |
2 Q. And my understanding is that you'wve been

3 designated to testify as to matters six, seven, eight,

4 nine and twelve.
5 A. Correct,.
) ©. Are there any other matters that you have been

7 designated to testify about?

8 A. That's my understanding. It's also my

S understanding thirteen no longer exists, correct?
10 Q. Correct.
11 A. Okay.
12 MS. FAHEY: Harry, at this time, may I make

13 the statement that I was going to make when we began?

14 MR. MIHET: This is a good time.

15 MS. FAHEY: Okay. I just wanted to

i6 reiterate the County's understanding of Defendant and
17 County as we said in our August 31, 2018, e-mail and at

18 court on September 12th that the County is the Board of

19 County Commissioners which acts as a collective bedy in
20 the public. Defendant is -- and County 1s not any

21 individual Commissioner, employee, agent or

22 representative. So, for purposes of these topics,

23 that's the County's understanding of what Defendant
24 means.

25 BY MR. MIHET:
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1 Q. Okay. 8o, now, you understand, Ms. Hvizd, that,
2 with respect to the topics on which you have been

3 designated, you are testifying on behalf of the County?
4 L. Correct.
5 Q. And so you're providing, not just your personal
6 knowledge, but alsc the County's position and knowledge
7 on the designated topics?
8 A. I think I would correct your statement slightly.
9 You said I'm providing nct just my perscnal knowledge.
10 T am not providing my personal knowledge, period. I'm

11 providing the knowledge of the County.

12 ¢. Okay. That's fair.

13 So you are a lawyer?

14 A. Correct.

15 Q. What year did you graduate from law school?

16 A. 1990.

17 Q. And which law school was that?

18 A. Nova Southeastern.

19 Q. When did you pass the Florida Bar exam?

20 A. 1990C.

21 Q. Can you just give me a very brief synopsis of

22 your legal career since 1990.

23 MS. FAHEY: For the reccrd, we understand
24 these are ocutside the scope of her designated topics.

25 BY MR. MIHET:
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1 0. Go ahead.
2 A. From 1990 to 1993, I served as a law clerk to the
3 Honorable Judge Pollen at the 4th District Court of

4 Appeal. From 1993 to 1996, I was chief of the appellate
5 division at the worker's compensation firm Miller,

6 Kagan, Rodriguez & Silver. From 1996 to 2000, I

7 returned to the 4th District Court of Appeal serving as
8 a law clerk to the Honorable Judge Pollen. From 2000 to

9 2009, T had my own firm, Helene Hvizd Morris at that

10 time, LLC. I was a court-appolnted Criminal Justice Act
11 attorney as well as receiving court appointments from
12 the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit representing criminal

13 Defendants on appeal. 1 also handled other civil and

14 criminal appeals in front of both state and federal
15 civil and criminal cases.
16 From 19 —— from 2009 to 2012, I served as an

17 Assistant Attorney General in the West Palm Beach office
18 of the Florida Attorney General handling criminal

19 appeals. And from 2012 to present, I serve as an

20 Assistant County Attorney, now a Senior Assistant County
21 Attorney, for the Palm Beach County Attorney's Office.
22 Q. Thank you. So you've done some litigation

23 throughout the span of that careex?

24 A. Yes. Actually, between 2012 and 2015, I served

25 in the litigation department here at the County

Filorida Court Reporting
561-689-0999

Electronically signed by Rachele Cibula {201-150-076-9271)
Electronically signed by Rachele Cibula (201-160-076-9271}) df0f6ef0-3d1e-4d46-b7b3-63401d7ahcct



Case 9:18-cv-80771-RLR Document 121-9 Entered on FLSD Docket 10/23/2018 Page 14 of
Case: 19-10604 Date Filed483/16/2019 Page: 19 of 255

Otto v. City of Boca Helene Hvizd 9/20/2018

Page 14
1 Attorney's Office.
2 Q. Okay. And so you've had a chance to take a

3 number of depositions?

4 A. Several.

5 Q. Have you had any experience in First Amendment

6 litigation?

¥ A. During the six years I clerked -- yes. During

8 the six years I clerked at the Fourth District Court of

9 Appeal, several of the cases concerned First Amendment
10 issues; so I had that experience. And T may have had an
11 experience or two on First Amendment issues in my

12 private practice.

13 Q. Have you had any prior experience with LGBT

14 issues in litigation prior to your involvement with this
15 ordinance?

16 A. I think I would say —- depending on what you mean
17 by, "experience" --

18 Q. Have you handied any cases involving LGBT issues?
19 A. So, if you define LGBTQ issues broadly as

20 anything having to do with the community, in general,

21 yes, in that I represent the Community Services

22 Department here at Palm Beach County. And the Community
23 Services Department has as one of its programs the
24 Ryan White Part A HIV/AIDS Program, a federal grant

25 that's offered to assist people living with AIDS here in

Florida Court Reporting
561-689-0999

Electronically signed by Rachele Cibula (201-150-076-9271)
Electronically signed by Rachele Cibula {201-150-076-9271) dfof6éef0-3d1e-4d46-h7h3-63401d7abcct




Case 9:18-cv-80771-RLR Document 121-9 Entered on FLSD Docket 10/23/2018 Page 15 of
Case: 19-10604 Date Filed483/16/2019 Page: 20 of 255

Otto v. City of Boca Helene Hvizd 9/20/2018

Page 15
1 Palm Beach County.
2 Part of my representation included a lawsuit
3 filed against the County on behalf of one of the service
4 providers. I suppose you could say that that involved

5 TLGBTQ issues and that it was related to the services

6 that we provide in part to that complainant.

7 Q. You represented the County in that litigation?

8 A. I did not represent the County. I was simply an
9 observer while another member of our litigation team
10 represented the County. But I did have some input in
11 the matter because I represent the Ryan White program.
12 Q. Okay. And what was the nature of that claim in

13 that lawsuit?

14 A. Service provider was unhappy with the amount of
15 grant funding that they received, so they challenged the
i6 process by which those grants were awarded.

17 Q. So it wasn't dealing specifically with claims of
18 discrimination or unequal access or deprivation of civil

19 rights for LGBT persons, was 1t?

20 A. Correct.

21 Q. Have you had any of that kind of experience?
22 Claims brought by or -- or for LGBT persons regarding
23 discrimination for civil rights viclations?

24 A. While I've worked at the County?

25 Q. In your career.
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1 A. Not that I recall.
2 Q. Okay. Have you had any experience with
3 conversion therapy regulation prior to the ordinance
4 that is at issue in this case?
5 A. Not —--
6 MS. FAHEY: Form.
7 Are you asking her as the County or in her
8 individual capacity?
9 MR. MIHET: Her as a witness, yes.
10 MS. FAHEY: Her as a witness for the County?
11 MR. MIHET: Yeah. Well, we're talking about

12 her background and experience right now.

13 MS. FAHEY: Yes. And those we regarded
14 cutside the scope.

15 MR. MIHET: Okay.

le BY MR. MIHNET:

17 Q. You in your career?

18 A, Not that I recall.

19 Q. Okay. Do you hold any professional licenses?
20 A. TI'm a member of the Florida Bar.

21 Q. Okay. Other than that?

22 A. Noﬁe.

23 0. Do you have any counseling or mental health
24 experience?

25 MS. FAHEY: You're asking her as
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1 Helene Hvizd, not as Palm Beach County?

2 MR. MIHET: Correct.
3 THEE WITNESS: I'm sorry. Could you please
4 repeat the guestion.

5 BY MR. MIHET:

6 Q. Do you have any experience in counseling or
7 mental health services?

8 A. 8o, again, the question seems somewhat broad.
9 Experience in counseling?
10 ¢. Uh-huh.
il A. I don't know how to answer that question.
12 Q. Have vyou provided mental health services to

13 patients?

14 A. No.

15 Q. Bave you provided counseling regarding mental
16 health patients?

17 A. No.

18 MS. FAHEY: Form.

18 BY MR. MIHET:

20 Q. What did you do to prepare for today's

21 deposition?

22 A. Well, because I am a 30(b) (6) witness, I attended
23 several meetings with Rachel Fahey, Kim Phan and also

24 Dr. Shayna Ginsburg in preparation for today's

25 deposition; received quite a bit of materials. If you
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1 see these five binders here behind me, they were
2 reviewed by me.
3 Q. You anticipated my next guestion. So thank you.
4 A. You're welcome. T seem to be doing that.
5 And, aside from that, reviewed much of my life
6 between July of -- June of 2016 to the present regarding
) conversion therapy and the enactment of Palm Beach
8 County's Conversion Therapy Ban Ordinance.
9 Q. About how many ~-—- you said several meetings.

10 About how many meetings did you attend in preparation?
11 A, I believe I attended approximately eight to nine
12 meetings.

13 Q. Over the span of what time?

14 A. I think I would say a five-week period ending

15 today. It may be slightly less than that. These are

16 approximations.
17 Q. And, between the eight or nine meetings
18 altogether, about how many hours of preparation do you

19 think that entailed?

20 A, I'm estimating approximately twenty hours.

21 0. You mentioned Ms. Fahey and Ms. Phan and

22 Ms. Ginsburg. Was there anyone else present at those
23 meetings besides the four of you ladies?

24 A. No.

25 Q. You mentioned that you reviewed a number of
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1 documents and motioned towards a cart full of binders
2 behind you. Generally, what's the nature of the
3 documents in those binders?
4 A. They're documents related to this lawsuit.
5 Q. Okay. And did you review any documents to
6 prepare for today's deposition that are not in those
7 pbinders?
8 A. Yes.
9 Q. What are those documents?
10 A. It would be difficult for me to give you titles
11 or names of every document I looked at that's not in
12 these binders.
13 Q0. How about just in general categories?
14 A. Again, they would be documents related to the
15 lawsuit, the enactment of the ordinance and the lawsuit.
le Q. Okay. Other than Ms. Fahey, Ms. Phan and
17 Ms. Ginsburg, did you speak with anyone eilse to prepare
18 for today's deposition?
19 A. Yes.
20 Q. Who's that?
21 A. Mr. Pablo Rivera was consulted regarding the
22 County's ISS Department and their involvement in
23 securing e-discovery, as that was one of the issues
24 under my scope —-
25 Q. Ckay.
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1 A. —- of matter for examination.
2 Mr. Ramsay Bulkeley, the director of -- acting

3 director currently of Palm Beach County's Planning,

4 Zoning and Building Department was consulted regarding
5 matter for examination related to enforcement. Mister
6 -
7 Q. I'm sorry. Can you speli the last name for
8 Ramsay?
9 A, I can't. I'm sorry. B-u-l-k-l-e-y perhaps.
10 He's listed on your —-- on the County's Answers to
11 Interrogatories.
12 Q. Okay.
13 A. In fact, you will find all three of the names I'm
14 giving; Pablo Rivera, Ramsay Bulkeley and Robert -- 1
15 believe it's DeSantos-Alavera. Excuse me, Robert. 1

i6 think I've gotten his last name wrong. And you'll find

17 his name on our Answers to Interrogatories, as well. He
18 is the division director for Code Enforcement.
19 There may have been additional conversations that

20 would have occurred internally in the office

21 tangentially related to today's deposition between my
22 boss, Denise Nieman, the County Attorney; my direct
23 supervisor, Lenny Berger, Chief Assistant County

24 Attorney. That's about it.

25 Q. Did you speak with anyone who is not employed by
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1 the County of West Palm —-- Palm Beach in preparation for
2 your deposition?
3 A. "o prepare for this deposition? No.
4 Q. Okay. What were the nature of your discussions

5 with Ramsay Bulkeley?

6 A. Regarding code enforcement and the enforcement of
7 this ordinance.
8 0. And what about Robert Santos?
9 A. The same.
10 Q. Okay. How do those -- those two interface in
11 their positions with respect to enforcement of the
12 ordinance?
13 MS. FAHEY: Form.
14 THE WITNESS: Ramsay --— Ramsay is Robert's
15 supervisor or boss. So Ramsay is the acting director of

le the Planning, Zoning and Building Department, underneath

17 which Code Enforcement is a division. And Robert is the
18 head of the Code Enforcement division.

i9 MR. MIEET: T got it. Thank you.

20 THE WITNESS: Uh-huh.

21 BY MR. MIHET:

22 Q. When did the County first begin to consider a ban
23 on conversion therapy?

24 A. The County, as defined by the Board of County

25 Commissioners, as we are aware began considering a ban
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1 on conversion therapy on June 20, 2016.
2 0. And how did that come about?
3 A. That came zbout via e-mail communication between

4 Rand Hoch, the president and co-founder of the Palm

5 Beach County Human Rights Council.

) Q. E-mail from him to whom?

7 A. To the County Commissioners.

8 Q. Asking for an ordinance to be enacted?

9 A. Correct.
16 Q. Prior to receiving that e-mail from Mr. Hoch, had
11 the Board of County Commissioners considered the issue
12 of conversion therapy?

13 A. I'm unaware of the Board as a whole having

14 considered the issue prior to the e-mail from Rand Hoch.
15 Q. What was the need asserted by Mr. Hoch for an

16 ordinance banning conversion therapy in Palm Beach

17 County?

18 A. May I refer to his e-mail?
19 Q. Sure.
20 A. It may take me a moment to find. So Rand Hoch

21 sent an e-mail on June 20, 2016, at two-thirty-three

22 p.m. to all of the County Commissioners at the time,

23 carbon copy to Verdenia Baker, Denise Nieman, additicnal
24 people of whom I am unaware. I'm trying --—

25 MS. FAEEY: I didn't mean to cut you off. I
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1 was —-- I thought you were finished. I was Jjust going to
2 say, for the record, if you could read in the Bates
3 number.
4 THE WITNESS: Oh, certainly. I'm sorry.

5 I'm reading from PBC Bates number 764Z.

6 MR. MIEET: OQkay.

7 THE WITNESS: Mr. Hoch notes that he's

8 attached a memorandum with attachments concerning

9 enacting an ordinance to prohibit conversion therapy
10 counseling, practices and treatments by state licensed

11 professionals in Palm Beach County. A copy of the

12 ordinance enacted earlier this month in Miami Beach is
13 inciuded in the packet. He provides a link for more
14 information concerning banning conversion therapy to a
15 Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services

16 Administration Report as well as a link to the Socuthern
17 Poverty Law Center's article entitled QUACKS:

18 Conversion Therapists, The Anti-LGBT Right and the

19 Demonization of Homosexuality.

20 Q. Okay. And I appreciate you ildentifying that

21 document. I think, at some point today, I will have

22 some more specific questions about that particular
23 document.
24 So that's the -- the document you just referred

25  to is the e-mail that Mr. Hoch sent to the Board of

Florida Court Reporting
561-689-0999

Electronically signed by Rachele Cibula (201-150-076-9271)
Electronically signed by Rachele Cibula (201-150-076-9271) df0f6ef0-3d1e-4d46-b7b3-63401d7abec1




Case 9:18-cv-80771-RLR Document 121-9 Entered on FLSD Docket 10/23/2018 Page 24 of
Case: 19-10604 Date Filed483/16/2019 Page: 29 of 255

Otto v. City of Boca Helene Hvizd 9/20/2018
Page 24
1 County Commissioners requesting that they consider and
2 enact an ordinance?
3 A. Correct.
4 Q. Okay. Had the County received any complaints
5 that anyone had been harmed by conversion therapy in the

6 County?

7 MS. FAHEY: This is outside the scope that

8 Ms., Hvizd has been designated to answer.

9 MR. MIHET: So who is going to testify about
10 that?

11 MS. FAHEEY: Dr. Shayna Ginsburg has been

12 designated to testify with respect to topics one through
13 five which deal with the County's interest, any evidence
14 of harm, any alleged harm and topics regarding consent.,
15 That's one through five.

16 MR. MIHET: Okay.

17 BY MR. MIHET:

18 Q. Had anyone from the County attempted to determine

19 whether anyone in the County was being harmed by

20 conversion therapy?

21 MS. FAHEY: 1It's also cutside the scope. So
22 she —-- we'd just move for a protective order that her

23 answer would be for herself only and not as the County
24 as a whole,

25 MR. MIHET: And that's what I'm getting at,

Florida Court Reporting
561-689-0999

Electronically signed by Rachele Cibula (201-150-076-9271)
Electronically signed by Rachele Cibula (201-150-076-9271) df0feef0-3d1e-4d46-b7b3-63401d7abecci




Case 9:18-cv-80771-RLR Document 121-9 Entered on FLSD Docket 10/23/2018 Page 25 of
Case: 19-10604 Date Filed483/16/2019 Page: 30 of 255

Otto v. City of Boca Helene Hvizd 9/2G/2018

Page 25
1 her efforts.
2 MS. FAHEY: Okay. And, if you could, for

3 the record, vyou could say, Ms. Hvizd, did you. That

4 would assist us.

5 MR. MIHET: Well, I asked her i1f someone

6 did. And I suspect -- let's hear her answer.

7 MS. FAHEY: OQOkay.

8 THE WITNESS: I'm sorry. I need the

9 questicn, again.

i0 (Requested portion read back by the court reporter)

11 THE WITNESS: And so the guestion now is did
12 I attempt to determine whether anyone in the County was

13 harmed by conversion therapy?

14 BY MR. MIHET:

15 Q. Well, initially the question is: Has anyone from
16 the County attempted to make that determination?

17 A, Our records do nct show that the Board of County
138 Commissioners inquired about conversion therapy prior to

19 June 20, 201e.

20 Q. Okay. But, once Mr. Hoch approached the Board
21 about the need to enact an ordinance, did anyone from
22 the County undertake an investigation, if you will, to
23 determine whether or not anyone in the County was being
24 harmed by conversion therapy?

25 A, I'm having a difficult time answering that
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1 question because I understood I was here to testify on

2 behalf of the County as defined by all seven members of
3 the Board of County Commissioconers.
4 Q. Sure. And that would include what the Board of

5 County Commissioners did to consider, debate or enact

6 the ordinance.
gl A. You're asking me about anyone in the County. We
8 have approximately five to six thousand employees I

9 believe right now.

10 Q. Okay. Did the Board commission anyone in the
11 County to undertake an investigation to determine

12 whether or not anyone was being harmed by conversion

13 therapy?

14 MS. FAHEY: Form.

15 This is outside the scope.

16 THE WITNESS: T believe, in response to

17 interrogatories, the statement was provided that we

18 don't commission our employees; so that question doesn't
i% make sense.

20 BY MR. MIHNET:

21 Q. Did the Board direct or ask anyone in the County
22 to undertake an investigation to determine whether or
23 not anyone was being harmed by conversion therapy?

24 MS. FAHEY: Form.

25 Asked and answered, outside the scope.
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1 THE WITNESS: What time period are you
2 referring to?

3 BY MR. MIHET:

4 Q. Well, I believe you saild that the Board had not

5 considered this issue prior to June 20th of 2016.

6 A. DNot that we're aware of based on the records that
7 we've obtained.

8 Q. 8So, after June 20, 2016, until the present day,

9 that's the time period we're talking about.

10 A, Did the Board instruct anyone to —-
11 Q. Direct, ask, request anycne toc conduct an
12 investigation to determine whether somecone in the County

13 was harmed or is being harmed by conversion therapy?

14 A. T know that, during our public meetings at which
15 the ordinance was considered, there were inquires from
16 members of the Board of County Commissioners to Mr. Hoch

17 about his knowledge of harm to children.

18 Q. OQkay. Other than those inquiries?

19 A. Not that I'm aware of.

20 0. Okay. Now, did you personally take any efforts
21 -- or undertake any efforts to determine whether anyone
22 in the County had been harmed by conversion therapy?

23 A. My efforts would have been those that were

24 involved in the drafting of the ordinance as a whole.
25 So T certainly conducted independent research, Internet
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1 searches regarding broad terms such as conversion
2 therapy searches within the Palm Beach Post website
3 regarding conversion therapy.
4 Q. And, in the course of that reséarch, were you
5 attempting to determine whether anyone in the County was

6 being harmed or had been harmed by conversion therapy?
7 A. Yes. That would have been one of the thoughts in
8 my mind as I was conducting research, which is probably

9 my work product; and I'm not waving a privilege.

10 Q. And why -- why did you think it was necessary for
11 you to try to determine whether someone had been harmed
12 or was being harmed by conversion therapy?

13 A. And that is definitely my work product.

14 Q. Okay. How much time ~- so you're refusing to

15 answer that question?

le A, Yes. I believe I have a work-product privilege

17 in why I conducted research or why I did what T did.
ig Q. What did you find with respect to whether or not
15 anyone had been harmed or was being harmed by conversion

20 therapy?

21 MS. FAHEY: You're asking her individually
22 as Ms. Hvizd; not as Palm Beach County?

23 MR, MIHET: Correct.

24 THE WITNESS: I recall finding anecdotal

25 evidence regarding a case that may have been reported at
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1 the beginning of the time period when conversion therapy

2 bans were first being considered by states and
3 municipalities of an individual -- and, again, this is
4 working off of recollection. I didn't take any notes or

5 make any record of it that I've been able to review.

6 But I believe I found anecdotal evidence of a teen-ager
7 who had committed suicide based on -- or after having

g received Sexual Orientation Change Efforts. Undergone,
9 T should say.

10 BY MR. MIHET:

11 Q. And this was an article that you read?

12 A, Again, I can't say whether it was an article or
13 whether it was part of a report. 1I'm simply not

14 certain.

15 Q. Okay. Was this teen-ager a resident of Palm

16 Beach County?

17 A. No.

18 Q. Was he a resident of the State of Florida?

19 A. No.

20 0. Was he a resident of the United States?

21 A, Yes,.

22 Q. Some other state besides Florida?

23 A. Correct.

24 Q. And the document that you read claimed that the
25 teen-ager had committed suicide as a result of
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1 conversion therapy?
2 A. I believe it was that he had committed suicide
3 following his having undergone Sexual Orientation Change

4 Efforts.

5 Q. What type of Sexual Orientation Change Efforts
6 had he undergone?

¥ MS. FAHEY: Form.

8 THE WITNESS: I'm not going to be able to
9 answer that question. I don't recall.

10 BY MR. MIHET:

il Q. Were they aversive or non-aversive?
12 A. Again, I don't recall.
13 MS. FAHEY: Form.

14 BY MR. MIHET:

15 Q. Was he forced to undergo the S0C in that case, or
16 did he do so voluntarily?

17 MS. FAHEY: Form.

18 THE WITNESS: I don't recall.

19 BY MR. MIHET:

20 Q. Was he subjected to Sexual Orientation Change
21 Efforts or Gender Identity Change Efforts?

22 M3. FAHEY: Form.

23 THE WITNESS: I believe it was Sexual

24 Orientation Change Efforts.

25 BY MR. MIHET:
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1 Q. Okay. So my gquestion to you, though, was
2 specifically directed to evidence about people being
3 harmed in Palm Beach County as a result of conversion
4 therapy. You identified this anecdotal evidence of a
5 teen—ager from outside cof the State of Florida.
6 What did you find within Palm Beach County?
7 MS. FAHEY: Form.
8 THE WITNESS: Other than the reports that
9 the Board had received from Mr. Hoch, I found no other
10 reports in my independent research while drafting the
11 ordinance.
12 BY MR. MIHET:
13 C. You found no cne within Palm Beach County that
14 was being harmed by conversion therapy?
15 MS. FAHEY: You're asking Ms. Hvizd in her
16 individual capacity right now?
17 MR. MIHET: Yes.
18 THE WITNESS: No.
19 BY MR. MIHET:
20 Q. And, to your knowledge, did anyone else within
21 the County find evidence of anyone being harmed by
22 conversion therapy?
23 MS. FAHEY: COCutside the scope.
24 THE WITNESS: I can't answer what anyone
25 else in the County did.
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1 BY MR. MIHET:

2 Q. Well, my question was to your knowledge.

3 A. No one else in the County came to me with a

4 report of harm to an individual.

3 0. Okay. And you're not aware of any member of the
6 Commission, for example, conducting an investigation and
7 discovering that people within Palm Beach County were

8 being harmed by conversicn therapy?

9 MS. FAHEY: Form.
10 And the individual conduct of the
11 Commissioners is subject to the legislative privilege.
12 Their individual motivations are not relevant and should

13 not be probed.

14 THE WITNESS: And, because of everything
15 that Ms. Fahey just said, T did not probe individual
16 Commissioners about what they knew or didn't know.

17 BY MR. MIHET:

18 Q. So the investigation that you conducted, did

19 someone ask you to conduct 1t?

20 A. Yes, to the extent that I was assigned the task
21 ~of reviewing the Board direction —-- reviewing the Board
22 direction of June 20, 2016, because T represent the

23 Youth Services Department. And so part of drafting an
24 ordinance is conducting research.

25 Q. Okay. Did someone ask you specifically to
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1 research or investigate whether someone within Palm
2 Beach County had been harmed or was being harmed by
3 conversion therapy?
4 A. By assigning me the responsibility to draft this

5 ordinance, it was inherent in that assignment that I

6 would research.

7 Q. Okay. But did someone specifically make that

8 request of you?

9 MS. FAHEY: TForm. Asked and answered.
10 THE WITNESS: It —-- again, it's inherent in
11 the request to draft an ordinance that I would research,

12 BY MR. MIEET:

13 ¢. I'll grant you that, Ms. Hvizd.
14 My question is not whether or not somebody asked
15 you generally to research the ordinance and -- and

16 whether you felt that inherent within that was the task

17 of trying to determine if someone was being harmed. My

18 question to you is: Did someone ask you specifically to
19 lock into the issue of harm?

20 A. So, if you're asking me whether someone said the

21 words explore the issue of harm, no. They don't have to

22 say that. When someone is assigned the responsibility
23 to draft an ordinance, we must research all aspects of
24 the ordinance, including the basis for it, which is harm
25 to individuals in this case.
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1 Q. Now, on December 5, 2017, at the first County

2 Commission meeting regarding the subject ordinance, I

3 think you already mentioned that Mr. Hoch discussed two

4 minors who were being harmed by conversion therapy?

5 A. Correct.

6 (Plaintiffs' Exhibit No. 2 marked for identification)

7 BY MR. MIHET:

8 Q. So I'm showing you what we have marked as Exhibit

9 2. And this is an excerpt of the transcript of the
10 December 5 Commission meeting. I see that you have,
11 perhaps, the whole transcript in front of you. I'm
12 going to be asking you some questions about this
13 particular excerpt that we have marked as Exhibit 2.
14 A. Okay. |
15 Q. Okay. &nd I see that you -- you have, perhaps,
16 cross referenced my Exhibit 2 with the full transcript.
17 Were you able to determine that these are, in fact,

18 pages from that full transcript?

19 A. True and accurate copies.
20 ¢. IFExcellent.
21 Now, was this the first time that Mr. Hoch had

22 mentioned these two minors that were allegedly harmed by

23 conversion therapy?
24 MS. FAHEY: To whom?
25 MR. MIHET: Yo the County.
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1 THE WITNESS: I do not belileve this is the

2 first time. I need to refer, though, to Rand Hoch's

3 e-mails.

4 MR. MIHET: Okay.

5 THE WITNESS: I don't see mention of the two
6 individuals in the first June 20, 2016, e-mail from

¥l Rand Hoch. But I do believe that he did send the Board
8 of County Commissioners as a whole an e-mail in which he
9 referenced two individuals having been harmed in the
16 County by the practice of conversion therapy. TI'llL
11 continue looking while you ask questions, if you'd like.

12 BY MR, MIHET:

13 ¢. When would that e-mail have been sent?

14 A. Sometime after June 20, 2016.

15 0. Was it closer to June 20, 2016, or to December 5,
16 20177

17 A. T can't say.

18 Q. If that e-mail exists, it would be among the

19 stack of Hoch e-mails that you have in that binder?

20 A, Yes,

21 Q. And, if it's not in there, is there a possibility
22 that you are incorrectly remembering this?

23 A, If there is no e-mail from Rand Hoch pricr to his
24 testimony on December 5, 2017, referencing harm to

25 individuals, then it is, not only possible, but a
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1 certainty that T have improperly recollected.
2 Q. Okay. So T'd like to ask you at some point
3 today, perhaps when you're no lenger in the hot seat, to

4 try to find that e-mail and to let me know by the end of

5 the day if you have succeeded in finding it because I
6 will have some questions for you about it.

7 A. Sure. Will do.

8 Q. Great.

9 Now, looking at page sixty-five of Exhibit 2,

10 beginning with line fifteen, is part of Mr. Hoch's

11 testimony -- let me just read to you a couple of

12 sentences. He says: Over the past two years, we've

13 heard from two individuals, minors, who have been

14 required to go to conversion therapy by their parents.
15 These are kids with gay friends who are comfortable

16 where they are. Tt's their parents that have a problem

17 with their children being gay or lesbian.

18 Have I accurately read his testimony?

19 A. Yes. And, just for the record, it's Bates number
20 389.

21 Q. Correct. Page sixty-five of Exhibit 2.

22 So the minors that he was referencing were minors

23 who had been required to go to conversion therapy by
24 their parents?

25 A. That's what he says, ves.
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1 Q. These minors didn't want that therapy or seek it
2 voluntarily?
3 MS. FAHEY: Form.
4 THE WITNESS: I'm not certain whether they
5 wanted it besides being required to go. We do know they
6 were required to go, however.

7 BY MR. MIHET:

8 Q. Okay. The therapy that these minors were

9 allegedliy subjected to or reguired to undertake, was it
10 aversive or was it talk therapy?

11 MS., FAHEY: Form. Speculation.
12 MR. MTIHET: Indeed.
13 THE WITNESS: Yeah. I can't say. I can't
14 answer that gquestion.

15 BY MR. MIHET:

l6 Q. Mr. Hoch doesn't say?

17 A. Mr. Hoch does not say whether that therapy was
18 aversive.

19 0. And, just sc we're clear, you understand and

20 appreciate the difference between aversive therapy and

21 falk therapy?

22 MsS. FAHEY: TForm.
23 BY MR. MIHEET:

24 0. Correct?

25 A, I would need you to define tc me how you are
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1 interpreting those words.
2 Q. Well, why don't you tell me what those words mean

3 Lo you.

4 MS. FAHEY: Are you asking Ms. Hvizd, or are
5 you asking the County?

6 MR. MIHET: I'm asking her as a witness

7 right now.

8 MS. FAHEY: As the County?

9 MR. MIHET: Correct.

10 THE WITNESS: I don't think T can testify to
11 what seven members of the Board of County Commissioners
12 believe aversive to mean.

13 BY MR. MIHET:
14 Q. Okay. So why don't you tell me what you

15 personally believe aversive to mean.

16 MS. FAHEY: Form. Outside the scope.
17 MS. HVIZD: Is it just aversive you're
18 asking me about now? I know you mentioned --

19 BY MR. MIHET:
20 Q. I'm asking you really if you can -- if you
21 appreciate a difference between aversive and talk

22 therapy?

23 MS8. FAHEY: Form. Outside the scope.
24 THE WITNESS: As far as T understand, talk
25 therapy can be aversive therapy.
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1 BY MR, MIHET:
2 Q. Can be?
3 A. Yes.
4 Q. What does the term aversive therapy mean to you?
5 MS. FAHEY: Outside the scope.
6 THE WITNESS: Well, an aversive therapy
7 would be one that has as part of its components an
8 element to —- I think I would define it as an element
9 that's intended to change, to harm, to cause to bring
10 into doubt or question that which an individual might
11 otherwise believe in the context of conversion therapy.
12 BY MR, MIHET:
13 Q. Okay. And so, in your understanding, tailk
14 thérapy can be aversive therapy?
15 A. Yes.
16 MS. FAHEY: Form. Outside the scope.
17 Ms. Hvizd has not been designated to talk
i8 about that.
19 BY MR. MTHET:
20 Q. Does the County understand or appreciate that
21 there is a difference between aversive therapy and talk
22 therapy?
23 MS. FAHEY: Form.
24 Assumes facts not in evidence.
25 Outside the scope.
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1 THE WITNESS: I can only testify on behalf
2 of the County to discussion that took place before the
3 Board of County Commissioners during both the December
4 5th and December 19th Board of County Commissioner

5 meetings 2017 when this particular ordinance was being

6 considered. At that time, there were individuals who

7 spoke to the Board of County Commissioners and suggested
8 alternatives to this cordinance such as banning shock

9 therapy, T believe one individual referred to. So,

10 certainly, that is an aversive therapy technique that

11 the Board was asked to consider.

12 When you -- I believe your guestion was:

13 Did the Board appreciate? Or did -- I'm sorry.

14 BY MR. MIHET:
15 Q. Does the Board think that there is a difference

16 between aversive therapy and talk therapy?

17 MS, FAHEY: TForm. Qutside the scope.

18 THE WITNESS: As to what the Board thinks,

19 again, I can't get intoc the head of seven County

20 Commissioners., I can certainly tell you that they were
21 present at a time when shock therapy, an aversive form
22 of therapy, was discussed.

23  BY MR. MIHET:
24 Q. So shock therapy is an aversive form of therapy?

25 MS. FAHEY: Form. Outside the scope.
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1 THE WITNESS: Yes.

2 BY MR. MIHET:

3 Q. How 1s shock therapy different from talk therapy?
4 MS. FAHEY: Form. Outside the scope.
5 Ms. Hvizd has not been designated to speak

6 about this.
7 THE WITNESS: I can't answer that question.
8 BY MR. MIEET:
9 Q. Why not?
10 A. Well, first of all, it's ocutside the scope; and I
11 haven't been designated to answer that question. And,
12 second of all, I'm not gqualified as a mental health
13 provider. And I don't know whal you mean by talk
14 therapy.
15 Q. 8¢ just -- just for the record, you have been

16 designated to testify as to topic number eight in the

17 deposition notice, correct?

18 A. Correct,

19 Q. And that topic includes the County's

20 consideration, debate, enactment, interpretation,

21 application and enforcement of the ordinance, correct?
272 A. Correct.

23 Q. So by, "talk therapy,” I mean, therapy that tékes

24 place through words only as opposed to therapy that

25 might take place through such modalities as shock
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1 therapy or ice therapy or wristband slap therapy or some
2 other form of physical contact.
3 E. Thank you for that definition.
4 Q. Is that distinction clear?
5 A. Now I understand what you mean by talk therapy.
6 0. Okay. Understanding what I mean by talk therapy,
7 do ycu now believe that there is a difference between

8 talk therapy and aversive therapy?

9 A. No.

10 Q. Is all talk therapy aversive therapy?

11 MS. FAHEY: Form. Outside the scope.

12 And, so I can make it clear, topic eight
13 talks about the consideration, debate, enactment,

14 interpretation, application and enforcement of the
15 ordinance. The ordinance does not define aversive

le therapy or talk therapy. And so —-

17 MR. MIHET: Correct.

18 MS. FAHEY: -- this witness's testimony is
19 outside the scope for what she's been designated to talk
20 about.

21 I understand that you'wve been asking her in
22 her individual capacity as Ms. Hvizd. And you have now
23 provided the definition of talk therapy, and you have

24 given examples of what it sounds like you believe is

25 aversive therapy. But you have not given the definition
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1 of aversive therapy. If you'd like to give a definition
2 of aversive therapy, that may assist you in obtaining

3 the testimony you are trying to elicit.

4 BY MR. MIHET:

5 Q. So is it the County's position that talk therapy
6 can include aversive therapy?

7 A. Will you please define aversive therapy.

8 Q. I thought I did already. But aversive therapy

9 would be therapy that includes conduct such as physical

10 interaction with the patient, putting a wristband on the
11 wrist and slapping it when the patient is watching
12 certain images; electroshock therapy, hooking up a

i3 patient to electrodes and administering shock therapy:
i4 submerging a patient in an ice bath; whacking a patient
15 with a tennis racquet; using a piliow to smother a

le patient, those kinds of physical interventions that are
17 distinct from therapy that is administered solely

18 through the use of words and speech.

19 MS. FAHEY: Let me be clear, Mr. Mihet.
20 You're defining aversive therapy as physical
21 interaction. You've given an example -- you've given

22 multiple examples of physical conduct, correct?

23 MR. MIHET: Correct.
24 MS. FAHEY: And you have told us in your
25 definition that aversive therapy is, in fact, distinct
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i from your own definitions from talk therapy; is that
2 correct?
3 MR. MIHET: T think my question was -- was
4 clear on its own.
5 MS. FAHEY: Okay. Form.
6 THE WITNESS: Right. So, as I understand
7 it, yvou're defining aversive therapy as physical therapy
8 or physical actions solely. And you're asking me

9 whether that is different than talk therapy, which

10 you've defined as talk only. So, necessarily, they must
11 be different.

12 MR. MIEET: They must be different.

13 BY MR. MIHET:

14 Q. Are you —-—

15 A. According to your definitions.

16 Q. Yes,

17 Are you aware of how the APA, the American

18 Psychological Association, defines aversive therapy?

19 MS. FAHEY: Form. Outside the scope.

20 TEE WITNESS: I certainly could refer to the

21 APMA's task force, if you would like for me to do that.

22 You sald American Psychological or --

23 MR. MIHET: Yes --—
24 THE WITNESS: -~ Psychiatric --
25 MR. MIHET: -~ American Psychological.
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1 THE WITNESS: -- Association?
2 MR. MIHET: And perhaps you could turn to

3 page twenty-itwo in the APA task force report.

4 MS. FAHEY: Mr. Mihet, are you referring to
5 the page number that appears at the bottom of the

6 document or the top of the document?

7 MR. MIHET: The bottom.

8 THE WITNESS: So we're now on County Bates
9 number 75227 Is that where you are?
10 MR. MIEET: Yes.
11 BY MR. MIHET:
12 Q. If you'll lcok in the bottom left-hand corner

13 right before the footnotes, the paragraph that starts

14 with behavior, behavior therapists.

15 Do you see that?

16 A. Correct.

17 Q. It says: Behavior therapists tried a variety of
18 aversion treatments such as inducing nausea, vomiting or

19 paralysis, providing electric shocks or having the

20 individual snap an elastic band around the wrist when
21 the individual became aroused at the same-sex erotic
22 images or thoughts. Other examples of aversive

23 behavicral treatments include coveri sensitization,
24 shame aversion, systematic desensitization, orgasmic
25 reconditioning and satiation therapy.
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1 Did I read that correctiy?
2 A. Yes.
3 Q. And so does that give you an understanding of how
4 the APA views aversion treatments?
5 MS. FAHEY: Form.
6 THE WITNESS: Yes.
7 MR. MIHET: Okay.
3 THE WITNESS: Well, actually, I don't kanow
9 that I would say this is how the APA views aversion.

10 This is talking about behavior therapists trying a

11 variety of aversion treatments. TI'm not certain if this
12 is the APA's position or definition.

13 MR. MIHET: Well, aversicn treatments such
14 as. It's how -- what the APA means when it says

15 aversion treatments.

16 THE WITNESS: They're reporting on what

17 behavior therapists did. I don't know that this is a
18 statement of the APA's definition of aversion therapy.
19 MR. MIEET: Okay.

20 BY MR. MIHET:

21 Q. So they could be saying that behavior therapists
22 use aversion treatments such as A, B, C or D?

23 A. I think that is what they're saying.

24 Q. Okay.

25 A. And they include shame aversion, which it would
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1 appear to me as not entirely based on physical actions.
2 Q. Well, if you'll look in continuation of that
3 paragraph, it says: Some non-aversive treatments used
4 an educational process of dating skills, assertiveness
5 and affection training with physical and social
6 reinforcement to increase other sex behaviors.
7 Do you see that?
8 A. That is what it says.
9 Q. Okay. ©So —-
10 A. Just -- I'm sorry.
11 Q. Go ahead.
12 A. Just to be complete, T think the last sentence
13 says: Cognitive therapists attempted to change gay men
14 and lesbians' thought patterns by reframing desires,
15 redirecting thoughts or using hypnosis with the goal of
16 changing sexual arousal behavior and orientation.
17 Q. Why is that important?
18 A. I believe you were talking about the definition
19 of Sexual Orientation Change Efforts, and so that's just
20 finishing up their definition. You hadn't read that
21 iast sentence. That's all.
22 Q. Okay. So I guess I'm trying to understand what
23 the County's position is with respect to aversion
24 therapy and whether or not there is any difference
25 between that and talk therapy.
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1 MS. FAHEY: Form.
2 Asked and answered. Outside the scope.
3 THE WITNESS: And, again, I can only tell

4 you what was reported during the Board of County
5 Commissioner meetings or in e-mails or correspondence to
6 all seven of them. So I can't testify to what was in

the individual mind of any individual County

[eoRENEN|

Commissioner.

9 BY MR. MIHET:

10 Q. I didn't ask you about individual County

11 Commissioners' minds. I asked you about the -- the

12 position of the County, in this case, the Board of

13 County Commissioners.

14 A. Okay. Could you repeat the question, please.
15 Q. Yes. I'm trying to determine what the County's

i6 position is as to whether or not there are differences
i7 between aversive therapy and talk therapy with respect
18 to Sexual Orientaticn Change Efforts or Gender Identity

19 Change Efforts.

20 MS. PFAHEY: Form.
21 Cutside the scope. Asked and answered.
22 THE WITNESS: Well, I know that the County

23 was provided with the APA task force's report that
24 you're referring to now. That contains a definition of

25 Sexual Orientation Change Efforts that we've just talked
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1 about. And I'm noting that cne of the -- what is
2 referenced here as aversive by behavior therapists, one
3 of the aversive —- aversion, rather, treatments includes
4 shame aversion. So it's possible that the Board was

5 presented with evidence of an aversion treatment that
6 was not solely physical.

7 BY MR. MIHET:

8 Q. And so are you saying that the Beoard's position

9 is that there is no difference between the two?

10 MS. FAHEY: Form.
11 Asked and answered. Outside the scope.
12 THE WITNESS: T can't answer a question
13 about the Board's position. 1 can tell you or report on
14 what is in the transcripts, what is in e-mails that were
15 sent to all seven of them. I don't know that, in an
le e-mail where all seven of them were referenced or
17 speaking, there's a distinction drawn between a physical
18 attempt to change someone's sexual orientation and the

19 mental talk therapy, I guess you're calling it,

20 attempts.

21 BY MR. MIHET:

22 0. You're not aware ©of the Board having a position
23 on this then?

24 MS. FAHEY: Form. Outside the scope.

25 THE WITNESS: Based on what I see in
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1 transcripts of all seven of them together, there is nc
2 position about physical versus non-physical aversion
3 referenced.
4 BY MR. MIHET:
5 Q. Okay. Getting back tc what Mr. Hoch was relating
6 to the Board on Decemper 5, 2017 —-
7 MS. FAHEY: Let me just switch her binder
8 real quick.
9 MR. MIHET: Sure. We can just go back to my

10 Exhibit 2.

11 MS. FAHEY: Yes. It's right here.

12 THE WITNESS: Thanks.

13 BY MR. MIHET:

14 Q. Was the therapy that these minors were allegedly
15 subjected to or required to attend by their parents

le Sexual Orientation Change Efforts or Gender Identity

17 Change Efforts?

18 A. Mr. Hoch states that they were required to go to
19 conversion therapy by their parents.

20 Q. Okay.

21 A. That's all we know.

22 Q0. FHEe doesn't say which kind?

23 A. DNo. He doesn't differentiate between sexual

24 orientation or the other you were saying, Gender

25 Tdentity Change Efforts.
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1 0. And what was the harm that these two individuals,
2 minors, allegedly experienced as a result of being
3 required to attend conversion therapy?
4 MS. FAHEY: Form. Outside the scope.
5 THE WITNESS: Mr. Hoch, in this quotation,
6 doesn't discuss the harm.
7 BY MR. MIHET:
8 Q. Does anyone ask him what that harm was?
9 A. On December 5th --
10 Q. Yes.
11 A. —-- 2019? You know, he discussed harm, again, on
12 December 19th. I don't —--
13 Q. And we'll get to that -- we'll get to that
14 separately. But, on this occasion, did anyone ask him,
15 hey, what's that -- what was the harm that these
16 individuals experienced?
17 MS. FAHEY: Form. OQutside the scope.
18 THE WITNESS: There's one question from a
19 Commissioner about the Florida legislature and that's
20 it. No.
21 MR. MIHET: Okay.
22 BY MR. MIHET:
23 Q. Now, did Mr. Hoch's statement give the impression
24 that he had talked with these two minors himself?
25 A. Mr. Hoch says: We've heard from two individuals,
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1 minors.
2 Q. Okay. Did that give the impression that he had

3 talked with these two minors himself?

4 MS. FAHEY: Form.
5 Tf you're asking about the mental
o impressions of an individual Commissioner, that's

7 protected by the legislative privilege. 1If you're
8 asking her to interpret what the transcript says, the
9 document speaks for itself.

10 BY MR. MIHET:

11 Q. What did you understand him to mean?

12 MS. FAHEY: Are you asking Ms. Hvizd based
13 on her individual capacity?

14 MR. MIHET: Yes.

15 THE WITNESS: I understoed him to say that

16 we, including him, had heard of two individuals, minors,
17 who were required to go to conversion therapy by their
18 parents.

19 BY MR. MIHET:

20 Q. Well, had heard of or had heard from?

21 A. The statement is: Over the past two years, we've
22 heard from two individuals, minors, who have been

23 required to go to conversion therapy by their parents.
24 Q. And so did ycu understand that to mean that

25 Mr. Hoch had spoken with these two individuals?
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1 A. I don't recall, on December 5th of 2017, how I
2 interpreted this statement. As I look at it now and
3 read it, it does sound as if, in my mind, in my
4 impression, he is saying that we --
5 Q. Including him?
6 A. Including him. He may be referring to the Palm
7 Beach County Human Rights Council because he does
8 reference that he is president ecarlier. So he may be
9 speaking on their behalf. And that could perhaps be
10 what he means by, "we've heard," in other words, the
11 Palm Beach County Human Rights Council --
12 Q. Okay.
13 A. —— has heard from two individuals. So that
14 gounds as 1if he's saying that individuals spoke to the
15 Council.
16 ¢. The two mincrs?
17 A. It sounds as if that's what he's saying, yes.
18 Q. Okay. That's -- that's -- you think that that's
i9 a reasonable interpretation of his statement?
20 A. That -
21 MS. FAHEY: Form. Outside the scope.
22 THE WITNESS: I don't know about reasonable.
23 That would be my interpretation --
24 MR, MIHET: Okay.
25 THE WITNESS: -- one of my interpretations.
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1 I mean, the "we" is the part that's a little
2 bit open ended. But I don't know if he's referring here

3 to the Council or if he's referring to himself with

4 other pecple.

5 MR. MIHET: Sure.

6 BY MR. MIHET:

7 Q. My question really is focused on whether or not

8 it was the two minors, themselves, that had expressed or

9 that had provided this information.

10 A. That's one way to interpret from two individuals,
11 yeah, the minors, themselves, speaking.

12 Q. That's your way?

i3 MS. FAHEY: Form.

14 Outside the scope. Asked and answered.

15 BY MR. MIHET:
16 0. Okay. I think your testimony is ~-- is in the

17 record on that.

18 MS. FAHEY: If we could, Harry, when it's

19 convenient for you -- I've been drinking all this. If
20 we can have a break soon?

21 MR. MIHET: Yeah. I think this is an

22 appropriate time.

23 MS. FAHEY: Okay. Thanks.

24 (Recess)

25 (Plaintiffs' Exhibit No. 3 marked for identification)
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1 BY MR. MIHET:

2 Q. Ms. Hvizd, I have handed you what we've marked as
3 Plaintiffs' Exhibit 3. And I'm representing to you that
4 this is an excerpt of the transcript from the December

5 19, 2017, meeting of the Palim Beach County

6 Commissioners. If you need to take the time to compare
7 it with your full transcript to make sure it's fair and
8 accurate, please do that. But, for the record, these

9 pages were produced to us by the County; and they begin
10 with PBC-507 on the bottom. They go through PBC-513.
11 Sc two weeks after he mentioned these two minors
12 that had been allegedly harmed by conversion therapy,

13 Mr. Hoch provided some additional detail to the

14 Commission about them. Do you recall that?
1% MS. FAHEY: Form.
16 THE WITNESS: Yeah. My only clarification

17 would be the allegedly aspect. I don't think he said

18 aliegedly on December 5th.

19 MR. MIHET: Well, sure.

20 BY MR. MIHET:

21 Q. He claimed that they were harmed. And I'm not

22 being able to confirm that. So I am using the gualifier
23 allegedly because I don't know who these individuals

24 are.

25 A. Okay. That was why I clarified that he didn't
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1 use the word allegedly.

2 Q. Sure. The County decesn't know who these two
3 individuals are either?

4 A, We do not.

5 Q. And the County has not been able to confirm

6 whether or not these two individuals were, in fact,
7 harmed by conversion therapy?

g MS. FAHEY: Form.

9 Qutside the scope. Ms. Ginsburg was

10 desigrated for that topic.

11 Anytime we go outside the scope, Ms. Hvizd
12 will be testifying in her individual capacity.

13 THE WITNESS: So I'm not aware of a

14 confirmation of the individuals' identity.

15 BY MR. MIHET:

16 Q. Or of the fact -- or of whether or not they were

17 harmed?

i8 A. I simply know what Mr. Hoch stated.
19 Q. Okay. 8o, on page eighty, in lines ten through
20 thirteen, Mr. Hoch says: We received complaints from

21 the mothers of gay people because their friends, the gay
22 children's friends who also identified as gay, were

23 being subjected to conversion therapy.

24 Did I read that correctly?

25 A. Yes. So, reading that statement, does it become
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1 more clear as to whether or not Mr. Hoch had personally

2 spoken with these two minors, themselves?

3 MS. FAHEY: Form.

4 Qutside the scope.

5 We're returning to previously when you were

6 asking her for her interpretation, correct?

7 MR. MIHET: Your form is —-- objection is
8 noted.

9 MS. FAHEY: Okay. So...
10 MR. MIHET: Yeah.

11 BY MR. MIHET:

12 Q. Go ahead.

13 A. I'm sorry. I need the question repeated, please.
14 (Requested portion read back by the court reporter)
15 THE WITNESS: This particular statement does

16 not make clear whether Mr. Hoch spoke with the
17 individuals, themselves.

18 BY MR. MIHET:

19 C. Well, what --

20 A. In my mind, personally.

21 Q. Okay. What Mr. Hoch tells the Commission is that
22 he received complaints from mothers of gay people,

23 correct?

24 A. Actually, he says: We received complaints --

25 Q. OCkay.
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1 A. ~- from the mothers of gay people because their
2 friends, the gay children's friends who also identified
3 as gay, were being subjected to conversion therapy.
4 Q. So you got the minors who are being subjected tc
5 conversion therapy whe are telling their friends who are

6 telling their mothers who are telling Mr. Hoch or his

7 organization?
8 MS. FAHEY: Form. Outside the scope.
9 THE WITNESS: I'm sorry. I'm not certain I

10 followed what you were saying. Could you repeat the

11 question?

12 MR. MIHET: Sure.

13 BY MR. MIEBET:

14 Q. What Mr. Hoch is telling the Commission 1s that
15 he has heard from the mothers of gay pecple who heard

16 from their gay children who heard from their gay friends
17 that the friends were being subjected to conversion

18 therapy?

19 MS. FAHEY: Same objection.

20 THE WITNESS: That does appear to be what he
2% is saying in this paragraph.

22 BY MR. MIHET:

23 Q. Okay. DNow, I'm going to test your bar exam

24 memory a bit. But, by the time that Mr. Hoch was

25 relaying this information to the Board of County
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1 Commissioners, about how many levels of hearsay do you

2 think were embedded in that?

3 MS. FAHEY: Form.
4 OQutside the scope. Speculation.
5 THE WITNESS: In the paragraph contained on

6 Bates page 509 that you're referring to —--

7 MR. MTIHET: Uh-huh.

8 THE WITNESS: -- I believe that would be at
9 least third-degree, perhaps second-degree hearsay.

10 MR. MIHET: Okay.

11 THE WITNESS: Which varies, of course, from

12 what he said on December 5th when 1t appears that there

13 was no hearsay. In fact, he was involved in a
14 conversation or —— or the Council was involved in a
15 conversation with these that were harmed.

16 BY MR. MIHET:

17 Q. Now, did the fact that that variance took place,
18 that Mr. Hoch went from we'wve heard from the fwo minors
19 on December 5 to we've heard from mothers who heard from

20 children who heard from friends on December 19th, did
21 that change give the Commission any pause with respect
22 to the claims that Mr. Hoch was making?

23 A. I can't testify as to pause that a Commission
24 would have had because, again, you're asking me for —-

25 to get intc the individual mind of any of the
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1 Commissioners; and that's certainly outside of my
2 abilities.
3 Q. Did anyone challenge him on that change?
4 MS. FAHEY: Form. Outside the scope.
5 THE WITNESS: First of all, I'm not certain
6 it's a change. The two could exist simultaneocusly.

7 BY MR. MIHET:
8 Q. I'm sorry. T thought you just testified and
9 volunteered the fact that you perceived his testimony to

10 have changed from December 5 to December 19th with

11 respect as to whether or not he heard from these two
12 minors himself or -- or his organization.

13 MS. FAHEY: Form. Argumentative.

14 THE WITNESS: No, I don't believe I ever

15 said that, actually. T did not use the word change, as
le far as 1 know. Perhaps the court reporter could read

17 back if I did. 1I'm suggesting that this statement can
18 exist simultanecusly with the initial statement that you
19 pointed out in Plaintiffs' Exhibit No. 2.

20 BY MR. MIEET:

2% Q. How so?

22 A. It is possible that we could have heard reports
23 and that we could have received complaints from mothers
24 of gay people because their friends.

25 Q. With respect as to whether or not Mr. Hoch or his
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1 organization talked to the allegedly harmed minors,
2 themselves, you would agree with me that the two
3 statements are different? In the December 5 statements,
4 he says, we have heard from the minors, correct?
5 A. Correct.
6 0. And, in the December 19th statements, he says,
7 we've heard from the mothers who have gay sons who have

8 gay friends.
9 M3. FAHEY: Form.
10 BY MR. MIHET:
11 0. In one statement he says he's heard from the

12 minors allegedly harmed, and in another statement he

i3 says he's heard from mothers through their sons from

14 their friends, correct?

15 A. Correct. And I'm stating those statements can

le exist simultaneously. You could have both; from the two
17 individuals that are harmed, and you could have heard

18 from mothers of gay children whose friends were harmed.
19 Q. I see.

20 Did the Commission undertake any efforts to

21 determine exactly what Mr. Hoch's interaction was or had

22 been with these two minors?

23 A. I believe the only follow-up question by

24 Commissioner Valeche at the December 19th hearing ~- and
25 I'm reading from Bates number 509 -- was: And, guestion
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1 mark.
2 Q. Okay. So the answer to my question is no?
3 A. I think that would be a yes, actually. You asked
4 if they undertook any further efforts to understand.

5 That was the guestion.

5 Q. Okay. A&nd did that -- did that further effort

7 yield additional information about these two mincrs and
8 whether or not they had been harmed?

9 A. Well, it did, actually. I think, in the

10 following paragraph, Mr. Hoch states: So these kids are
11 still being forced to go to therapists who are telling
12 them that God does not love them.
13 Q. Okay. 8o getting back to the gquestion I asked
14 earlier about whether or not these kids were being
15 required to go to therapy or whether they wanted to go

16 to therapy themselves, do you remember that?

17 A. Correct.
18 Q. You indicated that you couldn't say from the
i9 December 5 statement because it was possible that the

20 parents were requiring them and that they also wanted

21 or ~- or not wanted to go?

22 A. Correct.

23 Q. Now that he says that these kids are being forced
24 to go to therapists, do you —-- did that give the

25 Commission a better understanding of whether or not this
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1 was therapy that the minors were seeking and voluntarily
2 assenting to or whether they were being forced to -- to

3 undergo?

4 MS. FAHEY: Form. Outside the scope.

5 Ms. Hvizd cannot talk about any individual

6 mindset of any individual Commissioner.

7 THE WITNESS: I can testify only to the

8 words that are on the page. And so, when the Board as a
9 group of seven individuals hears the words "being

10 forced," they likely, I would imagine, believe that that
11 means they were being forced.

12 BY MR, MIHET:

13 Q. That they were not voluntarily assenting?

14 A, To the extent that being forced could not exist
15 at the same time as a voluntary assent, yes.

16 Q. Okay. Other than this follow-up gquestion by

17 Commissioner Valeche that consisted of the word "and"
18 and the response, did the Commission make any further
19 inquiry intc Mr. Hoch's claims with respect to these two
20 minors?

21 MS. FAHEY: Form. OCutside the scope.

22 THE WITNESS: So Commissioner Valeche

23 follows his first question with another asking: Isn't
24 there -- isn't there some recourse for the parent if

25 they feel their child has been harmed by a professional?
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1 MR. MIEET: Okay. So that goes into -- into
2 just, you know, recourse and available remedies

3 generally for parents who think that their children may
4 or may not be harmed.

5 BY MR. MIHET:

6 Q. My guestion was: With respect to the two minors
7 whom Mr. Hoch claimed were being harmed, did the

8 Commission make any further inquiry about that, whether
9 at the December 19th meeting or cotherwise?

10 A. Well, you're asking me --

11 MS. FAHEY: Form.
12 THE WITNESS: I'm sorzry.
13 MS. FAHEY: Form. Outside the scope.

14 THE WITNESS: You're asking me if they made
15 any further inquiry about that. And I'm suggesting all
16 of Commissioner Valeche's questions, at least the next
17 one: Isn't there some recourse for the parent?

18 Mr. Hoch responds: The parents are the ones who are

19 causing the harm to the children by sending them to

20 therapy. The children are the ones being harmed by the
21 therapy. There's no recourse, et cetera.

22 And then there's an additional question on
23 Bates page 510: Wouldn't the child in this instance, in
24 these two instances, have been able to register a

25 compialnt?
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H BY MR. MiHET:

2 Q. Did anyone on behalf of the County follow up with
3 Mr. Hoch about these two allegedly harmed minors outside
4 cf what is reflected in this hearing transcript?

5 MS. FAHEY: Form. And when?

6 BY MR. MIHET:

7 Q. At anytime?
8 A. So, as to seven individuals, I do not see on the
9 record any additional follow-up with Mr. Hoch as to

1C these two individuals who have been harmed.
11 Q. Did they direct -- and by, "they," I mean the
12 Commissioners. Did the Commissioners or the Commission

13 direct anyone to follow up with Mr. Hoch about the

14 claims he was making --

15 A. Not --

16 Q. -- about these two minors?

17 A. Not on the record.

18 Q. How about off the record?

19 A. And that's outside the scope of the Defendants,

20 being the seven members of the Board of County

21 Commissioners.

22 Q. I don't think that it is. I think what the
23 Commission did on the record or off the record is

24 entirely within the scope of your examination today.

25 So my question is: Again, did the Commission
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1 direct anyone to follow up with Mr. Hoch about the

2 claims that he was making?

3 A. So, if you're asking me whether there is an

4 e-mail on which all seven commissioners are copled or

5 there is any record of public comment during which all

6 seven commissicners are present and a follow—-up to this
7 question is posed, I'm not aware of any.

8 Q. So why isn't the answer to my question simply no
9 then? The Commission did not direct anyone to follow up

16 with Mr. Hoch regarding the claims that he was making
11 with respect to these two minors?

12 ' MS. FAHEY: Form.

13 THE WITNESS: You're asking me now why isn't
14 the answer to your guestion? Your guestion changed

15 several times over the course of the past few moments.
16 So I'm now answering your question, and I believe I did.
17 T'm not aware of an e-mall or transcript documenting a
18 meeting of all seven of the Commissioners when a

19 follow-up was requested to if additional direction was
20 given.

21 MR. MIHET: Okay.

22 BY MR. MTHET:
23 Q. What about any individual Commissioner? Did any
24 individual Commissioner request a person working for the

25 County as part of their official duties to follow up
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1 with Mr. Hoch regarding the claims that he was making

2 about these two minors?
3 A. I was asked to prepare to speak on behalf of the
4 Defendants as it was defined in court hearings and this

5 morning as all seven members of the Board of County

6 Commissioners, so I'm not prepared to speak on an
7 individual Commissioner's direction.
8 MS. FAHRY: And nor should she be because it

9 would be invasion of the deliberative process. Anything
10 that individual Commissioner would be doing for their

11 own motivations or fact finding gathering would not be
12 appropriate for Ms. Hvizd to be speaking about when she
13 testifies in this capacity. Furthermore, 1f you're

14 inquiring as to an attorney/client privilege wherein a
15 -— the County, which is the client here, was consulting
16 with an attorney abcut legal advice, then we would have

17 that privilege, as well.

18 If you're asking Ms. Hvizd whether she is
19 aware that Palm Beach County, as we have discussed many
20 times, has inquired as you have asked, I believe she's
21 given that answer. It's asked and answered and that

22 there is no record of that inguiry.

23 MR. MIHET: Okay. So is it -- 1is it your

24 position, Ms. Fahey, that the County can only act

25 through the seven Commissioners acting together?
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1 MS. FAHEY: I have defined, for the purpose

2 of this 30(b) (6) deposition, which is asking about the

3 County's enactment of an ordinance and topics related to
4 the enactment of the ordinance, that can only be done in
5 the sunshine wherein they meet as a body and vote. And
6 so that is why we have given you the definition and gone
1 forward with that preparation.

8 BY MR. MIHET:

9 Q. Ms. Hvizd, with respect to Mr. Hoch's statement
10 to the Commission that these kids are still being forced
11 to go to therapists who are telling them that God does
12 not love them -- T believe you -- you read that from the
13 record on PBC-5097?

14 A. Correct.

15 Q. Was he relaying to the Commissioners actual

16 statements that the therapists had made to those two
17 minors, or was he relaying an assumption of his about

18 what happens in SOCE or GICE counseling generally?

19 M3. FAHEY: Form,.

20 THE WITNESS: 1It's not clear from this

21 statement. Either one of those interpretations could
22 apply.

23 BY MR. MIHET:
24 Q. Did anyone from the Commission ask him what he

25 meant?
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1 A. I see nc further guestions about what he means by
2 that statement on the transcript.
3 Q. TIs the Palm Beach County Commission aware of any
4 therapist in Palm Beach County that would say to a minor

5 during SOCE or GICE counseling that God does not love

b them?
7 MS. FAHEY: Form. Outside the scope.
8 THE WITNESS: Yes. I believe, during the

9 transcripts of either or both the December 5th and the
10 December 19th meetings, there were individuals who spoke

11 to Tthe Commission. And I'll have to take a more careful

12 look, but one or more of them may have been licensed
13 therapists who were suggesting that a homosexual
14 lifestyle was contrary to their religious beliefs.

15 BY MR. MIHET:

16 Q. To whose religious beliefs?

17 A. The therapists who were speaking.

18 Q. Okay. My question wasn't about the individual
19 religious beliefs of therapists or counselors in Palm

20 Beach County. My question was: Does the Palm Beach
21 County Commission know of any therapist within Palm

22 Beach County that would actually say to a minor during

23 the course of counseling that God does not love them?
24 MS. FAHEY: Form.
25 Cutside the scope. Asked and answered.
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1 THE WITNESS: I think that could be a
2 reasonable inference based on language of some of the

3 people who represented themselves as licensed therapists
4 and spoke to the Board of County Commissioners on both

9 December 5th and December 19th.

6 BY MR. MIHET:

7 Q0. You think that, if a licensed therapist happens

8 to believe that homosexuality is a sin, that, therefore,

9 it goes without saying that that therapist is going to

10 express that belief to a minor during counseling?
11 A. That's a lot of assumptions. |

12 MS. FAHEY: Form. Outside the scope.
i3 MR. MIHET: 1 agree.

14 THE WITNESS: Yeah.

15 MR. MIHET: But it appears to be the
16 assumptions you're making.

17 BY MR. MIHET:
18 0. And I'm asking you whether, in fact, you're

19 making those assumptions?

20 A, Actually, that wasn't the question that you asked
21 me. 1 believe the question you asked me was whether or
22 not the Board was aware of any licensed therapists who

23 have made statements that God did not love them to their
24 patients.

25 Q. To their minor patients --
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1 A. Clients I believe we call them.
2 Q. To their minor patients, right.
3 So you responded by saying that there were
4 therapists who expressed the view at County Commission

5 meetings that they believed homosexuality te be a sin,

6 correct?
7 A. Yes. And I really should find them so that T can
8 speak directly from their words instead of simply
9 characterizing what I recall.
10 Q. Well, but you responded to my question with
11 something that counselors may or may not have told the
12 Commission regarding their own views. And my gquestion
13 wasn't about the views of counselors. My question was
14 about what counselors tell minors during the course of

15 SCCE or GICE counseling. Okay?

16 And my question, again, is: Does the Palm Beach
17 County Commission know of any therapist within Palm

18 Beach County that actually say that to their minor

19 clients or would say that to their minor clients?

20 A. So, 1f you're asking me whether there was any

21 testimony during the 5th or the 19th, December 5th or
22 December 19, 2017, meetings when a licensed therapist
23 said, I tell my clients God does not love you, I do not
24 believe that you will find that on these transcripts.

25 Q. Would we find any evidence submitted to the
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1 Commission during its consideration of this ordinance
2 showing or demonstrating that there are licensed
3 therapists in Palm Beach County that say or would say to
4 their clients, their minor clients, that God does not
5 love them?
6 MS. FAHEY: Form. Outside the scope.
7 THE WITNESS: And, when you say, "that say
8 or would say" —--
9 MR. MIHET: Uh-huh.
10 THE WITNESS: -- my suggestion is it could
11 be inferred from the language here of trained therapists
12 who say that homosexual lifestyle is contrary to their
13 religlous views, that that would be expressed during a
14 counseling session.
15 BY MR. MIHET:
16 Q. Because I thought a minute ago you were telling
17 me that there's too many assumptions in there; and you
18 weren't prepared to assume that, just because a
19 therapist holds that belief perscnally, that they would
20 then also share that with a minor patient.
21 A. No. Actually -~
22 MS. FAHEY: Form. Sorry.
23 THE WITNESS: -~- your question changed.
24 MS. FAHEY: Form. Argumentative.
25 What's the guestion?
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1 BY MR. MIEET:

2 Q. Now, on December 18th, the County alsoc received
3 an e-mail from a Mr. Nick Sofoul, S-o-f-o-u-1 --

4 A. Correct.

5 Q. -- who claimed that his friends had been harmed

6 by conversion therapy, correct?

7 A. T would need for you to give me a copy of what

8 you're referring to, please.

9 {Plaintiffs' Exhibit No. 4 marked for identification)
10 MR. MIHET: {Handing).

11 THE WITNESS: Thank you. ©Oh, you gave me a

12 marked-up copy. Did you intend that?

13 MR. MIHET: ©Oh, I'm sorry. No, I did not.
14 Thank you.

15 BY MR. MIHET:

16 Q. And I'll refer you to the third page of this

17 exhibit, which is the actual December 18th e-mail,

18 correct?
19 A. Yes.
20 Q. Now, this e-mail was sent on Monday, December

21 18th, at ten-sixteen p.m.?

22 A. Correct.
23 ¢. And that's December 18, 2017, right?
24 A. Correct. December -— I'm sorry, December 18,

25 2017, correct.
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1 - Q. Right. ©Now, was this the first time that

2 Mr. Sofoul had brought this to the County's attention?

3 MS. FAHEY: Form. Outside the scope.

4 THE WITNESS: This is the -- I'm not certain
5 that this is the first e-mail Nick Scofoul sent to the

6 Commissioners. And, for that, I would need tfo take a

7 look at the Commissioners' e-mails, which I have here.

8 They're quite lengthy. That might be more advantageous
9 time-wise if I do that afterwards.
10 MR. MIHET: Okay.

11 BY MR. MIHET:

12 Q. As you sit here now, are you able to recall an
13 earlier communication from Mr. Sofoul to the
14 Commissioners regarding alleged harms of conversion

15 therapy?

16 A. I cannot recall, which is why I would want to
17 look to be certain.
i8 Q. Okay. 8o the same request that I made earlier

19 regarding Mr. Hoch's December 5th statement I would make

20 now with respect to Mr. Sofoul; and, that is, if you

21 find another communication during the -- the course of
22 our proceedings today, please let me know.

23 A. Will do.

24 Q. If it's not in the stack of materials that you

25 have with you, is it fair to assume that it doesn't
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1 exist?
2 A. T believe I have all of the e-mails that were
3 sent to the seven Commissioners --
4 Q. Okay.
5 A. -- in that stack.
6 Q. Now, this e-mail was sent then the night before
7 the final vote of the ordinance -- or on the ordinance,
8 right?
9 A. Correct.
10 ¢. That vote took place the following morning at
11 nine-thirty a.m.?
12 A. Well, a meeting took place at nine-thirty a.m. I

13 don't think this was the first item on the agenda, so it
14 would have been sometime thereafter. And I believe

15 there was both a morning and afternocon meeting on that

16 day.

17 Q Okay. But the --

18 A, I'm —-

19 Q I'm sorry. Go ahead.

20 A. I'm just not certain what time the vote took
21 place.

22 Q0. All right. The ordinance was taken up in the

23 morning session on December 189th, correct?
24 A. Okay.

25 Q. And so, given that this e-mail was sent at

Florida Court Reporting
561-689-09299

Electronically signed by Rachele Cibuta (201-150-076-5271)
Electronically signed by Rachele Cibula (201-150-076-9271) dfof6ef0-3die-4d46-b7b3-63401d7ahcct




Case 9:18-cv-80771-RLR Document 121-9 Entered on FLSD Docket 10/23/2018 Page 76 of
Case: 19-10604 Date Filed483/16/2019 Page: 81 of 255

Otto v. City of Boca Helene Hvizd 9/20/2018
Page 76

1 ten~sixteen the night before, did the Commission

2 consider this e-mail priocr to the vote?

3 A, T can tell you that all seven of the

4 Commissioners would have received this e-mail at

5 ten-sixteen on December 18, 2017.

6 Q. <Can you tell me whether or not they reviewed

7 their e-mails between ten-sixteen p.m. and nine-thirty

8 a.m. the following morning?

9 A. As I understand it, I'm here to testify as to all
10 seven together; and so what any individual Commissioner
11 did in terms of reviewing e-mails or this particular
12 e-mail I would not know.
i3 Q. Was this e-mail included in the record on -- of

14 the hearing on December 19th?

15 A. I'm not aware of it being included in the record
16 directly as a reference to a December 18, 2017, at

17 ten-sixteen p.m. e-mail.

18 Q. And so are you aware of any evidence or

19 indication that the Board of County Commissioners did,
20 in fact, collectively consider this particular e-mail
21 prior to their final vote on the ordinance on

22 December 19th --

23 MS. FAEEY: Form.

24 BY MR. MIHET:

25 0. —— 20177
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1 A. As I understand it, an e-mail that was sent to
2 all seven commissioners would be something that we would
3 state, the County would state, that the County
4 considered.
5 Q. Well, but you're not able to tell me whether or
6 not the Commissioners actually reviewed this e-mail in
7 the late night hours between ten-sixteen p.m. and
8 nine-thirty a.m. the next morning, correct?
9 MS. FAEEY: Form. Argumentative.
10 THE WITNESS: I'm not here to testify as to
11 what any individual Commissioner did or did not review.
12 I can tell you an e-mail that went to all seven
13 Commissioners and was received by them is considered by
14 them. For purposes of this deposition, I understand I'm
15 representing what all seven commissioners saw, heard,
16 said; so this is something they saw.

17 BY MR. MIHET:

18 Q. Well, that's really my question. How do you know
19 that this is something that they saw given that it was
20 sent to them well after business hours on a Sunday night

21 and that their =--

227 A. Monday night.
23 Q. I'm sorry, Monday night.
24 -- and that their meeting took place at

25 nine-thirty the following morning?
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1 MS. FAHEY: Form. Asked and answered.

2 THE WITNESS: Again, I understood the

3 purpose of a 30(b){6) deposition to be you're asking me
4 what the County saw, heard, read prior to its debate and
5 enactment of an ordinance. And an e-malil addressed to

6 all seven of the Commissioners would fall within that

7 gambit.

8 BY MR. MIHET:

9 Q0. And so, other than the fact that this e-mail was
10 sent on the night of Monday, December 18th, at
11 ten-sixteen p.m. to all seven Commissioners, are you
12 relying on anything else to conclude that the Commission

13 actually considered the e-mail?

14 A. No.

15 Q. Okay. Now —-

16 A. Except -- may I just back up one moment? Except
17 to the extent that there may be a reference within the
18 transcripts of harm noted, then that could be referring
19 to this. Bui there is no reference during the

20 transcripts of an e-mail from Mr. Sofoul.

21 Q. Okay. Now, in this e-mail, Mr. Sofoul says in -~
22 in the first paragraph, partway through the first —-

23 through the second sentence: T have personally heard

24 and been moved by the horrific stories of friends that

25h have been subject to these cruel and inhumane methods.
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1 Do you see that in there?
2 A. Yes.
3 Q. Who is he talking about?
4 MS. FAHEY: Form. Speculation.
5 THE WITNESS: Friends.

6 BY MR. MIHET:

7 Q. Are these friends residents of Palm Beach County?
8 MS. FAHEY: Form.
9 THE WITNESS: That is not entirely clear.

i0 He does state he's a resident of Palm Beach County.

11 BY MR. MIHET:

12 Q0. You can't -- we can't tell by looking at his

13 e-mail whether his friends were residents of Palm Beach
14 County?

15 MS. FAHEY: Form,

16 THE WITNESS: Well, he does, in fact, ask —--
17 in the last sentence of that first paragraph, he says:
18 Passing this ordinance would send a strong message that

19 PBC, Palm Beach County, stands with the LGBT community

20 in protecting childrer from mental and physical abuse of
21 these archaic and dangerous practices. So he is talking
22 about children in Palm Beach County in that sentence it

23 appears.
24 BY MR. MIHET:

25 Q. Where does he say that?
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1 A. Well, he says: Palm Beach County stands with the
2 LGBT community in protecting children.
3 Q. CQCkay.
4 A. If he's talking about an ordinance that our

5 County Commissioners are passing, that has to be Palm

6 Beach County children.

7 Q. Ts it possible that these horrific stories of

8 friends, that these friends are residents of other

9 states?
10 MS. FAHEY: TForm.
11 THE WITNESS: It is definitely possible that
12 they are residents of other states. It's alsc possibie

13 they're residents of Palm Beach County.
14 BY MR. MIHET:
15 Q. Okay. Did the Commission ever undertake any

16 effort to determine which friends he was talking about

17 in this e-mail?

18 A. I'm not aware of all seven commissioners

19 inguiring as to what -- where the -- his friends reside.
20 Q. ©Okay. What were the particular cruel and

21 inhumane methods to which Mr. Sofoul's friends had

22 allegedly been subjected?

23 A. We don't know from this e-mail what aversive or
24 non-aversive technigues were used on these individuals.
25 Q. Did the Commission ever make a follow-up inquiry
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1 as to that?

2 A, I'm not aware of any follow-up inguiry.

3 Q. Were these friends of Mr. Sofoul minors or
4 adults?

5 A. Well, he is asking or writing, he says, in

6 support of a proposed ban on conversion therapy for

7 minors. And his reccllect —- his knowledge that this is
8 an ordinance that will apply to minors. And then his

9 statement about horrific stories of friends being

i0 subjected to cruel and inhumane methods could be viewed
il as his recognition that the horrific stories were from

12 minors.

13 Q. Could it also be understood from his statements
14 that the friends were adults?

15 A. It could be adults. It could be minors. Yes.
16 Q. Did the Commission make any effort to determine
17 whether he was talking about minors or adults?

18 A. TI'm not aware of any follow-up toc this e-mail by
19 the Commission.

20 0. Were these friends of Mr. Sofcul forced to

21 undergo conversion therapy, or did they voluntarily

22 assent to it?
23 A. He doesn't state directly the suggestion --
24 actually, he doesn't state. I'll just leave my answer

25 at that.
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1 Q. Did the Commission undertake any efforts to
2 determine that?
3 A. I'm not aware of any follow-up to the e-mail of

4 December 18, 2017, conducted by the Board as a whole.

5 Q. Mr. Sofoul continues in the second paragraph by
6 saying: Thank you for vour continued leadership. I am
7 a proud PBC resident and hope that you will make the

8 right choice and not be swayed by potential legal

9 challenges by people who dedicate their lives to hatred

10 and intolerance.

11 Do you see that?

12 A. I do.

13 Q. Who do you think he was referring to in that

14 statement?

15 A. He --

16 MS. FAHEY: Form.

17 Are you asking Ms. Hvizd, or are you asking

18 Palm Beach County?

19 BY MR. MIHET:

20 Q. Who did the Palm Beach County Commission believe
21 that he was referring to?

22 A. So I can't speak on behalf of any individual

23 Commissioner. The Commlssiconers as a whole likely

24 considered the legal challenge. And cite people who

25 dedicate their lives to hatred and intolerance to be
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1 referring to the Liberty Counsel, as I believe the

2 Commissioners all received correspondence from the

3 Liberty Counsel threatening to vindicate the rights of
4 their clients.
5 ¢. Did the Palm Beach County Commission believe that

6 Liberty Counsel and its people dedicate their lives to

7 hatred and intolerance?
8 MS. FAHEY: Form. Outside the scope.
9 Ms. Hvizd's answer would only be referring

10 to her own personal knowledge.

11 TEE WITNESS: Right. So I can't testify as
12 to a belief by any individual Commissicner. All seven
13 of the Commissioners together did not express a belief,

14 that I'm aware of, that the Liberty Counsel dedicates
15 their lives to hatred and intolerance.

16 BY MR. MIHET:

17 Q. Does the Palm Beach County Commission believe

18 that either Mr., Otto or Ms. Hamilton dedicate their

19 lives to hatred and intolerance?
20 MS. FAHEY: Form. Outside the scope.
21 It's not one of the designated topics. And

22 Ms. Hvizd's answer would only be speaking on behalf of
23 herself.
24 THE WITNESS: So I cannot testify as to what

25 the seven Commissioners as a whole think or believe
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1 about either Dr. Otto or Julie Hamilton. I can tell you

2 I'm not aware of any statement on the record by all
3 seven Commissioners or any e-mail sent to all seven
4 Commissioners referencing Dr. Otto or Dr. Hamilton in

5 that way.
6 BY MR. MIHET:
7 Q. What does Ms. Hvizd think in that regard about

8 Dr. Otto or Dr. Hamilton?

9 MS. FAHEY: Objection.
10 Completely irrelevant.
11 THE WITNESS: Ms. Hvizd has no thoughts
12 about Dr. Otto or Dr. Eamilton. I believe my e-mails to

13 them will reflect that I treated them with decency and

14 respect throughout the course of the enactment of this
15 conversion therapy ordinance. And I hope they would
le feel the same toward me.

17 BY MR. MIHET:
18 0. So you don't think that they dedicate their lives

19 to hatred and intclerance, do you?

20 A. T can't answer that question.

21 Q. Why not?

22 A. Because 1 can't answer that question.

23 MS. FAHEY: Objection.

24 This is completely ilrrelevant about

25 Ms. Hvizd's personal beliefs about Plaintiffs.
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1 THE WITNESS: Are we waliting for an answer?
2 I can't answer that question.
3 MS. FAHEY: It's asked and answered.

4 BY MR, MIHET:

5 Q. Well, why can't you answer it?

6 A. I can't answer that question. My personal

7 beliefs are so far outside the scope of this 30(b) (6)

8 deposition.

9 Q. Well, why —-- why don't you let the attorneys and
10 the Court decide what i1s or is not within the scope. I

11 think that you are likely going to be a witness in this
12 case, and I think that your opinions and biases —-

13 potential biases are quite relevant. So why den't you
14 answer the question, and then the attorneys will argue

15 and the Court will decide whether or not that's —-

16 that's relevant to the case.
17 MS. FAHEY: This is not a deposition of
18 Ms. Hvizd. She has not been noticed in her individual

19 capacity today. We are far afield from the scope of the

20 designated topics. Ms. Hvizd has given you an answer.

21 You continue to ask her the same question. And we will
22 move for a protective order when you notice Ms. Hvizd's
23 deposition of herself in her individual capacity to

24 preclude inquiry into this line of questioning as it's

25 wholly irrelevant to the passage of the ordinance.
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1 Ms. Hvizd is not -- Ms. Hvizd, individually,
2 is not the Board of County Commissioners. Even 1f she
3 were a Commissioner, her individual motivations are

4 wholly irrelevant and would be subject to the
5 legislative privilege. That, however, is not applicable

6 to her individually. But her individual thoughts are

7 not relevant. And, at this point, I think we're veering
8 into harassing the witness.
9 MR. MIHET: I mean, for the record, she did

10 not answer my question. And she said that the reason

11 why she didn't answer my question was she -- she

12 couldn't answer my guestion. So -- and she said she

13 couldn't answer my question because she felt it wasn't
14 -— wasn't relevant. 8o a witness cannot be instructed
15 not to answer a question on the basis of relevance. And

16 I think that I'm entitled to an answer.

17 MS. FAHEY: And T think that a witness can
18 be instructed not to answer a question to further the --
19 the obtaining of a protective order. And so we're

20 making an ore tenus protective order with respect to

21 Ms, Hvizd's personal opinions about any individual,

22 particularly the Plaintiffs, as that is what you have

23 asked in the scope of this and because it is harassing
24 of her, not within the scope of this deposition. And

25 she has given information about her treatment of the
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1 Plaintiffs. She does not believe that it has any

2 bearing on the testimony she's been called on to give
3 today.

4 MR. MIHET: Ckay.

5 BY MR. MIHET:

6 Q. Are you feeling harassed, Ms. Hvizd?

7 A. Yes, I am.

8 Q. You are.

9 In the last paragraph of this e-mail, Mr. Sofoul
10 inciudes a URL link to an internet article.

il Do you see that?

12 A. T do.

13 Q. Did the Commissioners review the article that was

14 1inked?

15 A, I can't testify as to what any individual

16 Commissicner did or did not review. T can tell you what
17 the group of seven received. They received this e-mail
18 that includes that link.

19 Q. Okay. And so your testimony, as I recall it, is
20 that, by virtue of receiving this e-mail, they would

21 have considered the e-mail as part of their voting on

22 the ordinance?
23 A. Correct.
24 Q0. And does that also mean that they would have
25 considered the article that's linked in the e-mail?
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1 A. That's a reasonable inference to suggest that
2 they would have considered that article, as well.
3 Q. Okay.
4 {Plaintiffs' Exhibit No. 5 marked for identification)

5 BY MR. MIEET:
6 Q. I've handed you a document that we have marked as
7 Exhibit 5. And I'll represent to you that this is the
8 article that is linked to -- in this e-mail. And, as
9 you can tell by looking at the article, it recounts the
10 story and the efforts of one Samuel Brinton who 1is
11 engaged in activism to ban conversion therapy. Are you
12 able to see that?
13 A. I see that. I have no independent recollection
14 of this being the article of the link, however.
15 MS. FAHEY: Have you had the opportunity to
16 review all of Plaintiffs' Exhibit 57
17 THE WITNESS: I have not.
18 BY MR. MIHET:
19 Q. Directing your attention to the second page of
20 the article about three paragraphsrin, it states:

21 Brinton saild they were eleven years old when their

22 parents sent them to a conversion therapist.

23 Do you see that?

24 A. Yes.

25 0. And then two paragraphs below that, it says:
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1 Brinton said the so-called therapist used extreme and

2 abusive technicgues including covering Brinton's hand in
3 ice, wrapping it in conductive wires to apply heat and
4 even electroshock therapy while forcing Brinton tc look
5 at images of men touching. Brinton said the therapist

6 stopped the technigues when he showed Brinton images of

7 men with women.

8 Do you see that?

9 A. Yes, I see that.
10 Q. 8o the kind of conversion therapy that Mr. Sofoul
11 was expressing a position against was aversive
12 conversion therapy?

13 MS. FAHEY: Form.

14 Misrepresents the e-mail.

15 THE WITNESS: So, again, you're asking me to

16 get now inside the head of Nick Sofcul. And I simply
17 cannot do that nor was 1 asked to appear today for that
18 purpose.

19 BY MR. MIHET:

20 Q. Well, I'm asking you to tell me, based on the

21 materials that he provided to the County Commission,

22 whether those materials were discussing aversive therapy
23 or non—aversive therapy?
24 A. If you're asking me if Plaintiffs' Exhibit 5 and

25 what you just referenced is aversive therapy, that is
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1 aversive therapy --
2 Q. It is?
3 A -- as I understand it.
4 Q. Okay.
5 A Personally. As I personally understand it.
6 {Interruption by the court reporter)

7 BY MR. MIHET:

8 Q. Your answer wasn't clear for the recozd.

9 A. I believe it was your answer that was not
10 clear —-—
11 Q. Yours isn't either. Can you repeat your —-- your
12 answer when you said, if you're asking me whether this
13 is aversive or non-aversive.
14 A. I would ask the court reporter to reread my
15 answer, please.

16 (Requested portion read back by the court reporter)
17 THE WITNESS: That's clear to me.

18 BY MR. MIHET:
19 Q. How did the Commission interpret this particular
20  evidence? Did they regard this particular therapy that

21 Mr. Sofoul was complaining about to be aversive or

22 non-aversive therapy?

23 A. There's no statement on the record by all seven
24 Commissioners of how they regarded this article.

25 Q. Okay. 8o have we now covered all of the
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1 complaints of conversion therapy harm that the County
2 was aware of prior to enacting the ordinance?
3 A. No, I don't believe you have.
4 MS. FAHEY: Form. Sorry.
5 This was outside the scope of Ms. Hvizd's

6 designated topics. As you know, Dr. Ginsburg has been

7 designated for topics one through five.
8 MR. MIHET: Sure. But Ms. Hvizd was
9 designated on what the Commission considered in enacting

10 the ordinance, which is topic number eight. And I

11 believe this goes squarely to what the Commission

12 considered.

13 MS. FAHEY: And I understand that. However,
14 Rule 30(b) (6) does require reasonable particularization

15 of the topics. And 1t appears from your topics that

16 you've broken out consideration as different types of
17 harms and consideration about consent. And we did
18 designate and prepare a specific witness for topics one

19 through five. BAnd so I'm just making that clear for the
20 record, that that word consideration can't just swallow
21 up alt of the other topics.

22 MR. MIHET: Okay.

23 BY MR. MIHET:

24 Q. What other evidence of harm did the County

25 Commission consider besides the two minors that Mz, Hoch
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1 referred to and the e-mail from Mr. Sofoul?
2 MS. FAHEY: Same objection. Scope.
3 THE WITNESS: I'm not designated to answer
4 that question. Question number four asks for any
5 evidence of alleged harm, and I believe Dr. Ginsburg is
6 prepared to answer that question.
7 BY MR. MIHET:
8 Q. Okay. Earlier you said in response Lo nmy
9 question that you don't believe that we've covered all
10 of the complaints. What additional complaints did you
11 have in mind that we have not covered?
12 MS. FAEEY: Form.
13 THE WITNESS: I'm sorry. Could you please
14 repeat my full answer regarding what you're referencing?
15 MR. MIHET: Yeah.
1o BY MR. MIHET:
17 Q. When I —-- when I first asked you the question
18 whether you've covered all of the complaints of
19 conversion therapy harm that the County was aware of
20 prior to enacting the ordinance, you first indicated
21 that you did not believe that we had covered them all.
22 A. I'm sorry. I'll need to hear that, again, from
23 the court reporter. I'm not certain what the question
24 was that -- and the answer.
25 (Requested portion read back by the court reporter)
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1 BY MR. MIEET:

2 Q. So what other complaints did you have in mind

3 that caused you to answer that question in the way that
4 you did?

5 MS. FAHEY: Form. Outside the scope.

6 THE WITNESS: Complaints of harm would be

7 something that should be asked of Dr. Shayna Ginsburg

8 who's here to testify regarding guestion number four.

9 MR. MIHET: 2And we will ask her that.

10 BY MR. MIHET:

11 0. My question to you is: When you said, I don't

12 believe that you have, what did you have in mind that we
13 haven't covered yet?

14 A. You were asking me, I believe, whether the two

15 incidents that Rand Hoch testified to and Mr. Sofoul's
16 e-mail were all of the complaints of harm that the
17 County Commissioners considered; and I suggested that T

18 don't believe that that is all.

19 Q. Okay.
20 A. And Dr. Ginsburg will be testifying as to matter
21 for examination number four, which is any evidence of

22 alleged harm.
23 Q. Why is it that you don't believe that that was
24 all the evidence that the County considered?

25 A. I believe there is additional -- there are
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1 additional statements in the transcript of harm.
2 Q. So residents of Palm Beach County?
3 A. T can't testify to this matter any -- in any

4 further detail. I wasn't prepared for that. It's

5 question number four that Dr. Ginsburg was prepared for.
0 C. Okay.
7 (Plaintiffs' Exhibit No. 6 marked for identification)

8 BY MR. MIEET:

9 Q. Ms. Hvizd, I've handed you a document we have

10 marked as Exhibit 6. I believe this is the June 20,

11 2016, communication from Mr. Hoch to the Board of County
12 Commissioners that you were referring teo earlier in your
13 testimony. PRC-7642 to PBC-T7645.
14 A. Is there a question there?

15 Q. Yeah. Is this that -- that first e-mail that

16 Mr. Hoch sent to the County Commission?

17 A. Yes, it is. It's the first e-mail that we're

18 aware of that Mr. Hoch sent the County Commission.

19 Q. On the subject of conversion therapy?

20 A. On the subject of conversion therapy.

21 Q. On the second page in the first paragraph of his

22 June 20, 2016, memorandum, he begins by saying:

23 Conversion therapy, also known as reparative therapy, is
24 counseling based on the erronecus assumption gay,

25 lesbian, bisexual and transgender identities are mental
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1 disorders that can be cured through aversion treatment.
2 Did T read that correctly?
3 A. Yes.
4 Q. What was the type of treatment that Mr. Hoch was
5 asking the County Commissioners to ban? Aversive or
6 non-aversive?
7 MS. FAHEY: Form.
8 THE WITNESS: I don't believe vyou can take
9 from that one sentence what he's asking us to ban.
10 MR. MTIHET: Okay.
11 THE WITNESS: You'd have to read his entire

12 memorandum as a whole, including his attachments.

13 BY MR. MIHET:

14 Q. Is he defining for the Commission what he means
15 when he says "conversion therapy” in that first

16 paragraph?

17 A. In the first paragraph, I think -- you can't take

18 the first paragraph by itself. You have to read the

19 entire memorandum and attachments.

20 Q. So, when he says, "conversion therapy is," he's
21 not telling the County Commissioners what he means by

22 the words conversion therapy?

23 MS. FAHEY: Form. Speculation.

24 THE WITNESS: Yeah. It is impossible for me
25 to tell what Mr. Rand Hoch -- or Judge Rand Hoch is
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1 meaning by conversion therapy.
2 BY MR. MIHET:
3 Q. It's impossible for you to tell what Mr. Hoch

4 means by conversion therapy from a statement where he

5 says, conversion therapy 1s counseling based on the

6 erroneous assumption, et cetera, et cetera?

7 MS. FAHEY: Form.

8 To the extent you're suggesting the document
9 speaks for itself, the document speaks for itself.
10 Otherwise, argumentative.
11 THE WITNESS: I'm prepared to testify as to
12 what all seven of the Board of County Commissioners -—-
13 all seven members of the Board of County Commissioners
14 received. They received this memorandum. They received
ih the cover e-mail. And they received the attachments,
16 including the substance abuse and Mental Health Services

17 Administration published report as well as the Southern
18 Poverty Law Center's article regarding: QUACKS:

19 Conversion Therapists, the Anti-LGBT Right, and the

20 Demonization of homosexuality. I think you have to

21 review all of that to determine what the Board of County
22 Commissioners understood Mr. Hoch to be talking about.
23 BY MR. MIHET:

24 Q. When the Board of County Commissioners read this

25 first paragraph in Mr. Hoch's memorandum that says:
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1 Conversion therapy 1is counseling based on the erroneous
2 assumption gay, lesbian, bisexual and transgender
3 identities are mental disorders that can be cured
4 through aversion freatment, could they have understood
5 him to refer to non-aversive treatment?
6 MS. FAHEY: Form.
7 THE WITNESS: Again, I can testify only to
8 what all seven Board of County Commissioners —-
9 MR. MIHET: That's what I'm asking you
190 about.
11 THE WITNESS: -~ received. And they
12 received this e-mail including that sentence. The
13 e-mall includes a memorandum and several —-- two cther
14 attachments that reference conversion therapy

15 differently than this.

16 BY MR. MIHET:

17 Q. On the second page of his memorandum, which is
18 76 —-- PBC-7644, Mr. Hoch says at the top: The Palm
19 Beach County Human Rights Council recognizes that the
20 practice of conversion therapy, which is most often
21 forced upon minors by their parents or guardians, 1is

22 extremely harmful.

23 Do you see that?
24 A. Yes.
25 Q. Does the County Commission agree that the
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1 practice of conversion therapy is most often forced upon

2 minors by their parents or guardians?

3 MS. FAHEY: Form.
4 THE WITNESS: I can't testify as to what any
5 individual Commissioner believes about whether
6 conversion therapy is most often forced upon minors. I
7 can tell you that all seven of the members of the Board
8 of County Commission received this e-mail and may
9 have -~ and considered 1t.
10 MR. MIHET: Ckay.
11 THE WITNESS: Not may have. They did
12 consider it. '
13 (Plaintiffs' Exhibit No. 7 marked for identification)

14 BY MR. MIHET:

15 Q. Did the County Commission undertake any efforts
16 to determine whether or not the practice of conversion
17 therapy within Palm Beach County was most often forced
18 upon minors by their parents or guardians?

1% MS. FAHEY: Form.,

20 THE WITNESS: So, as a whole, the seven

21 members of the Board of County Commissioners listened to
22 statements regarding whether conversion therapy, as

23 other people were defining it, included actions that

24 were voluntary or that were involuntary. I think, if

25 you read the transcripts, you'll see that there’s some
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1 reference to voluntariness and involuntariness.
2 MR. MIHET: Can you read that back, please.
3 {The regquested portion read back by the court reporter)

4 BY MR. MIHET:

5 Q. So now I've handed you a document that we have
6 marked as Exhibit 7, which is a July 31, 2016,

7 memorandum from Mr. Hoch to the County Commissioners,
8 PBC-7695 to 7699. Is this a —-- a memorandum that

9 Mr. Hoch sent and that the County Commissioners

10 considered?
il A. Yes.
12 0. On the second page of the memorandum, which is

13 the third page of the exhibit, 7697, five paragraphs in,
14 Mr. Hoch is discussing the possibility of litigation;

15 and he is assuring the Commissioners that the taxpayers
16 of Palm Beach County will not be burdened with the

17 expense of litigation because there are others who are

18 prepared to fund the litigation efforts.

19 Do you see that?

20 A. I'm not certain that I would characterize this as
21 an assurance that Palm Beach County taxpayers will not
22 pay money for representation. I'm sorry.

23 ¢. Well, looking at the language that he has

24 emphasized in bold where he says: So, rest assured, in
25 the event you enact the requested ban and Mat Staver
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1 carries out his threat, the taxpayers of Palm Beach

2 County will not be burden with the expense of

3 litigation.

4 A, Yes, you've read that sentence correctly.

5 Q. So are you still not sure that this can be fairly
6 characterized as an assurance by him to the

7 Commissioners?

8 MS. FAHEY: Form.

9 Document speaks for itself.
10 THE WITNESS: T can just say that you've
11 read that sentence correctly in terms of what Mr. Hoch
12 stated to the Commissioners.

13 BY MR. MIHET:

14 Q. Has Mr. Hoch or his group funded any of the
15 litigation expenses in this litigation thus far?
16 A. I'm not aware of any funding from Mr. Hoch. And

17 did you say --

18 MS. FAHEY: Form.
19 T believe this 1s cutside the scope of what
20 she's been designated to talk about. Are you -- are you

21 looking --

22 MR. MIHET: Yeah. I'm -- topic number
23 seven: All communications and coordination between
24 Defendant and Equality Florida or any other advocacy

25 group regarding the ordinance or any other effort to ban
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1 SCOCE for minors.
2 THE WITNESS: Yes. So that's regarding the
3 ordinance. So you're expanding that topic now to be
4 referring to the litigation?
5 MR. MIHET: Regarding the ordinance. I

6 doen't think that's expanding the topic. I think it's
7 fairly subsumed within the topic.

8 MS. FAHEY: Okay. We disagree that it's
9 within the scope.

10 MR. MIHET: Okay.

11 BY MR. MIHET:

12 Q. So your answer was you're not aware of any

13 ocutside group funding any of the litigation expenses?

14 A, Correct.

15 MS. FAHEY: And I'1l make it clear for the
16 record, no outside group has funded the litigation on

17 behalf of Palm Beach County.

18 BY MR. MIHET:

19 Q. Would that include any fees that may -~ that

20 nmight be charged by consultants or experts?

21 A. I must make it clear here. I am not litigating

22 this matter. I've not noticed an appearance as counsel
23 on behalf of Palm Beach County in this matter. So I am
24 not aware of all of the facts and circumstances

25 regarding the litigation. And it's ocutside the scope of
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1 matters —~- I believe it's outside the scope of the
2 matters I was called to testify to today because
3 guestion seven is communications and coordination
4 between Defendant and Equality Florida or any other
5 advocacy group regarding the ordinance or any other
6 effort to ban SOCE for minors. It says nothing about
7 the litigation.
8 MS. FAHREY: I will make it clear for the
9 record, Mr. Mihet, that no entity, organization or
16 individual outside of Palm Beach County Board of County
11 Commissioners is carrying the costs of this litigation.
12 T understand you're asking specifically about fees for
i3 experts. Is that what you want to know about?
14 MR. MIHET: Yes.
15 MS. FAHEY: That's true for that group.
16 MR. MIEET: Okay.
17 BY MR. MIHET:
18 Q. On thekfirst page of his memorandum, PBC-7696,
19 Mr. Hoch says in that first paragraph, the last
20 sentence: It is PBCHRC's hope that, once the County
21 Attorney has offered an opinion concerning the legai
22 aspects of enacting such a ban, the Board of County
23 Commissioners will take prompt action to protect LGBTQ
24 children throughout the County.
25 Have I read that correctly?
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1 A. Yes.
2 Q. What County opinion -- County Attorney opinion is

3 Mr. Hoch referring to?
4 MS. FAHEY: Objection. Speculation.

5 BY MR, MIHET:

6 Q. You work for the County Attorney's Cffice,

7 correct?

8 A. I do work for the County Attorney's Office,

9 correct.

10 Q. And you were working for the County Attorney's

il Office on July 31, 20167
12 A. Yes.
13 Q. Okay. So what County Attorney opinion is

14 Mr. Hoch referring to?

15 MS. FAHEY: Objection.

16 Speculation. Outside the scope.

17 THE WITNESS: I have -- personally —-- now,
18 again, this is not what the County, being seven members

19 of the Beoard of County Commissiconers, believed Mr. Hoch
20 to be referring to. You're asking me what Mr. Hoch 1is
21 referring to. I'm not inside his head. I would have to
22 speculate, and I couldn't. I don't know.

23 BY MR. MTIHET:

24 Q. What did the County Commissioners understand him

25 to refer to?
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1 A. And --
2 MS. FAHEY: Objection. Same objection.
3 THE WITNESS: -- there is no other statement
4 that I'm aware of to all seven Commissioners regarding
5 County Attorney having offered an opinion. There are

6 quite a few e-mails as you can see from locking at the

7 cart filled with paper behind me. There may be another
8 e-mail here that references a County Attorney opinion.

9 I'm not independently aware of it now. If you'd like
10 for me to take a look through the documents and get back
11 with you as I said I would on a couple of other matters,

12 I'm happy to do that. But I simply don't know.

13 MR. MIHET: Okay.
14 THE WITNESS: Thank you.
15 (Plaintiffs' Exhibit No. 8 marked for identification)

le BY MR. MIHET:

17 0. I'm handing you Exhibit 8. And, I apologize, I
18 only have one extra copy of this. Exhibit 8 is an

i9 e-mall from -- or an e-mail chain of communications

20 between Mr. Hoch and your boss, Ms. Nieman.

21 You'll see, starting at the bottom of the chain,

22 Ms. Nieman writes to Mr. Hoch; and this is August 4,
23 2016. She says: Hi Rand. We had hoped to issue an
24 opinion by week's end, but that is not going to happen.

25 She continues: My intention, as a professional
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1 courtesy, especially on such a controversial and
2 highly-charged topic, is to share our position with you

3 next week before officially rendering an opinion to the
4 BCC. After you've had a chance to see where we're

5 heading, a formal response tce the BCC will be issued.

6 What is Ms. Nieman referring to there? .

7 MS. FAHEY: Objection.

8 Form, outside the scope.

9 This deposition is not -- in this 30(b) (6)
190 deposition, Ms. Hvizd cannot testify as to Ms. Nieman's
11 intentions specifically and individually. We've been
12 called upon to speak as the Board and not as Ms. Nieman.
13 So her answer will be cutside of the scope. You're
14 asking her to speculate about what Ms. Nieman meant.

15 THE WITNESS: I don't know.

16 BY MR. MIHET:

17 Q0. Was there a -- a plan that you were aware of to
18 issue an opinion to the BCC but to provide it in advance
19 to Mr. Hoch first?

20 MS. FAHEY: The same objection. So that I
21 don't repeat myself, it applies to all of your guestions

22 regarding to Plaintiffs' Exhibit 8.

23 MR. MIHET: Okay.
24 THE WITNESS: I would alsc assert a
25 work-product privilege in terms of -- well, certainly an
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1 attorney/client privilege in terms of my representation
2 of the Board of County Commissioners and any actions

3 that I would have taken in representing them.
4 BY MR. MIHET:

Q. Only asking you about things that you've

5
6 already —-- that the County Attorney's Office has already
7 disclosed to Mr. Hoch here.

8 A. You're asking me for my personal knowledge of an

9 opinion. That is an attorney/client privileged

190 communication between me and my client.
11 Q. Okay. So I'm asking you about your knowledge
12 with respect to what Ms. Nieman is telling Mr. Hoch in

13 this e-mail.

14 A. Okay.
15 Q. Okay?
16 A. OQkay.
17 MS. FAHEY: Let it be clear for the record,

18 Ms. Hvizd was not copied on this communication thread

19 that is Plaintiffs' Exhilbkit 8.

20 MR. MIHET: Okay.

21 THE WITNESS: So you'll have to ask me a

22 question. You're asking me about this e-mail. Go head
23 and ask me the question.

24 BY MR. MIHET:

25 Q. Was there an intention on behalf of the County
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1 Attorney's Office to provide an opinion to the BCC but
2 only after providing that opinion to Mr. Hoch?
3 A. And my answer is the same. If you're asking me

4 about my work on behalf of the Board of County

5 Commissioners, then that would be attorney/client

6 privilege. If you're asking me about Denise Nieman, her
7 e-mail has to speak for itself. I can't testify as to

8 what was in her head.

9 Q. ©Okay. Do you recall being copied on this e-mail?
1C A. It doesn't appear as if I was copied on that

11 e-mail.

12 Q. Is it a common practice for the County Attorney's

13 Office to provide its positions to proponents of an

14 ordinance, first, before providing it to the BCC?
15 MS. FAEEY: Objection. Outside the scope.
16 | THE WITNESS: I'm prepared to testify as a

17 30(b) (6) witness today to testify on behalf of the Board
18 of County Commissioners, which means all seven members
19 of the Board of County Commissioners. And this gquestion
20 is not within that scope at all.

21 BY MR. MIHET:

22 Q. Well, this guestion goes to the communications

23 and coordinations between the Defendant and advocacy

24 groups.

25 A. I believe --
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1 Q. Mr. Hoch is a member of an advocacy group, right?

2 A. And it says regarding the ordinance. And at the

3 beginning of this deposition, you defined the ordinance

4 to be the Conversion Therapy Ban Ordinance —-—

5 Q. Right.

3 A. —-- or any other effort to ban SOCE for minocrs.
7 So a guestion about a general practice is not within

8 that scope.
9 0. Well, I'm trying to find cut if what was being
10 offered to him in this e~mail with respect to the
11 ordinance is something that takes place routinely or if
12 this was a special accommodation that the County
13 Attorney's Office was providing to Mr. Hoch?
14 A. I understand the extent of your question. And
15 IT'm suggesting it's outside the scope of what it is that

16 I was called to testify to today. I'm called here to

17 testify regarding this ordinance.

13 Q. Well, sure. But the extent of the County's
19 coordination with other advocacy groups is directly
20 relevant to this issue. Whether or not one advocacy
21 group was receliving special consideration that's not

22 provided to others goes to the extent of the

23 coordination between the Defendant and that group.
24 And I would respectfully ask that you allow the
25 attorneys who are representing you and ourselves to
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1 quibble over what's within the scope and what's not

2 within the scope and for you to answer my question based
3 onn your knowledge, please?

4 MS. FAHEY: And Ms. Hvizd is absolutely

5 within her right to advise you that it is within --

6 beyond the scope that she was prepared to testify today
7 based upon our understanding of these specific topics.

8 And so she may continue, as any 30(b) (6) witness may

9 continue, to advise that she believes it's outside of
10 her scope. She will then provide answers to the best of
11 her individual knowledge.

12 And I also suggest that, instead of asking

13 about the County Attorney Office's practices as a whole,
14 which has already been suggested to you to invade the

15 attorney/client privilege and our work-product

16 practices, that you would ask specifically, as you just

17 stated, about this ordinance.

18 You've advised that you'd like to know about
19 whether any other advocacy groups received the same

20 e-mail. And so we -- I encourage you to keep it focused
21 on this ordinance and the County as we've told you we've
22 defined it, communications with Mr. Hoch or any other

23 advocacy group.

24 MR. MIHET: Thank you, Ms. Fahey. But I

25 insist on asking the questions that 1 want to ask.
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1 BY MR. MIHET:

2 Q. And so are you —-- are you not going to answer my
3 question as asked, Ms. Hvizd?

4 A. I can't answer your guestion as asked.

5 Q. Why?

6 A. Because I was prepared to testify today regarding
7 communications and coordination between the Defendant

g8 and Equality Florida or any other advocacy group

9 regarding the ordinance or any other effort to ban S0CE
16 for minors. And your gquestion is outside --
11 Q. And I'm asking you —-—
12 (Interruption by the court reporter)
13 THE WITNESS: And your question is outside

i4 that scope.

15 BY MR, MIHET:

16 0. But, based on your personal knowledge —-- let me
17 agree with you for purposes of our discussion. I don't
18 concede your point. We can argue about that to the

19 Court later. But, for purposes of our discussion today,
20 let me ask you, if this is outside the scope, to just

21 give me your personal knowledge. Okay?

22 Sc, based upon your personal knowledge of how the

23 County Attorney's Office does things, is it customary to
24 provide an opinion to an advocacy group prior to

25 providing it to the Beard of County Commissioners?
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1 MS. FABEY: Form. Outside the scope.
2 All other objections have been asserted with

3 respect to this document.
4 THE WITNESS: So now that I'm testifying as
5 a Fact witness as to what Helene Hvizd knows of, I have

6 been involved in the drafting of two ordinances, the

) Palm Beach County Home Caregivers Ordinance and the
8 Conversion Therapy Ban Ordinance, in the past three
9 years that I've been working on the transactional side

10 of the office. Approximately four years, actually.

11 And, in both instances, we worked closely with the

12 advocates on behalf of adoption of those ordinances.

13 BY MR. MIHET:

14 Q. And did you provide the advocates with the County
15 Attorney's positions on the proposed ordinances before

16 providing those positions to the BCC?

17 A. Yes.

18 Q. You did? Okay.

19 A. And T should clarify. I'm not certain that it
20 was a written opinion in either one of those instances.

21 We certainly work closely with advocates on behalf of an
22 ordinance, though.

23 (Plaintiffs' Exhibit No. 9 marked for identification)
24 BY MR. MIHET:

25 ¢. All right. I'm -~ I've handed you what we have

Florida Court Reporting
561-689-0929

Electronically signed by Rachele Cibula {201-150-076-9271)
Electronically signed by Rachele Cibula {201-150-076-8271) df0f6ef0-3d1e-4d46-b7b3-63401d7abecd




Case 9:18-cv-80771-RLR Document 121-9 Entered on FLSD Docket 10/23/2018 Page 112 of
Case: 19-10604 Date Filed:43416/2019 Page: 117 of 255

Otto v. City of Boca Helene Hvizd 9/20/2018

Page 112

1 marked as Exhibit 9. And this is an e-mail chain

2 between Mr. Hoch and you and Ms. Nieman on or around
3 August 26, 2016. Now --

4 MS. FAHEY: Harry, if I may. Before you

5 begin inquiring about this e-mail, I just want to assert

o the same objections that we have been as far as the

7 definition of the sentence and scope of the topic and

8 Ms. Hvizd's personal knowledge. I won't repeat them to
9 clutter your record.
10 MR. MIHET: Okay.

11 BY MR. MTHET:

12 Q. On August 26th -- this is towards the bottom of
13 the first page. On August 26, 2016, at three-forty

14 p.m., Mr. Hoch wrote you an e-mail. Do you see the

15 start of that?

16 A, I'm sorry. Are you —-
17 Q. It begins with Helene.
18 A. You saild toward the bottom of the page or the top

19 of the page?

20 Q. The bottom of the page.

21 A. Okay. So I see Rand Hoch wrote. And I see he's
22 referencing me, Helene. I'm not certain, but I imagine
23 I received it.

24 Q. Is there another Helene that works in the County

25 Attorney's office?
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1 A. You're asking me to take a look at this document
2 and tell you what Rand Hoch wrote to me. I see his
3 name, but I don't see a "to Helene Hvizd" with my e-mail
4 address on it. So...
5 Q. Okay. Well —-
6 A. And, no, there is no other Helene that works in
7 the County Attorney's Office.
8 Q. All right. You see at the top of that e~mail
9 that your e-mail address is included in the cc there?
10 A. Yes. I did receive the Friday, August Zoeth,
11 ae-mail.
12 Q. Okay. And that would have inciuded this first
13 e-mail in the chain that Mr. Hoch was writing to you,
14 correct?
15 A. Yes.
16 Q. Okay. Now, he says to you in the beginning:
17 Denise advised me of her concern that implied preemption
18 to be an obstacle in having the BCC move forward with
19 PRCHRC's requested ordinance to prohibit conversion
20 therapy on minors.
21 Did I read that correctly?
22 A. Correct.
23 Q. Then, on the next page, he goces on to provide
24 some lengthy block quotes from the Browning case. Do
25 you see that?
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1 A. Yes.
2 Q. And then, in the bottom paragraph, he says:

3 Having reviewed Chapters 458, 459, 490 or 491, Florida

4 Statutes, I could find no legislative scheme that is so
3 pervasive as to evidence an intent to preempt the

6 requested County ordinance.

7 Do you see that?

8 A. Yes.

9 Q. Now, Ms. Nieman responded to him later that day
10 at the top of page one, correct?

11 A. Correct.
12 Q. And she copied you on her communications?
13 A. Yes.
14 Q. And you remember receiving that e-mail?

15 A. A personal recollection at this very moment, no.

16 But it is definitely addressed with a carbon copy to me.

17 Q. You have no reason te think that you did not

18 receive it?

19 A. None.

20 Q. Okay. 1In the fourth paragraph on this page, she
21 says: I appreciate that you know much more about the

22 subject than we do; but, as you can tell based on our

23 convo yesterday, I made myself very familiar with the

24 issue. On a very basic level, how can we say that CT is
25 a local issue? The entire field of therapy regulation
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1 is conducted at the state level.
2 Did I read that correctiy?
3 A. You read that correctly.
4 Q. What did you understand her to refer to by the

5 acronym CT?

6 A. Conversion therapy.

7 Q. Okay. Did you believe her statement with respect
8 to "the entire field of therapy regulation is conducted
9 at the state level" to be true when she conveyed it on

10 August 26, 20167

11 MS. FAHEY: And you're asking her in her

12 individual capacity?

13 MR. MIHET: Correct.

14 THE WITNESS: In my perscnal capacity at the

15 Lime that this e-mail was written, I did believe that

NS there was some truth to a statement that therapy in

17 general is regulated at the state level. I later came
18 to recognize that, in fact, the state law and Department
19 of Health regulations -- Department of Health, rather,

20 statute does provide for the possibility that regulation
21 for protection may ~- of citizens may occur at a local
22 level, as well.

23 BY MR. MIHET:

24 Q. Her statement was not that therapy regulation in

25 general is conducted at the state level, was 1it?
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1 A. No. She says: The entire field of therapy

regulation is conducted at the state level.

W N

Q. Okay. In the next paragraph, she says: If we
4 moved away from regulations intc what's okay to

5 advertise, as you suggested yesterday, the BCC would
6 nave to make significant assumptions that it's not

7 qualified to make. What did you understand her to refer

8 to in that remark?

9 A. I —-

10 MS. FAHEY: Form. BScope.
11 THE WITNESS: I did not understand that
12 remarx.

13 BY MR. MIHET:

14 Q. Okay. She then asks you to jump in if you can
15 shed anymore light. And then, in the next paragraph,

16 she says: Rand, I was hoping you'd be able to provide
17 us with something more factually specific. We're on

18 standby.

19 What -- what was she asking for with respect to
20 something more factually specific?

21 MS. FAHEY: Form. Speculation, scope.

22 THE WITNESS: Right. So the way I,

23 flelene Hvizd, interpreted this statement, this is a
24 unique situation thet we were in conversing with

25 Rand Hoch. He is a judge, former retired judge, T
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1 believe —— I don't know if he's retired or simply a
2 former judge -- and an attorney, as well. And so, in
3 dealing with this citizen and this citizen's request
4 that the County enact an ordinance, there was discussion
5 with Rand Hoch about legal precedent. And so shedding
6 more light on the issue likely referred to legal
7 precedent that he could offer regarding preemption.
8 BY MR. MIHET:
9 Q. So, when she says: Something more factual —-
10 A. Actually, excuse me. May I correct myself --
11 0. Yes.
12 A. ~- because I believe the statement "shedding more
13 light”™ follows regulations into what's okay to
14 advertise. So I think Ms. Nieman was probably asking
15 Mr. Hoch for any legal precedent he might be able to
16 provide regarding advertising conversion therapy.
17 Q. 8Sc you thought that, when she said that she
18 wanted something more factually specific, she was
19 referring to legal precedent?
20 A. More factually specific?
21 Q. Yeah.
22 A. I'm not sure I see those words.
23 Q. Right under the paragraph where it says: Helene,
24 feel free to jump in. Under that paragraph, she says:
25 Rand, T was hoping you'd be able --
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1. A. Oh, I see,
2 Q. -- to provide us with something more factually
3 specific.
4 A. Right. So factually specific regarding
5 advertising, correct.
6 Q. Precedent?
7 A. Shedding more light likely referred to precedent.
8 Q. Okay. Then she continues in the next paragraph
9 where she says: I truly appreciate your openness and
10 willingness to exchange information and understand where
11 we're coming from. Yesterday's conversation suggested

12 just that. Maybe your team has something at the ready.

13 This is a classic non-localized issue, in my view,

14 Do you see that?

15 A. I see that.

16 Q. What did you understand her to refer to when she
17 said, "this is a classic non-localized issue"?

18 MS. FAHEY: Objection. Form.

19 THE WITNESS: So, as I was reading this, T
20 interpreted that sentence in conjunction with the entire

21 field of therapy regulation is conducted at the state
22 level to mean that Denise Marie Nieman at the time

23 believed that this was an issue to be dealt with at the
24 state level and not the local level. And, as I stated

25 before, she ultimately came to view this, as understand

Florida Court Reporting
561-689-0999

Electronically signed by Rachele Cibula (201-150-076-2271)
Electronically signed by Rachele Cibula (201-150-076-8271) df0f6ef0-3d1e-4d46-b7h3-63401d7abcct




Case 9:18-cv-80771-RLR Document 121-9 Entered on FLSD Docket 10/23/2018 Page 119 of
Case: 19-10604 Date Filed:43416/2019 Page: 124 of 255

Otto v. City of Boca Helene Hvizd 9/20/2018
Page 119
i it, differently based on additional research. This is

2 July 26, 2016. This is about --

3 MR. MIHET: August Z2o6th.

4 THE WITNESS: I'm sorry. August 26, 2016.

5 So that was just a couple of menths into the
6 issue having been raised and discussed.

7 BY MR. MIHET:

8 Q. So, when she says, "this is a classic

9 non-localized issue," the "this" refers to conversion
10 therapy bans?

11 MS. FAHEY: Objection. Scope, speculation.
12 THE WITNESS: And I would be speculating. I
13 believe it refers to conversion therapy in general.

14 MR. MIHET: Ckay.

15 THE WITNESS: I'm not certain that it's

16 simply the advertising or that it's another aspect.

17 BY MR. MIHET:

18 ¢. Did you agree on August 26, 2016, with Ms. Nieman
19 that conversion therapy 1is a c¢lassic non-localized

20 issue?

21 MS. FAHEY: Objection.

22 Are you asking her for anything that she

23 wrote and disclosed to someone in the public, or are you
24 asking her for her mental impressions or advice to the

25 client?
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1 MR. MIHET: Well, she invited her to jump in
2 here in this discussicn.

3 BY MR. MIHET:

4 ©. I guess, did you -- did you jump in with this

5 discussion to say to Mr. Hoch that you agreed or

6 disagreed with --

7 A. I don't recall. I'm certain you'll let me know

8 if T did.

9 Q. You may be right.
10 MS. FAHEY: Before we begin another exhibit,
11 would now be a good time to take a comfort break?
12 MR. MIHET: Yeah. We can do that.
13 ' (Recess)
14 (Plaintiffs' Exhibit No. 10 marked for identification)

15 BY MR. MIHET:

16 Q. Ms. Hvizd, I'm showing you now Exhibit 10 which

17 is —- let me give some to counsel —-- which is an August
18 28, 2016, e-mail chain. Starting at the bottom of the

19 first page, we have an e-mail from Mr. Hoch to you and

20 Ms. Nieman. Do you see that?

21 A, Yes.

22 Q. He says in there that: While T await more input
23 from our legal team, I am still confused about your

24 concern with implied preemption. TIn Denise's recent

25 response from the Detroit Airport -- she is always
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1 working -- she asked, how can we say that CT is a local
2 issue? The entire field of therapy regulation is

3 conducted at the state level. If that is the case,

4 wouldn't the entire field of the regulation of

5 discrimination in housing, public accommodations and

6 employment also be conducted at the state level? If so,
7 why would impiied preemption not have applied in the

8 yvears before 1990 and 2015 when the Board of County

9 Commissioners -~ and then he lists on the next page
10 three things that the County Commissioners did with
11 respect to fair housing, equal employment and equal

12 opportunity. Do you see that?

i3 A. Yes, I see that.
14 MS. FAHEY: And the County wishes to assert
15 its same objections with respect to the previcus e-mails

16 that have been from Mr. Hoch to legal counsel for the

17 County and not to the County as we defined it for

18 purposes of this deposition. Questions about these

19 e-malils would be not on behalf of the County as a

20 30(b) (6} witness but in Ms. Hvizd's individual capacity.
21 MR, MIHET: We understand that. And I'll

22 grant you that objection for all of these e-mails so you
23 don't have to keep making them.

24 MS. FAHEY: OQkay.

25 MR. MIHET: Okay?
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1 BY MR. MIHET:

2 Q. So what did you understand Mr. Hoch to be

3 conveying in this e-mail to you, Ms. Hvizd?

4 A. Just exactly what he said.

5 0. Which is what?

6 A. That Denise Marie suggested that the entire field
7 of therapy regulation is conducted at the state level --
8 Q. Uh-huh.

9 A. —-- and that he said, 1f that's the case, then

10 wouldn't the, quote, entire field, end quote, of

11 regulation of discrimination in housing also be

12 conducted at the state level. And, if so, why would

13 implied preemption not have applied in the years between

14 1990 and 29015 when the Board of County Commissioners

15 took these actions regarding housing?

16 Q. Okay. Now, did Ms. Nieman respond to that
17 concern?

18 A. And so that is I believe —-- let's see.

19 Q. The e-mail immediately above the one we just

20 locked at ==

21 A. Yes.

22 Q. -- on the first page.

23 A. It appears that she did.

24 Q. She writes in that e-mail: Bonsoir, Rand and

25 Helene.
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1 Do you see that?
2 A. I think -- I think she would pronounce it

3 slightly different. Bonsoir, but oul oui.

4 Q. Perhaps.

5 She says: Rand, I'm jumping in here only to say
6 that there are significant differences in what you've

7 proposed in the past and what you're asking the BCC to
8 do this time. It was clear that the County could do

9 what it did, not so much at all with your latest ask,

10 try as hard as we might to find something. There comes

11 a point where others with jurisdiction have to step up.

12 Do you see that?

13 A, Yes, T see that.

14 Q. What did you understand her to refer to when she

15 said that there was significant differences between what
16 the Commission did in the past and what Mr. Hoch was

17 asking it to do now?

18 A. So, as I read your Plaintiffs' Exhibit 10 in

19 conjunction with Plaintiffs' Exhibit 9, I believe what

20 Denise Marie was speaking of at that point was the
21 advertising ask, i1f you will. Again, I would have to
22 refer to all of the e-mails in this chain to understand

23 completely. But I believe that she's stating that he is
24 now asking that we propose a ban on advertising

25 conversion therapy and that that is significantly
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1 different from what he had proposed in the past, which
2 was to ban conversion therapy.
3 Q. Well, if you lock at his e-mail at the bottom of
4 the page, it's titled PBCHERC-PBC Conversion Therapy Ban
5 Ordinance-implied preemption, with end quotes. Do you
6 see that?
7 A. Yes, I see that.
8 Q. And do you see that, in his e-mail to you that
9 started this chain, he's talking about being confused
10 about your concern with implied preemption. Do you see
11 that?
12 A. Yes, I see that.
i3 But here reading from the August 28th e-mail —--

14 and what T'm suggesting to you is that you have to take
i5 all these e-mails in context. The 26th preceded the

16 28th only by two days. And, in the 26th, Denise Marie

17 was saying: We moved away —-- and, 1f we moved away from
18 regulations into what's okay to advertise as you
19 suggested yesterday. So I'm -- if I recall correctly, 1

20 believe Denise Marie was referring to significant
21 differences between an advertising ban and a ban on the

22 practice itself.

23 Q. She wasn't talking about the significant
24 differences between the things that the Commission did
25 in the past that are referenced in Mr. Hoch's e-mail and
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1 the conversion ban that Mr. Hoch was proposing now?
2 MS, FAHEY: Form. Speculation.
3 THE WITNESS: Yes, she may have been.
4 Again, I can't say for certain what she was
5 referencing there.
6 MR. MIHET: Okay.
¥ THE WITNESS: It follows his reference to
8 the housing, but it also follows her reference to an
9 advertising ban. So I'm not certain.

10 BY MR, MTHET:
11 Q. So it's your -- 1t was your understanding when
12 you saw her write that quote, "it was clear that the

13 County could do what it did. Not so much at all with

14 your latest ask,"” that she was referring to a ban on
15 advertising and not a ban on conversion therapy?

le A. If you're asking me that question as a fact

17 witness, which you must because I cannot testify as to
18 what I meant or thought or interpreted for all seven

19 members of the Bocard of County Commissioners, I answer

20 your question by saying I do not recall.

21 Q. Okay. When she said, there comes a point where
22 others with jurisdiction have to step up, what —-- who
23 did you understand her to be referring to in that -- in

24 that remark?

25 A. That likely referred to the Florida legislature.
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1 Q. Okay.
2 (Plaintiffs' Exhibit No. 11 marked for identification)

3 BY MR. MIHET:

4 Q. Soc now I've handed you an exhibit we have marked
5 as No. 11, ancther chain of e-mail communications

6 between Mr. Hoch and you and Ms. Nieman. I'll direct

7 your attention, first, to the second page of this

8 exhibit only for the purpose of showing you that we're
9 still talking about Mr. Hoch's August 26th e-mail where
10 he is addressing implied preemption, where he is citing
i1 to the Browning case and where he is saying on the last
12 page that he could find no legislative scheme that is so
13 pervasive. You recall that e-mail communication that
14 we've already talked about?

15 A. Yes,
le MS. FAHEY: And, to make it clear, we've

17 agreed that the County obijections apply to this?

18 MR. MIHET: Yes,

19 BY MR. MIHET:

20 Q. So, on the first page of this Exhibit 11 starting
21 at the —-- about halfway through the page, you see that
22 you are responding to Mr. Hoch's e-mail on implied

23 preemption. Do you see that?
24 A. Yes.

25 Q. This response was provided on August 29, 20167
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1 A. Correct,
2 Q. DNow, in this response, you say to him: In

3 follow-up to your e-mail of Friday, I offer the
4 following synopsis of legal research conducted on the
5 question of whether a County may enact a conversion

) therapy ban.

7 Do you see that?
8 A, Yes.
9 Q. So we're not talking about an advertising ban?

10 We're talking about a conversion therapy ban here?
i1 A. In this e-mail, I am talking about a conversion

i2 therapy ban.

i3 Q. Okay. You go on and say: The dual
14 considerations a local government must address when
15 determining whether it is able to enact legislation in a

16 particular area are preemption and conflict. Then you
17 say: The Florida legislature scheme of licensing and
18 regulating businesses and professions is pervasive,

19 Chapters 458, 459, 490 and 491.

20 Did I read that correctly?

21 A. That's not the complete sentence, but what you

22 read is correct.

23 Q. Oh, I'm sorry. Continuing: Evidencing an intent

24 that this area be preserved to the legislature.

25 A, You read that correctly.
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1 Q. Okay. So Mr. Hoch, in his e-mail to you that

2 began this, referenced the same four chapters; 458, 459,
3 490 and 491. And you said that you couldn't find a
4 legislative scheme that was so pervasive as to evidence
5 an intent to preempt the reguested County ordinance.

6 You see that at page three?

7 A, T see that.

8 Q. You're telling him that you've looked at the same
9 statutory provisions; and you've conciuded that, in

10 fact, the scheme of licensing and regulating businesses
11 and professions is pervasive, correct?

12 A. I don't believe I was telling him that that was

13 my view. I believe, as I normally do, and as,

14 hopefully, any good attorney does, I play devil's

15 advocate. So, if I have someone who 1s suggesting one
16 side or one argument, I push them to tell me why. This
17 is the argument against what you're saying. Tell me

18 why.

19 Q. Well, now, to be fair, you're not telling him

20 that this is an argument that can be made. To me, it

21 looks pretty emphatic. You say, quote, the Florida

22 legislature scheme of licensing and regulating
23 businesses and professions is pervasive.
24 MS. FAHEY: Objection. Argumentative.

25 BY MR, MIHBET:
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1 Q. I'm not meaning to argue with you. I'm asking

2 you: Did you not intend that to be a statement of the

3 legal research that you conducted and a statement of

4 your conclusions?
5 A. No. I did not intend that to be a statement of
6 my conclusions. I had not concluded anything at this

7 early date. Again, this is August 29, 2016. We had had
8 this subject -- I had had this subject on my desk for

9 just two months. The subject stayed on my desk for a
16 period of over a year. And the County's position, as

11l it's been stated in the County's Motion to Dismiss, is
12 the County's position regarding this ordinance when

13 enacted.

14 0. Well, yes. But, on August 29, 2016, it was your

15 belief that the Florida legislature scheme of iicensing

16 and regulating businesses and professions is pervasive,
17 was 1t not?
18 A. And, again, I would just tell you that I hadn't

19 drawn a firm conclusion one way or the other. AU this

20 carly stage, I was continuing to debate all issues

21 including preempticn.

22 Q. Okay.

23 A. And so, to an attorney who was suggesting to me
24 that he would offer some proof, I'm telling him, here's
25 my concern or here's what the legal research shows. The
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1 legislature scheme is pervasive.
2 Q. So what language in this paragraph can you point

3 me to that would suggest to Mr. Hoch that this wasn't
4 your conclusion but that you were just playing devil's
5 advocate or that you were just presenting to him some
6 arguments that might be made?

7 A. BAnd, agaln, you would have to look at the stack
8 of e-mails that went back and forth between Rand Hoch
9 and myself, and I'm sure you have. And you will see
10 that that is typically the way I would present issues

11 that I wanted Rand Hoch to provide me with contrary

12 arguments for.

13 0. Okay. So you go on in this e-mail and you say:
14 Neither County nor municipal governments license

15 counselors, and there 1s no support in the law for a

16 conclusion that regulating counselors is a local

17 issues —-- issue as addressed in Browning.

18 Did I read that correctly?

19 A. Yes.

20 Q. Was that also not an emphatic statement on your

21 behalf?

22 A. An emphatic statement? No.
23 Q. No.
24 A, This is typically how I would play devil's

25 advocate with any attorney that T was asking to make
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1 their point.

2 Q. Okay. You go on and you say: To the contrary,
3 every indication is that regulation of businesses and
4 professions, including counselors, is a state issue.

5 Did you say that to him.

6 A, Yes.

7 Q. Did you mean by that statement to indicate that
8 every indication is that regulation of businesses and
9 professions, including counselors, is a state issue?
10 A. I certainly meant the words that are on the

11 paper, ves.

12 Q. Okay. Is that also not an emphatic statement

13 that you made?

14 A. I'm having a hard time understanding what you

15 mean by: Is that an emphatic statement? What do you

16 mean by that?

17 Q. I'm sorry. I thought T was referencing something
18 you saild earlier where you said that the statements that

19 you have provided in this e-mail were not meanit to be

20 emphatic representations of your conclusions but merely
21 designed to elicit a response from Mr. Hoch and to have
22 him provide you with a contrary viewpoint.

23 A. I believe I was responding to your initial

24 characterization of an emphatic statement. If I'm not,

25 then I stand corrected. But, at this point, I don't
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1 know what you mean by: Is that an emphatic statement,

2 or is that not an emphatic statement? TI've explained

3 several times what T do is play devil's advocate. And,
4 by the time this ordinance was ultimately drafted, I

5 believe that we have every right as Palm Beach County to

6 enact this ordinance. I would not have signed off on
7 legal sufficiency otherwise.
8 Q. Well, I appreciate you making that statement; but

9 that wasn't my question. And we'll be here a lot

10 shorter if you answer the questions I ask instead of the
11 questions that you want tc answer today.

12 And so my question is: When you made this

13 statement that every indication is that regulation of

14 businesses and professions, including counselors, 1is a
15 state issue, did you mean that or -- or not?

16 MS. FAHEY: Form. Asked and answered.

17 THE WITNESS: When I made that statement, I
18 was challenging Mr. Hoch to tell me otherwise -- show me

19 otherwise.

20 BY MR, MIHET:

21 Q. And was that statement indicative of what you

22 believed or not?

23 A. At the time, I had not drawn a conclusion one way
24 or the other.

25 Q. You -- well, let me ask you this. Was the
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1 Florida legislature scheme of licensing and regulating
2 businesses and professions pervasive on August 29, 20167
3 A. No, 1t was not.
4 Q. It was not?
5 A. Tt was not. I came to learn that as I continued

6 to conduct research and read and interpreted express and

7 implied preemption in the context of this ordinance.

8 So, on that date, it was not. It has not been.

9 Q. Okaﬁ. So the statement that you made then was
10 incorrect?

11 A. No. I believe you're mischaracterizing my

12 statement. I make statements, as any good attorney

13 does, to other attorneys asking them to prove me wrong
14 in order to vet all possible arguments on an issue.
15 Q. Well, sure, Ms, Hvizd. But you understand the

le difference between a statement such as, hey, Mr. Hoch,

17 some people have argued that the Florida legislature

18 scheme of licensing and regulating businesses is
19 pervasive. I've been looking at it. I don't know yet
20 which way I'm going to go on that. I'm curious as to

21 what your position is. And, on the other hand, saying
22 what you did, which is that you've locked at it; and it
23 is pervasive. You appreciate a difference between those
24 two approcaches?

25 MS. FAHEY: Obijection.
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1 Mischaracterizes the e-~mail.
2 THE WITNESS: I appreciate the difference

3 that you are making between the words that are used. I

4 think, if you read all of my e-mails, you'll soon find
5 out or discover that this is precisely how I challenged
6 other attorneys, how I challenged Rand Hoch to convince
7 me otherwise. T make the statement; and, T say, you

8 show me otherwise or here is the contrary argument.

9 Disprove me.

10 BY MR. MIHET:
11 Q. So, in the abksence of an actual statement from
12 you that says here is a contrary argument and I'm

13 looking to figure out what you think about this, how can

14 the Court or anyone else looking at what you write

1b determine whether or not you actually mean what you say?
16 M3, FAHEY: Form.

17 Speculation, argumentative.

18 That e-mail speaks for itself. The first
19 iine is, I have —-- in follow-up on your e-mail --

20 MR. MIHET: TI'm sorry.

21 MS. FAHEY: -- of Friday --

22 MR. MIHET: I'm sorry, counsel.

23 MS. FAHEY: -- T offer the following

24 synopsis.

25 | MR. MIHET: Please refrain from making
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1 speaking objections. If you want to object as to form,

A that's fine.

3 THE WITNESS: The Court -- I'm sorry. May I
4 answer your question?

5 MR, MIHET: Yes.

6 TEE WITNESS: The Court would have to lock

7 at all of my e-mail exchanges with Mr. Hoch. And you

8 will see that this occurs frequently. This is the way I
9 challenge him to disprove the arguments against him.

10 MR. MIHET: Okay.

11 BY MR. MIHET:
12 Q. You also say: As to conflict, a local ordinance
13 regulating the treatment available to patients would

14 conflict with Florida's broad Patients' Bill of Rights.

15 Do you see that?

16 A. Yes, I do.

17 Q. And you go on in the next sentence to say:

18 Counties are prohibited from enacting an ordinance that
19 conflicts with general law.

20 Do you see that?

21 A. Yes.

22 0. So were you telling Mr. Hoch that a local

23 ordinance prohibiting conversion therapy would conflict

24 with Florida's broad Patients' Bill of Rights?

25 A. I was presenting Mr. Hoch with that argument
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1 challenging him to disprove me.
2 Q. Okay. And where do you tell him that you do not
3 actually subscribe to that argument?
4 A. You'd have to look through all of my e-mails, as
5 I've said several times, in order to understand that

6 this was the character of the exchanges between
7 Rand Hoch and myself.
8 Q. Where in this particular e-mail do you point out

9 to him that you don't actually subscribe to these

10 theories, but you're just presenting them for purposes
11 of eliciting a response?

12 A. I don't say those words.

13 ¢. Do you convey that thought?

14 A. I believe, if you read all of the e-mail

15 exchanges between Rand Hoch and myself, you will

16 understand that that is precisely the thought I'm

17 conveying.

18 Q. So can you point me to an e-mail exchange where
19 you actually make that distinction and you say, hey, T
20 don't actually believe this; but I'm curious what your

21 take is on this issue?

22 A. No. I never say that -~

23 ¢. Okay.

24 A, -- that I can recall. I mean, you're talking

25 about a year and almost a half ago. I don't -- I don't
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1 know that I can recall every single e-mail I sent to
2 Rand Hoch. I think my e-mails are one of those seven or

3 eight-inch -~
4 Q. Can you think of any e-mail where you indicate to
5 him that a position that you convey is not actually your

6 position but one as to which you would like him to

7 provide you a response?

8 A. Not off the top of my head, I can't.

9 Q. OCkay.
10 A. It's simply the way f argue with alil of my

11 colleagues. If you ask any of them, you'll hear the

12 same thing. They generally dislike my argumeants because
13 I simply state the opposite point of view and force them
14 to convince me otherwise. I've been kicked out of many
15 an office.

16 Q. When you say, "kicked out," you mean -- you don't
17 mean —-

18 A. My colleagues —--

19 Q. -- fired or --

20 A. I mean, my colleagues have had enough of me.

21 Devil's advocate.

22 Q. So does the same -- the same -- does your boss,
23 Ms. Nieman, have fLhe same custom or strategy as you,

24 which is to state a position but in a way -- I'm sorry.

25 Let me just cut that off halfway through.
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1 Does M;. Nieman have the same custom or approach
2 as you've just described?
3 MS. FAHEY: Form, speculation.
4 THE WITNESS: I don't know.

5 BY MR. MIHET:

6 Q. You deal with her, don't you?

7 A. Yes.

8 Q. Okay. And so, from your dealings with her, does
9 she make it a habit to state positions that she doesn't

16 actually subscribe to?

11 A. I really -- so we're off of 30(b) (6). You're

12 asking me as a fact witness to testify now regarding

13 Denise Marie Nieman's habits. 2And T cannot say one way
14 or the other whether she ever plays devil's advocate. I
15 imagine she does. Most of attorney's do.

16 Q. So you would imagine that she also makes

17 statements such as the Florida legislature scheme of

i8 licensing and regulating businesses and professions is

19 pervasive without actually meaning what she writes?

20 MS. FAHEY: Form, speculation.

21 THE WITNESS: I can't say.

22 MR. MIHET: Okay. Failr enough.

23 {Plaintiffs' Exhibit No. 12 marked for identification)

24 BY MR. MIHET:

25 Q. So now we're looking at a documenit we've marked
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1 as Exhibit 12. This is more e-mail communications

2 between Mr. Hoch and yourself and Ms. Nieman dated

3 August 30, 2016. You see at the bottom there, Mr. Hoch
4 starts by writing to you and Ms. Nieman: Since the

5 Liberty Counsel has threatened litigation, I trust that
6 all of our e-mail concerning the litigation are

) temporarily exempt from public records requests in

8 accordance with Chapter 1i9. TIs that your

9 understanding, as well?

10 You see that?

11 A. Yes.

12 Q. Do you remember receiving that inquiry from him?
13 A. I do. This was —-- I'm sorry.

14 MS. FAHEY: Oh, I'm sorry.

15 Just clear for the record, same objections
16 noted.

17 MR. MIHET: Okay.

18 THE WITNESS: I do remember receiving this.

19 BY MR. MIEET:

20 Q. And why does it bring a smile to your face?

21 A. Because he obviously was incorrect in his

22 assertion that my communications with a third party
23 would be protected under either work-product or

24 attorney/client privileges.

25 Q. And you conveyed that to him in your response,
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1 correct?
2 A. T discussed work product. I don't think I

3 suggested he was wrong on the basis of attorney/client,

4 as well, if he would have been.

5 Q. Well, let's look at what you say. You say: No,
6 our e-mails are not exempt from a public records

7 request. The work-product exemption contained in

8 Chapter 119 that applies to litigation work product of
9 agency attorneys is waived when the work product is

10 disclosed.

11 And you cite a case. Do you see that?

12 A. Yes.

13 Q. So that was your response to him?

14 A. That was my response to him.

15 Q. Now, did you actually mean what you said this
16 time? Was this simply providing him a -~ one of many
17 available positions for the purposes of eliciting his
18 response?

19 MS. FAHEY: Form.

20 THE WITNESS: I believe, if you read this

21 e-mail, it's pretty clear I was absolutely telling him a
22 response to his question, which was: Is that your

23 understanding? No, that is not my understanding.

24 BY MR. MIHET:

25 Q. So, in this e-mail, you actually meant what you
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1 wrote?
2 A. T was not playing devil's advocate with Rand Hoch
3 in this e-mail. |

4 Q. OCkay. So I'm locking at then Exhibit 11, which
5 we've Jjust looked at, and now at Exhibit 12. To ne,

6 both e-mails seem to relay the same kind of clear

7 position from you in response to his questions, right?
8 11 was also a question that he wrote to you about

9 implied -- implied preemption, and you provide him with
10 your responses. What 1s different about these two

11 e-mails in terms of what you meant to convey?

12 A. T believe these two e-mails are absolutely

13 different. There is no question from Rand at the

14 beginning of the other e-mail, Plaintiffs' Exhibit
15 No. 11. T was not responding in Plaintiffs' Exhibit
16 No. 11 to a question from Rand. In fact, he had given

17 me his legal position. I was giving him the contrary

18 legal position, as any good devil's advocate would do,
19 and asking him to tell me where I was going wrong.
20 And, third, granted, Plaintiffs' Exhibit No. 12,

21 he is asking me a question. He is saying: I trust our

22 e-malls concerning the litigation are temporarily exempt
23 from public records. Is that your understanding? And I
24 answered that guestion, no, that is not my

25 understanding.
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1 Q. I see. S0 he was soliciting your understanding
2 expressly in —-- in this e~mail, Exhibit 12, right?
3 A. He asked me a question.
4 0. Right.
5 And, in Exhibit 11, the e-mail that he sent, you
6 did not construe that to elicit your thoughts on the
7 question of implied preemption, did you?
8 A. Plaintiffs' Exhibit No. 11 is a back and forth,
9 as you will see from all of my e-mails, for the most

10 part, with Rand Hoch where he presents one point of
i1 view. T present the contrary. And we go back and forth

12 sc that we can get to the end result.

13 Q. I gotcha.

14 Now, what 1s the work product that was disclosed
15 that you're referring to in your e-mail on Exhibit 127
16 A. T don't know what I was referring to there

17 specifically.
13 Q. Well, he's asking you about the -- the preceding

19 e-maills at the end of August 2016, right?

20 A. He says: I trust all of our e-mail, singular -—-
21 Q. Qkay.

22 A. —-- concerning the litigation are temporarily

23 exempt from public records requests.

24 Q. Qkay.

25 A, And I am saying, under -~ he says, under Chapter
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1 119. And I reply, under Chapter 119, the work-product
2 exemption applies to litigation work product. It's
3 waived when the work product is discleosed. 1I'd have to
4 read that case again. I'm not certain whether that
5 principle 1s stated precisely that way in the case. I
6 imagine it probably is.
7 Q. So the reason that the e-mails were not exempt
8 from a public records request, you write, is because the

9 work product had been disclosed or would be disclosed?

10 A. 'That is what I write. Again, I would have to
11 take a look at the Lightbourne versus McCollum case to
12 see precisely what it states.

13 Q. Okay. And so you don't know what work product
14 you're referring to here?

ib A. Well, he's asking me whether all of our e-mails
i6 concerning the litigation are exempt from public

17 records.

18 Q. Uh-huk.

19 A. BSo I imagine I'm referring te any work product
20 that may have been revealed in e-mails concerning the

21 litigation.

22 Q. Such as, for example, the work product that is in
23 Exhibit 11 that we've been discussing —-

24 MS. FAHEY: Form.

25 BY MR. MIHET:
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1 0. -- which contains your statements about implied
2 impression --
3 A. T think what I'm --
4 Q. -- implied preemption?
5 A. I think what I'm trying to say is that that's not

6 work product because it's an e-mail between Rand Hoch

7 and myself.

8 Q. Okay.

9 A. And the work product exemption in Chapter 119
10 that applies to litigation is waived when it's

i1 disclosed. Sc I am sharing my perscnal thoughts,

12 opinions with Rand Hoch. It can't be work product.

13 Q. Okay. So the County is not asserting any common

14 interest or other privilege with respect to Rand Hoch or
15 his organization?

16 A. And, 1f you're asking me in terms of the County's

17 position for this litigation, that's not a subject that
18 I was prepared to discuss. I don't believe the County's
19 assertions of privileges are contained in items six

20 through twelve of the scope of this deposition.

21 MS. FAHEY: Yes. And, for the record, the

22 deposition topics that encompass all of the County's

23 responses to interrogatories were eliminated and
24 replaced with topic nine.
25 MR. MIBEET: Okay.
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1 BY MR, MIHET:

2 Q. Now, Mr. Hoch gives a one-word response to your

3 e-mail. Do you see that at the top of Exhibit 127

4 A. Yes.

5 He says, bummer, right?

6 A. Yes.

7 Q. What did you understand him to mean by that?

8 A. Bummer.

9 Q. Meaning?
10 A. I would have to look at the definition of bummer

11 to tell you exactly how it's defined. Not a good thing.
12 Q. You don't have to look at the definition of

13 bummer to tell me that he was bummed by the news that

14 you conveyed to him?

15 A. That's one way to interpret it, certainly. I

16 just interpreted it as not a good thing, yes.

17 Q. And why was it not a good thing that his e-mails
18 to you and your e-mails to him would not be exempt --
19 MS. FAHEY: Form.

20 BY MR. MIEET:

21 Q. —-- from a public records request?
22 A. I have no idea why he would consider that to be
23 not a good thing. Any communication that a citizen has

24 with me is a good thing.

25 Q. Okay. Did you ever have any further discussions
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1 with him about this issue? By, "this issue," I mean,
2 the discoverability of e-mail communications between --—
3 A. I don't believe --
4 Q. -— you and him?
5 A I'm sorry.
6 Q Just want to make sure the record's clear.
7 MR. MIHET: Did you get my question?
8 THE COURT REPORTER: I did.
9 THE WITNESS: I don't believe -- I can't
10 recall ever having another discussion with Rand Hoch via
11 e-mail. You're saying discussion; but, obviously, it
12 would have been an e-mall exchange or —-

13 BY MR. MIHET:
14 Q. Well, or a telephone or an in-person discussion

15 with him about the discoverability of written

16 communications between him and the County's attorney or
17 the need to keep certain communications verbal rather
18 that in writing or anything along those lines?

19 A. So I was prepared to come here today to be

20 deposed as a 30(b) (6) witness prepared to testify

21 regarding the topics that were provided in the notice of
22 depo. T am not prepared today to be a fact witness.

23 But, if you're asking me as a fact witness whether I

24 ever had any other communications with Rand Hoch

25 regarding a lack of exemption, T would answer, I don’t
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1 recall.
2 Q. Okay.
3 (Plaintiffs' Exhibit No. 13 marked for identification)

4 BY MR. MIHET:

5 Q. So now I've handed you Exhibit 13. This is a
6 three-page string of communications.
7 MS. FAHEY: The County reserves all of the

8 objections that it has been asserting for this type of
9 e-mail,

10 BY MR. MIHET:

11 Q. All right. Starting at the -- on the third page
12 of this e-mail chain, there is a message on March 3,

13 2017, from Denise Nieman to Mr. Hoch. Do you see that?
14 A. I do see that. I'm not copied on any of those

15 e-mails, as I see them, right.
16 Q. Okay. In this particular e-mail, she says: I
17 still intend to send out the opinion before the next BCC

i8 meeting 3/14, but the Mayocr won't be there.

19 Do you have any knowledge of what opinion

20 Ms. Nieman was referencing?

21 A. I do not know.

22 Q. She continues to say: Not sure where your

23 12 floor discussions ended up, if it matters.

24 Do you have any knowledge what she is referring

25 to when she talks about 12 floor discussions?
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1 A. T don't know. I would have to guess. The 12th
2 floor of the governmental center is where the
3 Commissioners' offices are located, so 12th floor
4 generally means Commissioner discussions.
5 Q. Okay. That -- that helps because I didn't know
6 that. So your guess in context would be that she is
7 referencing discussions that Mr. Hoch might have had
8 with County Commissioners?
9 A, That would be my guess.
10 Q. Okay. Now, in his response to Ms. Nieman on

11 March 4, which is at the bottom of the second page in
12 this exhibit, he says: Denise, no rush on this at all.
13 The longer we wait, the more local ordinances will be

14 enacted.

15 Do you see that?

16 A. T see that.

17 ¢C. Now, in the next paragraph, he says: I'm hoping
18 that your opinion includes your recommendation that the

19 state snact Jeff Clemens bill. Cites to the bill. And

20 then it says: To address the issue statewide and that

21 municipalities in the County continue to enact local
22 ordinances.

23 Do you see that?

24 A, T see that,

25 Q0. Again, do you know what opinion he is
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1 referencing?
2 A. I do not know. I'm assuming it's the same

3 opinion we spoke of before, but that would simply be an

4 assumption guess on my part.

5 Q. Okay. And then he says: PBCHRC does not want

6 anything in your opinion to be perceived as discouraging
7 municipalities from taking action similar to what has

8 been done so for in West Palm Beach, Lake Worth, Boynton

9 Beach and Riviera Beach.

10 Do you see that?

11 A. 1 see that.

12 Q. 8o do you have any idea what Mr. Hoch is

13 referencing there?

14 A. Municipalities taking action similar to what has

15 been done s¢ far. Let me look at the date. Oh, this is
i6 March of 2017. We've skipped way ahead. And, by that
17 time, I believe West Palm Beach, Lake Worth, Boynton

18 Beach and Riviera Beach had all enacted ordinances

19 banning conversion therapy.

20 Q. And what certain --

21 A. If not —- Excuse me. I'm sorry. If not already
22 enacted, they were in a drafting or reading process

23 then.

24 ¢C. What concern did Mr. Hoch have about an copinion

25 from the Palm Beach County Attorney's Office impacting
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1 his efforts with respect to conversion therapy bans at
2 the municipality level?
3 MS. FAHEY: Form. Speculation.
4 THE WITNESS: I can't testify as to what Mr.
5 Rand Hoch's concerns were. 1 can only say that the

6 words speak for themselves. Apparently, the Palm Beach
7 County Human Rights Council didn't want anything in

8 Denise Marie's opinion to be perceived as discouraging

9 municipalities of taking action similar to what has been
16 done so far in West Palm Beach, Lake Worth, Boynton

il Beach and Riviera Beach.

i2 MR. MIHET: Okay.

13 BY MR. MIHET:
14 Q. Now, you see, above thal e-mail at the top of the
15 second page of this exhibit, Ms. Nieman writes back to

16 Mr. Hoch. And she says three paragraphs in: As for my

17 opinion, I may not reference Jeff by name but certainly
18 will emphasize that it's a state issue. As for the
19 cities, there's no stopping them from using my opinion.

20 Maybe you don't want it at all, guestion mark. You're

21 not racking up any counties. Maybe continue with your

22 city focus, question mark. Something to consider.

23 Do you have any knowledge what Ms. Nieman was

24 attempting to convey when she asked Mr. Hoch whether or
25 not he wants her opinion to be issued at all?
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1 A. I'm sorry. Could you repeat your question,
2 please?
3 MR. MIHET: Could you read that back,
4 please.
5 (Regquested portion read back by the court reporter)
6 MS. FAHEY: Form.

7 8Y MR. MIHET:

8 Q. What Ms. Nieman was attempting to convey.

9 A. So, again, this is a guess because I'm not

10 Ms. Nieman. But I believe what she's saying -- what

11 she's asking him is whether Rand Hoch -- oh, I'm sorry
12 -« whether Rand Hoch wants the County's opinion to issue
13 now or not.
14 Q. Okay.
15 A. 1 mean, it appears as if that's what she's

16 saying.

17 Q. Okay. And, in your experience in the County

18 Attorney's Office, again, is this a customary thing for
19 the County Attorney to give a proponent of a bill the
20 option of whether or not the County Attorney's opinion
21 would be issued at all?

22 MS. FAHEY: We reassert our same objections
23 concerning the customary question.

24 BY MR. MIHET:

25 0. To your knowledge.
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1 A. And, again, I've had experience with two
2 ordinances; so that's the extent of my knowledge. And T

3 can simply say that we work with proponents of

4 ordinances in the enactment of the ordinance. So it

5 might -- it could occur.

6 Q. You don't see any problem with that?

7 A, And I need you to ask me a full guestion.

8 A problem with what?

9 Q. With giving the proponent of a bill the option of
10 whether or not to have the County Attorney issue an

11 opinion on that bill.

12 A. 8o no.

13 Q. Okay. Now —--

14 A. Can I clarify, though? I don't think it's

i5 someone else's call. The County Attorney serves at the

i6 pleasure of the Board of County Commissioners, so they

17 are her client.

18 Q. You think so?

19 A. And this appears to be somewhat of a rhetorical
20 question. Maybe-you-don't-want-it-at—-all rhetorical
21 question.

22 Q. Oh.

23 A. Obviously, the County Attorney has to do legal
24 work con behalf of the Board of County Commissioners.
25 Q. I got it. So this is an example of Ms. Nieman

Fiorida Couri Reporting
561-689-0999

Electronically signed by Rachele Gibula (201-150-076-2271)
Electronically signed by Rachele Clhula (201-150-076-9271) dfof6ef0-3d1e-4d46-b7b3-63401d7ahccd




Case 9:18-cv-80771-RLR Document 121-9 Entered on FLSD Docket 10/23/2018 Page 153 of
Case: 19-10604 Date Filed:43416/2019 Page: 158 of 255

Otto v. City of Boca Helene Evizd 9/20/2018
Page 153
1 writing things down that she doesn't actually mean?
2 MS. FAHEY: Form.
3 THE WITNESS: T totally disagree with your
4 characterization.
5 MR. MIHET: Okay.
6 THE WITNESS: I'm suggesting that could be a
7 rhetorical gquestion.
8 MR. MIHET: All right.

9 BY MR. MIHET:
10 Q. Well, then you see at the bottom of page one of
11 this Exhibit 13, Mr. Hoch writes back. And he says at
12 the bottom of that second paragraph, last sentence: 1I'd

i3 hate for your opinion to bring our municipal efforts to

14 a screeching halt.

15 Do you see that?

16 A. Yes.

17 Q. And then, at the top of this Exhibit 13, we have
18 the response from Ms. Nieman back to Mr. Hoch. Do you

19 see that?

20 A, Yes,
21 Q. Okay. Now, she writes in the second paragraph:
22 I suggested that it was a state issue, which could

23 eliminate any discussion at the local level; so I'm not
24 sure where the working work the cities came in. I also

25 mentioned working with the state association governing
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1 therapists to mandate compliance with the national APA

2 Code of Conduct. That seems to have the most teeth.

3 Do you see that?

4 A. 1 do.

5 Q. What do you think she was referencing when she

6 says that "I suggested that it was a state issue"?

7 A. T have to read what Rand asked first because,

8 taking that out of context without reading his complete

9 statement, it's difficult --

10 Q. Okay.

11 A -- to understand what's meant.

12 0. Go ahead.

13 A So it appears as if -- and, again, I'm guessing.
14 I don't know what was in Denise Marie Nieman's head when
15 she was writing these words. It appears as 1f her

16 statement "I suggested that it was a state issue which
17 would eliminate any discussion at the local level"” may
18 have been referring to the preemption question, again,
19 in her previous statements regarding the state concerns.
20 Q. OCkay. Now, in the second -~ or not second -- the
21 next paragraph of Ms. Nieman's e-mail, she says: As for
22 the other, cities have shared with is -~ I submit that
23 she meant to say us —-- thelr concerns about implied

24 preemption and other areas that we'wve discussed with

25 you. It's not just a County issue.
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1 Do you see that?
2 A, Yes.
3 Q. What cities shared with you their concerns about
4 implied preemption?
5 MS. FAHEY: Who is "you" in your question?
6 MR. MIHET: The County Attorney's Office.
7 MS. FAHEY: Outside the scope.
8 THE WITNESS: So, again, this is not asking

9 me as a 30(b) (6) witness but as a fact witness to
10 testify regarding circumstances that occurred at some
11 point about a year and a half ago. I do not recall what
12 cities. BAnd I certainly wouldn't know what cities
13 Denise Marie was talking about unless she told me.

14 BY MR. MIHET:

15 Q. Next paragraph she says: We'll keep it in still
16 researching mode.

17 Do you see that?

18 A. Yes.

19 Q. Do you think she's -- she's referring to the

20 opinion that had been discussed?

21 A. That's the subject line of this e-mail, CT

22 opinion.

23 Q. So then she says: But know that nothing will

24 change just because more cities enact ordinances unless
25 one 1is tested and upheld on issues of concern to us.
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1 Do you see that?
2 A, T see that.
3 Q. 8o what do you think she meant when she made that
4 statement?
5 MS. FAHEY: Form. Speculation.
6 THE WITNESS: I would have to guess as to

7 what Denise Marie Nieman meant when she made that

8 statement. There seem to be a few different meanings in
9 this statement. First, she says that we're still
10 researching or that we will keep the CT opinion in still
11 researching nmode.
12 MR. MIHET: Uh-huh.
13 THE WITNESS: She also says that nothing
14 will change Jjust because more cities enact ordinances.
15 I'm presuming that means with the CT opinion. Again,
16 I'm guessing. Unless one is tested and upheld on issues
17 of concern to us might be unless another ordinance is —-
18 likely that means unless another ordinance is tested --
19 likely that means in the courts -- and upheld on issues
20 of concern to us.

21 BY MR. MIHET:

22 Q. OQOkay. Would a failr reading of her statement mean
23 that, if Mr. Hoch brought to the County's attention the
24 fact that other municipalities were passing these

25 ordinances, as far as the County was concerned, that
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1 wouldn't change its analysis because what would need to

2 happen would be for one of those local policies or
3 ordinances to be tested and upheid?

4 MS. FAHEY: Form.

5 THE WITNESS: Yes, with one slight

6 variation. I think "unless one is tested and upheld on

7 issues of concern to us" doesn't necessarily mean that
8 our CT opinion would change, but it may have some
9 influence on it.

10 BY MR. MIHET:

11 0. What do you mean?

12 A. I think, 1f I'm interpreting this, it -- at all
13 as she may have meant, 1t means, our opinion on

14 conversion therapy will remain our opinion on conversion
15 therapy regardless of whether other cities enact

16 ordinances. However, if another city enacts an

17 ordinance that is then tested in the courts and upheld
18 that are on issues of concern to us, as well, that could
19 change our opinion.

20 Q. Okay. And then she says in the next paragraph:

21 By the way, we did confirm with the Property Appraiser's

22 Office that the CT therapists you shared with us all

23 work in incorporated aress.
24 Do you see that?
25 A, Yes,.
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1 0. What CT therapists had Mr. Hoch shared with you?
2 A. There was a meeting that took place with

3 Rand Hoch, myself, Trent Steele and Denise Marie Nieman.
4 And, Jjust for the record now, this is fact witness.

5 This has nothing to do with 30(b) {(6) or what I was

) prepared to testify to today. I'm fairly certain that,

7 in discovery, the meeting notes that Rand Hoch provided
8 us were disclosed and that there was, among those notes,

9 a list of what looked like White Pages printouts of

10 therapists. And he discussed those therapists as

11 practicing conversion therapy.

12 Q. Ckay.

13 MS. FAHEY: For your record, Harry, do you

14 want us to refer you to the Bates page numbers?

15 MR. MIHET: Yeah. Why not.

16 MS. FAHEY: The White Pages that were just
17 referred to by Ms. Hvizd are PBC-001428 through

18 PBC-00143%.

19 (Plaintiffs' Exhibit No. 14 marked for identification)
20 BY MR. MIHET:

21 Q. Exhibit 14 has just been placed in front of you.
22 This is additional communications between Ms. Nieman and
23 Mr. Hoch on April 12, 2017.

24 MS. FAHEY: Our cbjections extend to this

25 document, as well, for the record.
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1 MR. MIHET: Okay.

2 BY MR. MIHET:

3 Q. You'll see at the bottom of this page, Mr. Hoch
4 says: Denise, can we put off your memoc until July.

5 Do you see that?

6 A. I see that.

7 Q. We've got a final hearing in July in one of the
8 municipalities, and it would be a big help. I've

9 explained to the Commissioners who have inquired why we
10 aren't moving forward quickly with the County ordinance,

il and they are onboazd.

12 Do you see that?

13 A. 1 see that.

14 Q0. Are you aware of any communications that Mr. Hoch
15 had with Commissioners and which Commissicners were

16 onbecard?

17 MS. FAHEY: Which topic are you —-- are you

18 suggesting this falls under?

19 MR. MIHET: The consideration, enactment,

20 debate of the ordinance.

21 MS. FAHEY: Okay. And so any individual

22 Commissioners mindsets and motivations and that sort of
23 thing would be subject to the legislative privilege. We
24 have provided you with all of the e-mails to

25 Commissioners.
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1 MR. MIEET: Okay.

2 BY MR. MIHET:

3 Q. Are you aware which Commissioners Mr. Hoch was
4 referencing in this e-mail?
5 A. I'm not. Perscnally, this is outside the scope

6 of my 30(b) (6} testimony.

7 Q. S0 he asks Ms. Nieman to put off her memo until
8 July, and what does Ms. Nieman respond with?
9 A. If you're asking me to read Ms. Nieman's e-mail

10 to Mr. Hoch of April 12, 2017, she says: Of course.

11 You want me to read the rest of the e-mail, as well?
12 Q. Yeah. Keep reading.

13 A. In fact, I told the Commissicners why I haven't
14 issued an copinion yet after you and I spoke, that we

15 didn't want what I had to say to impact your eifforts

16 with the cities. I'm surprised you are getting

17 questions unless they didn't want to take my word for
18 it. In any event, I was holding off indefinitely. Let
19 me know when you want it to go, keeping in mind that

20 nothing that happens with cities heolds much persuasive
21 value unless a court rules on the exact issues I'm

22 concerned about. I'1l be on standby.

23 Q. Okay. So Ms. Nieman says that she was holding
24 off her opinion indefinitely, correct?
25 A. She says that.
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1 Q. 8o do you still think that the question that she

2 had posed to Mr. Hoch earlier in the exhibit we talked
3 about with respect to whether or not he wanted her
4 opinion in the first place was a rhetorical question on

5 her behalf?

6 A. Could you tell me what exhibit you're speaking
7 about, please?
8 MS. FAHEY: Form. Speculation.

9 BY MR. MIHET:
10C Q. It was Exhibit 13, second page on the top where
11 she says: As for my opinion. BAnd she continues and
12 then she says: Maybe you don't want it at all.

13 T believe you indicated that that might have just
14 been a rhetorical question because her client is the

15 BCC, and so Mr. Hoch's preference would not have any

16 bearing on when or if her opinion would be released.

17 A. I said T believe that to be a rhetorical

18 question, correct. And does this change that? No.
19 Q. Right. It does not. Okay.

24 Now, she references that she had a discussion

21 with the Commissioners and told them why she hadn't yet
22 issued the opinion. What discussion is she referencing
23 there?

24 A. I have no idea. That's an attorney/client

25 privilege. What the County Attorney address -- speaks
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1 of to —-- speaks about to the Commissicners? That —-— I

2 mean, this is so far from 30(b} (6) that I was prepared

3 to testify about. This is an e-mail from Denise Nieman.

4 I'm not copied on it. I have no personal knowledge of
5 this particular e-mail.

6 You're now asking me what she means in con —-

7 about conversations with the Commissioners. And I'm

8 asserting for her, even though it's not the subject of

S this deposition, an attorney/client privilege. Anything
10 a County Attorney says to the Commissioners would be
11 attorney/client privilege as it relates to the business

12 that we're here to do.

i3 Q. LExcept that she discloses in this e-mail that we
14 now have in our hands and read in the public record what
15 it is that she told the Commissioners, does she not?

16 A. I den't think this does —-

17 MS. FAHEY: So what is disclosed here is

18 disclosed, and that is public. Any further inquiry into
19 their meetings, the attorney and the client, would not
20 be appropriate and would be violating attorney/client

21 privilege. At this time on April 12, 2017, we do have a
22 letter threatening suit regarding this ordinance. And
23 anticipation of litigation is happening at the County

24 AttorneyFs Office and at the County. And so, with what

25 you see here, that is information that you have in your
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1 possession.
2 BY MR. MIHET:
3 Q. Now, Ms. Nieman, again, conveys the same
4 sentiment that she did in the prior exhibit we looked at

5 where she says: Nothing that happens with cities holds

6 much persuasive value unless a court rules on the exact
7 issues I'm concerned about.

8 Do you see that?

9 A, I do.
10 Q. Do you understand that to be a reference, again,
11 to the preemption issue and whether or not the enactment
12 of additional ordinances by cities would affect her
13 position on preemption?
14 A. It could be preemption. It could be read more

15 broadly. I'm not certain what Denise Marie Nieman

16 intended by that sentence.

17 Q.- Okay.

18 A. I mean, she says: Nothing that happens with

19 cities. That could go beyond just preemption.

20 Q. Well, but she says that in response toc Mr. Hoch
21 telling her that another city is about to have a final
22 hearing on a conversion therapy ban, right?

23 A, Correct. But the conversion therapy ban address
24 —- concerns about the conversion therapy ban were

25 greater than simply preemption.
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1 Q. Do you know whether the communication that
2 Ms. Nieman references in her e-mail with the County
3 Commissioners took place as part of a shade meeting or

4 whether it was part of a public meeting of the County

5 Commissioners?

6 A. No, I do not.

7 MS. FAHEY: Objection.

8 Assumes facts not in evidence -- that are

9 not in evidence.
10 (Plaintiffs' Exhibit No. 15 marked for identification)
11 MS. FAHEY: Before we begin another exhibit,

12 Mr. Mihet, were you planning to break for lunch?

13 MR. MIHET: T was. Can we go another twenty
14 minutes or so?

15 MS. FAHEY: Are you comfortable with another
16 twenty minutes, Ms. Hvizd?

17 THE WITNESS: I'm quite hungry right now.

18 MR. MIHET: So we can stop now.

19 MS. FAHEY: Thank you, Mr. Mihet. I have

20 twelve-fifty-nine, one o'cleck. Two o'clock work?

21 MR. MIHET: Yes.

22 {(Recess)

23 BY MR. MIHET:
24 Q. We're back on the record after the lunch break.

25 Ms. Hvizd, I'm going to show you what we've
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1 marked as Exhibit 157
2 A. Thank you.
3 ©. This is an additional chain of e-mail
4 communication between Mr. Hoch and various individuals.
5 I'd like to start on the third page of this exhibit,
6 which is PBC-8017. This is an August 28th e-mail from
¥ Mr., Hoch -- and I think you have to lock at the very
8 bottom of the previous page to see that, which is the
9 bottom of the second page -- to a number of individuals,
10 including Denise Nieman, and with a copy to what appear
11 to be Commission members and the Mayor. Is that so?
12 A. Yes, all seven members of the Commission.
13 Q. Okay.
14 A. And Trent Steele.
15 Q. If you will look --
16 A. I'm sorry. And Todd Bonlarrcn, who is an
17 Assistant County Administrator.
18 Q. Right.
19 So, on August 28, 2017, if you'll look four
20 paragraphs into this e-mail, Mr. Hoch says to these
21 individuals: At this time, PBCHRC would like you to
22 move forward with providing your office's opinion
23 concerning enacting a countywide ordinance to ban
24 conversion therapy for minors by licensed professionals.
25 As we have discussed, your staff's legal opinions may
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1 well not be in agreement with that of PBCHRC and the

2 twelve municipal attorneys and one county attorney in

3 Florida whom have addressed these matters. But, be that

4 as it may, we would like to move forward at this time.
5 Did I read that correctly?

6 A. Yes.

7 Q. What was Mr. Hoch saying to Denise Nieman with

8 respect to the opinion that had been withheld up to this

9 point?
10 MS. FAHEY: Form.
11 THE WITNESS: That the opinion, quote, may

12 well not be in agreement with that of PBCHRC and the

13 twelve municipal attorneys and one county attorney in

14 I'lorida whom have addressed these matters. Bul, be that
15 as it may, we would like to move forward at this time,
16 end guote.

17 BY MR. MIHET:

18 Q. Well, before —-- before that sentence, in the

19 first sentence, he tells the County Attorney that she

20 can now go ahead and move forward with providing that

21 opinion, correct?

22 A. No. i believe he says that the Palm Beach County
23 Human Rights Council would like you to move forward —-
24 Q. Correct.

25 A. —-- with providing your office's opinion.
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1 Q. Do you have an understanding as to why Mr. Hoch
2 copied all of these various individuals on his
3 communication to Denise Nieman?
4 MS. FAHEY: Form. Speculation.
5 THE WITNESS: T don't know.

6 BY MR. MIHET:
7 Q. If you will loock at the e-mail that precedes the
8 one we just talked about, which starts at the bottom of
9 the first page of this Exhibit 15 --
10 MS. FAHEY: Do you mind referencing the
11 Bates number to help me.
12 MR. MIHET: Sure. This is PBC-8015, an
13 e-mail on Wednesday, September 20, 2017.
14 BY MR. MIHET:
15 Q. It is an e-mail tc what appears to be County
16 Commissioners and the Mayor and Mr. Bonlarron and

17 Ms. Nieman forwarding the August 28th e-mail that we

18 just discussed and stating on the second page in the
19 second paragraph: Over the past few weeks, Denise and I
20 have spoken concerning banning conversion therapy

21 countywide. It is my hope that you will give her
22 direction at next week's BCC meeting to draft an
23 ordinance to prohibit both the practice and the

24 advertisement of conversion therapy as outlined in

25 PBCERC's e-mail dated August 28, 2017. See below.
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1 Do you see that?
2 A. I see that. I think my only correction would be
3 I believe you said that this e-mail precedes the e-mail

4 of August 28th. 3o --

5 Q. I meant precedes in the exhibit --

6 A. Oh.

7 Q. —— not precedes in time.

8 A. 1 see. Ckay.

9 Q. Okay?
10 So Mr. Hoch is asking the Commissioners to give
11 the County Attorney direction to draft an ordinance. TIs

12 that vour understanding of this?
i3 A, Correct. And they already had, by the way.

14 June 20th, the direction from the Board of County

i5 Commissioners through Mayor Berger was to come back with
16 an ordinance.

17 0. June 20th of?

18 A. Of 201e.

19 Q. 2016.

20 But now we are more than a year later -—-

21 A. Uh-huh.

22 Q. -—-- on September 20, 2017.

23 A. Uh-huh.

24 Q. And the County Attorney had not yet come back
25 with the ordinance draft requested by the Commission?
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1 A. Correct.
2 Q. And so why was there so much time that lapsed?
3 MS. FAHEY: Form.
4 THE WITNESS: I don't know. I mean, I'm
5 guessing why there was so much time that elapsed, that
6 it likely was based on what you've already read into the
7 record regarding a discussion between the proponents of
8 the ordinance, the citizen who was petitioning their
9 government to take some action that they would prefer.
10 And by, "they," I mean, the Palm Beach County Human
11 Rights Council would prefer that no action be taken
12 until this date.
13 Q. And the reason that he'd prefer that no action be
14 taken was because, i1f action had been taken prior to
15 this date, it would have hurt his organization's efforts
16 in passing these kinds of ordinances at the local level
17 in other localities?
18 MS. FAHEY: Form.
19 THE WITNESS: So you're asking me for the
20 reason Rand Hoch did something? I don't know.
21 BY MR. MIEET:
22 Q. Well, as exhibited in the e-mails that we have
23 been reading about today, was that not the —-- the
24 thought that they conveyed tc you?
25 A. I think the e-mails would have to speak for
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1 themselves. The words of the e-mails are Rand Hoch's
2 words. I can't tell you what thoughts he had at the
3 time.
4 Q. So your testimony is that, having gone through
5 those e-mails today, as you sit here, you have no idea

6 why it was that Mr. Hoch requested for there to be a

7 delay of longer than a year on this ordinance?

8 A. No, that's not —-

9 MS. FAHEY: Form.

10 THE WITNESS: ~- my testimony at all. My
11 testimony is that the words of his e-mail have to speak
12 for themselves. I'm nct in Rand Hoch's head,

13 BY MR. MIHET:
14 . I'm asking you what those words meant to you and
15 whether you have any knowledge as to why he requested

16 for there to be a yvear—-long delay in the preparation of

17 this ordinance?

18 MS. FAHEY: Who is the "you” in your

19 question?

20 MR. MIEET: The deponent.

21 THE WITNESS: Meaning, Helene Hvizd,

22 individually, not 30(b) (6). So, if you point to some

23 words, I'll be happy to talk about them. But I'm not --
24 your question is too vague for me to know what you're

25 even —-- which e-mails or words vyou're talking about
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1 right now.
2 MR. MIHET: The e-mails that we've been
3 talking about today.

4 THE WITNESS: I have thirteen -- fifteen,

5 now, exhibits in front of me. Some were from Denise.
) Some were from Rand. Some were from Nick Sofoul. And
7 then other e-mails.

8 BY MR. MIHET:

9 Q. And so it's all mush right now in terms of the

10 thought that Mr. Hoch was sending to Denise, the County
11 Attorney, asking her to delay the issuance of her

12 opinion because it would hurt his efforts in getting

13 ordinances passed at the locai level? That doesn't ring

14 any bells as we sit here today?

15 MS. FAHEY: Objection.

16 Mischaracterizes the witness's testimony.

17 Argumentative, asked and answered.

18 THE WITNESS: TI'm asking you to please point

19 me to language, and I'i1l be happy to review it and tell
20 you what I do or do not know about that language.

21 BY MR. MIHET:

22 Q. Without us doing that, you're not able to sit

23 here today right now and tell me why it was that

24 Mr. Hoch had wanted there to be this delay in the

25 drafting and presentation of the ordinance?
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1 MS. FAHEY: Form.
2 THE WITNESS: I'm asking you to please point

3 me to language; and I'l1l be happy, after my one-hour
4 restful and relaxing lunch, to lcook at it and to give
5 you my best answerxr.

6 BY MR. MIEET:

7 Q. My question is not that. My question is:

8 Without doing that, you're not able to give me an

9 answer?
10 A. To what?
11 ¢. As to whether -- as to whether or not you had any

12 idea of why it was that Mr. Hoch wanted there to be over

13 a year delay in the drafting and presentation of the

14 ordinance to the Board of County Commissioners.

15 MS. FAHEY: Form.

16 Asked and answered, speculation.

17 THE WITNESS: I will have to look through
18 e-mails. If you won't point me to --

19 MR. MIHET: T don't want you --—

20 THE WITNESS: -- one individually -—-

21 MR. MIHET: -- to take the time to do that
22 because we have a very limited time here today.

23 BY MR. MIHET:
24 Q. I'm asking you, as you sit here right now without

25 looking at any e-mails, do you have any idea of why it
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1 was that Mr. Hoch wished for there to be over a year
2 delay in presenting the County ordinance to the County
3 Commissioners?
4 A. I was called here today to testify as a 30{b) (o)
5 witness on behalf of the County as a whole, which
6 consists of seven members of the Board of County
7 Commissioners, regarding specific matters of examination
8 listed on your Second Amended Notice of Taking
9 Depositions of Defendants. Rand Hoch's motives in doing
10 anything are not part of this 30(b) {(6) notice.
11 Q. So is the answer --
12 A, TIf you'd like to point me to specific language in
13 an e-mail and ask me if I know what Rand Hoch thought,
14 T'11l be happy to do that or answer that question. But,
15 right now, I don't know what you're talk -- which e-mail
16 you're talking about.
17 Q. I'm not talking about any e-mails, Ms. Hvizd.
18 A, It's Hvizd.
19 Q. Hvizd.
20 A. Thank you.
21 Q. I'm sorry.
22 A. No worries.
23 Q. I'm taking about the fact that there was a —-
24 over a year-long delay between the time that the County
25 Commissioners requested an ordinance to be drafted until
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1 the time when Mr. Hoch says we are now ready to move
2 forward. And, without referencing any e-mails, I'm

3 asking you wvery simply: Do you have any idea why that

4 delay took place? It's a yes or no gquestion. You
5 either know or you don't know.
6 MS. FAHEY: Mr. Mihet, are you asking her

7 why Mr. Hoch wanted a delay or why a delay occurred?

8 I've heard two different cuestions, so I just want to --
9 MR. MIHET: Well, let's —--

10 THE WITNESS: I've heard two different

11 gquestions, as well.

12 MR. MIHET: Okay.

13 BY MR. MIHET:
14 Q. 8o let's -- let's do both. Why he wanted a

15 delay?

16 A. T don't know.
1 Q. You don't know.
18 Why a delay occurred?
19 A, A delay occurred because we were not pressed to
20 present the Board of County Commissiconers with an
21 ordinance, as far as T know, until the December date.
22 Q. So a delay occurred because Mr. Hoch reqguested
23 it?
24 MS. FAHEY: Form.
25 Mischaracterizes testimony.
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1 Asked and answered.
2 THE WITNESS: Again, I would ask, 1f you'd
3 like to show me to Mr. Rand's request -- Mr. Hoch's

4 request, I'll be happy to tell you, yes, he requested.

5 But, until you do that, I'm not prepared to characterize
6 Rand's e-mails.

¥ 8Y MR. MIHET:

8 Q. Looking at the e-mail above the one we've just

9 read, which is PBC-8015, the first page of Exhibit 15 —-

10 it's the second e-mail on the page, September 20, 2017,

11 from Ms. Nieman back to Mr. Hoch. Do you see that one?
12 A, Yes.

13 Q. She says: When you say countywide, vyou mean,

14 countywide applicable in the unincorporated and

15 incorporated areas? I ask because many people use it
16 just to mean throughout the County's jurisdiction. You
17 have so many cities who moved forward already. And I
18 still have enforcement concerns which I mention in my
19 BCC e-mail, being relieved that none of the six were in
20 the unincorporated area.

21 Do you see that?

22 A, Yes.

23 Q. What enforcement concerns did Ms. Nieman still
24 have?

25 A. I don't know.
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1 Q. What impact did the reach of this ordinance,

2 whether or not it was in the unincorporated area or the

3 incorporated area, have on its potential enforcement?
4 MS. FAHEY: Form.

5 THE WITNESS: What -- I don't understand
6 your question, what impact did it have.

7 BY MR. MIHET:

8 Q. Well, she says she still has enforcement concerns
9 in the context of her mentioning that she wants this to
10 be applicable only in the unincorporated areas. She

il says: 1 ask because many people use it to mean

i2 throughout the County's jurisdiction. And then she goes

i3 on te say: I still have enforcement concerns.

14 So I'm Just asking you: Was there consideration
15 of the scope of the application of the ordinance

16 vis-a-vis its potential enforcement?

17 MS5. FAHEY: Form.

18 THE WITNESS: As to the end of your

19 question, I can answer that. I think you may have

20 mischaracterized what Denise Marie Nieman was saying in

21 the e-mail slightly. But was there concern about the
22 scope in terms of where this ordinance would be

23 enforced? Yes.

24 BY MR, MIHET:

25 Q. What was -~ what was that concern?
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1 A. Every ordinance that we bring to the Board of
2 County Commissioners has to be viewed in terms of

3 whether it will apply throughout both unincorporated and
4 incorporated areas of Palm Beach County or whether it

5 will apply only in the unincorpcrated areas of Palm

6 Beach County. There's a procedure in place for whether
7 —-- how that ordinance proceeds based on the answer to

8 that question.

9 Q. And why was it the County Attorney's preference

10 that this ordinance would apply only in the

11 unincorporated areas?

12 M3, FAIEY: TForm. Speculation.

13 THE WITNESS: I don't know.

14 (Plaintiffs' Exhibit No. 16 marked for identification)

15 RBRY MR. MIHET:
16 Q. So now I've handed you a document we've marked as

17 Plaintiffs' Exhibit 16. And you will see that it's a

18 communication from Ms. Nieman to Mr. Hoch in which she
19 appears to be forwarding to him an e-mail that she wrote
20 to the County Commissioners. Do you see that?

21 A, I do.

22 Q. The e-mail that is being forwarded, the one that
23 she wrote to the County Commissioners, appears to have

24 been written on September 7, 2017. Do you see that?

25 A. It deoes appear to be written on that date.
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1 Q. Have you seen this e-mail before?
2 A. Again, I'm here as a 30(b) (6) witness to testify

3 on behalf of the County. Individually, I was not

4 prepared as a fact witness for this deposition. The

5 question of whether I've seen it before? 1'd have to go
6 back and look through all of these personal e-mails

7 between Denise Marie and myself or -- to see if I was

8 copied. I don't know.

9 Q. Did the County --

10 MS. FAHEY: I'm sorry. For the record, the
i1 County reasserts its objections with respect to e-mails
iz that the Board as a whole are not on and Ms. Hvizd is
i3 not on.

14 BY MR. MIEET:

15 Q. Did the County Commissioners receive this e-mail
16 from Ms. Nieman that says, "Dear Commissioners”?

17 A, Tt doesn't say that the County Commissioners are
18 copied. However, it does say, "Dear Commissioners."

19 Likely, they were.
20 Q. Okay. So, in this particular e-mail, Ms. Nieman
21 says to the Board of County Commissioners that -- well,

22 let's just start up top. In the first paragraph, she

23 says: This is in response to the BCC's direction last
24 summer to research the viability of the adoption of a
25 County ordinance banning conversion therapy, a form of
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1 counseling that attempts to change one's sexual
2 orientation. The direction was given at the request of
3 Rand Hoch on behalf of the PBC BHuman Rights Council.
4 Do you see that?
5 A. Yes.
6 Q. Now, she goes on and says: We strongly believe

7 that this area should be regulated by the state.

8 Do you see that?

9 A, Yes.

10 Q. Was that, in fact, her belief?

11 MS. FAHEY: Form. Speculation.
12 THE WITNESS: I don't know.

13 BY MR. MIHET:

14 Q. When she says, "we," who is she referring to?
15 MS. FAHEY: Form. Speculation.
16 THE WITNESS: I don't know.

17 BY MR. MIHET:

18 Q. Ts she referring to the County Attorney's Office?
19 A. I don't know.

20 Q. Okay. Is she referring to you?

21 A. T don't know.

22 Q. Did you, on September 7, 2017, strongly believe

23 that this area should be regulated by the state?
24 A. Don't recall.

25 Q. What do you mean you don't recall?
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1 (Interruption by someone entering the deposition room)

2 MS. FAHEY: Sorry, Harry. We just need to

3 put some paper towels in that trash can.

4 BY MR, MIHET:

5 Q0. ILet me strike my last question and ask you this
6 instead.
7 Have you ever believed that conversion therapy is

8 an area that should be regulated by the state?
9 A. Yes. bBarly on in my research, I did have that
10 belief. ©Oh, did I just waive an attorney/client or
11 work-product privilege?
12 Q. But by --
13 A. I'm not intending to waive any work-preduct or
14 attorney/client privilege.
15 Q. But, by September 7, 2017, you don't know whether

16 you still believed that?

17 A. I don't recall.

i8 Q. OCkay. Two paragraphs below that, it says: OQur

19 initial research revealed a number of significant legal
20 issues that would have prevented my office from signing

21 off for legal sufficiency. Assistant County Attorney,

22 Hvizd —--

23 A. The H is silent.

24 Q. Yes, Hvizd.

25 -—- and I reviewed our concerns with Mr. Hoch and
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1 ultimately mutually agreed to hold off issuing an
2 unfavorable opinion to give us time to monitor how the
3 pending cases evolved and to see how the jurisdictions
4 who did move forward with an ordinance administered and
5 enforced same. We also wanted to see 1f any of the new
6 enactments would be challenged. To the best of our
7 knowledge, none have been.
8 So Ms. Nieman 1s relating to the Commissioners
9 that the reason for the delay is that you wanted to see
10 how this issue would play out in terms of other
11 localities adopting similar ordinances?
12 MS. FAHEY: Form.
13 THE WITNESS: I believe she says: We also
14 wanted to see if any of the new enactments would be
15 challenged.
16 MR. MIHET: Okay.
17 BY MR. MIHET:
18 Q0. Now, up to September 7, 2017, to the best of, 1
19 guess, her knowledge and whoever else she included in
20 "our" there, none had been challenged?
21 A, I'm sorry. Are you asking me up until September
22 8th, had any other municipalities' enactments of
23 conversion therapy bans been challenged?
24 Q. September 7, 2017.
25 A. September 7th. I'm not certain when Tampa's
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1 lawsuit was filed, but I believe it was during the
2 course of our enacting ours. So Tampa I believe is the
3 first State of Florida enactment that we were aware of

4 having been challenged.

5 Q. ©Okay. I'll represent to you that I believe that
6 was in December 2017.

7 So my question is: When Ms. Nieman relates to

8 the Commissioners that, to the best of her knowledge,

9 none have been challenged, you don't have any reason to

10 dispute the accuracy of that statement, do you?
11 THE WITNESS: I don't.

12 MS. FAHEY: FPorm. Scope.

13 MR. MIHET: Ckay.

14 BY MR. MIHET:

15 Q. Now, you recall the statements that we've read by
16 Ms. Nieman in two of the prior e-mails where she said

17 that other local enactments would not change anything in
18 the County's position unless and until one of those

19 would be challenged and upheld. Do you recall those --

20 those e-mails?
21 MS. PFAHEY: Form.
22 THE WITNESS: T think you're slightly

23 nmischaracterizing what she said or misstating it. But
24 there was a reference to ordinances and other

25 municipalities being challenged.
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1 BY MR. MIHET:
2 Q. And do you recall her stating that nothing would

3 change with respect to the County Attorney's position

4 unless a local ordinance were challenged and upheld on
5 the issues of concern to the County?

6 M3, FAHEY: Fozrm.

7 THE WITNESS: Can you point me to the

8 statement that she made, please. Actually, I can point
9 you to i1t. Plaintiffs' Exhibit No. 14, the last
10 sentence of Denise Marie's e-mail dated COctober 12,
11 2017, to Rand contains the statement: Let me know when
12 you want it tc go, keeping in mind that nothing that

13 happens with cities holds much persuasive value unless a

14 court rules on the exact issues I'm concerned about.
15 Q. Right. And then --

16 A. 1s that what you're referring to?

17 Q. Yes.

18 And then, on the prior Exhibit, 13, she says in

19 the fourth paragraph on the first page: Will keep it

20 still in researching mode but know that nothing will

21 change just because more cities enact ordinances unless
22 one 1s tested and upheld on issues of concern to us.

23 Do you see that?

24 A, Yes.

25 Q. Okay. So, as of September 7, 2017, none of the
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1 other local ordinances in Florida had been challenged

2 and upheld on issues of concern to the County, correct?
3 A. And -- correct, as long as that Tampa lawsuit

4 ig ~~ as you suggest, wasn't filed until -- and

5 certainly not upheld.

6 Q. And certainly not upheld yet, unfortunately.

7 A. Uh-huh.

8 Q. So then we -- strike that.

9 So, given that no local ordinance had been
10 challenged and upheld on issues of concern to the
11 County, is it fair to understand then that nothing had
12 changed in the County Attorney's position with respect
13 to whether or not this ordinance could move forward?

14 MS. FAHEY: Form.

15 THE WITNESS: No, I don't think that's fair.
16 Let me just ask. Are you asking me about

17 the County Attorney's position? Because, again, I'm not
18 Denise Marie Nieman. I can't testify as to what she

18 thought or felt. I can testify to words on a piece of
20 paper that she wrote, but that's it.
21 MR. MIHET: Okay.
22 BY MR. MIHET:
23 Q. 8o she had previocusly said we've established:
24 That, unless and until a local ordinance is challenged
25 and upheld on issues of concern To the County, ndthing
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1 would change in the County Attornev's position, correct?
2 A. I don't know that she said nothing would change

3 in the County Attorney's position.

4 0. Okay. What do you think she was referring to?
5 A. Well, in one, she says: Nothing that happens

2 with cities holds much persuasive value unless a court
I rules on the exact issues I'm concerned about.

8 Q. Okay.

9 MS. FAHEY: That's Exhibit 14.

10 BY MR. MIHET:

11 Q. Persuasive value to whom?

12 MS. FAHEY: Form.

13 THE WITNESS: T don't know what she meant.
14 I mean, who she intended by that -- that word.

15 MR. MIHET: Okay.

le BY MR. MIHET:

17 Q. All right. Moving on, she says in a couple of
18 paragraphs below that: While we still have legal

19 concerns including but not limited to implied

20 preemption, the Florida Patients' Bili of Rights,

21 conflicting federal circuit court opinions and parental
22 rights, there was some arguments that advanced to a

23 point where we were able to move from a definite no to a
24 maybe. I use this term since the case law can go either
25 way, clearing the path for an ordinance should a
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1 majority of the BCC so directs.

2 Do you see that?
3 A. Yes.
4 Q. So what were the arguments that had advanced to a

5 point where there could be a move from a definite no to

6 a maybe?
7 MS. FAHEY: Speculation, scope.
8 THE WITNESS: I don't know.

9 BY MR. MIHET:
10 Q. But this is an e-mail that was sent to the County
11 Commissioners and that they received and reviewed as a

12 _ whole?

13 A. Correct. I mean, we know that this e-mail

14 appears to have been sent to the County Commissiocners.
15 Q. Okay. TIs this an e-mail that the County

16 Commissioners relied upon in their consideration and
17 eventual enactment of the ordinance?

18 A, Yes.

19 Q. So, given all that, you are not able to tell me

20 what she is referring to when she says that there was

21 some arguments that advanced to a point where the County
22 could now move from a definite no to a maybe?

23 MS., FAHRY: Form.

24 THE WITNESS: I can only tell you that her

25 words are as they are on this sheet of paper. What
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1 Denise Marie Nieman intended them to mean or what is not

2 plainly on this piece of paper I can't testify to.

3 0. You can't testify as toc what the County

4 Commission understcod those words to mean?

5 M5. FAHEY: Form.

6 THE WITNESS: I can testify to what seven

7 members of the Board of County Commissioners reading
8 this could interpret this to mean. And they could

9 interpret this to mean that there were some arguments
10 that advanced to a point where the County Attorney's

11 Qffice was able to move from a definite, no, do not

12 enact a conversion therapy ban to a maybe convert -—-
13 adopt or enact a conversion therapy ban.
14 Q. What did they understand those arguments tc be,

15 the ones that had moved or that had advanced?

16 A, I will -- again, you're asking me what the
17 individual Board members understood —--

i8 Q. No --

19 A, -- and I can't testify to that.

20 Q. -—- I'm not.

21 A. No?

22 Q. I'm asking you what the County Commission

23 believed those arguments were that had advanced to the
24 point where now they could move from a definite no to a

25 mayhe?
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1 MS. FAHEY: Form.
2 THE WITNESS: And I am going to suggest
3 that, if you view the trans -- or read the transcripts
4 or view the BCC meetings when this ordinance was
5 considered, the guestioning from the Commissioners
6 seemed to concern preemption. So, likely, the
7 Commissioners had concerns about arguments regarding

8 preemption --

9 0. Okay.

10 A. -- having moved from a definite no to a maybe.
11 Q. And what —-- what precipitated that move? What
12 changed to get the arguments of preemption to move from
13 a definite no to a maybe?

14. MS. FAHEY: Form. Asked and answered.

15 THE WITNESS: TI'm —-- I have to assert a

16 work-product privilege if you're asking me for what in
17 my work or my consulting with my client changed

18 regarding preemption.

19 MR. MIHET: No.

20 BY MR. MIHET:

21 Q. I'm asking you abcut this e-mail that was sent

22 that says that some arguments, which you've said could
23 be the preemption arguments, have moved, have changed,
24 have gone from a definite no to a maybe.

25 A. Okay.
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1 Q. So, in connection with that discliosure that is
2 now a public document and that we've been talking about,

3 I'm asking ycu what was the reason for that change?

4 What were those changes?

5 MS. FAHEY: Mr. Mihet, unless you're aware

6 of that being enumerated in any other pubklic document,
it would be work product that has not been made publicly

available. And so the witness has given an answer

w oo ~d

numerous times to this question. The document speaks

190 for itselif. With respect to your inquiry into the

11 mental impressions of Denise Marie Nieman or Ms. Hvizd,
12 we would assert a work-product privilege.

13 MR. MIHET: Well, we don't agree that there
14 could be a partial disclosure such as what we have in

15 this document without then discleosing what the change
16 was and what the reason was for that change. And so, if
17 you're instructing the witness not to answer, we can —-

18 we can take that up at a later date. TIs that what your

19 instruction is?

20 MS. FAHEY: I believe the witness has given
21 YOl an answer.

22 MR. MIHET: No, she hasn't. My question to

23 her was: What had changed to cause those arguments to
24 go from -- on preemption to go from a definite no to a

25 maybe? And she ~-- she, herself, then asserted a
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1 work-product priviiege.
2 THE WITNESS: I can answer, if I may,

3 please?

4 MS. FAHEY: And, just for the record, I just
5 want to state our objection. We are objecting to
6 expanding beyond what has already been disclosed and

7 provided and put inte public records. If you --

8 MR. MIHET: Okay. So —-

9 MS. FAHEY: Sorry. We produced voluminous
10 e-mails involving Ms. Hvizd, Ms. Nieman and Mr. Hoch
11 where this was -~ where the ordinance was discussed.

12 And so, to the extent that you are testing her memory on
13 what any other e-mail may have, I ask that you please
14 let us know that. If you're asking for her to explore

15 further this, please let us know that, as well.

16 MR. MIHET: I think my question is pretty

17 clear, and I think the witness wants to answer. So the
18 only question for you is: Are you going to allow her to
19 answer, or are you going tc invoke a privilege that

20 would require us to go to court later on?

21 THE WITNESS: I'm going to allow her to

22 answer. She's not able to speak for Denise Marie

23 Nieman's mind.

24 MR. MIHET: I'm not asking for her to speak
25 for Denise Marie Nieman's mind.
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1 THE WITNESS: Will you repeat the question,
2 please.
3 MR. MIHET: Yes, if I can remember it now.
4 THE COURT REPORTER: Do you want me to read

5 it back?

6 MR. MIHET: WNo. I will try it, and we'll

7 see how —- how we do.

8 BY MR. MIHET:

9 Q. What had changed in the arguments on preemption
10 to advance them from a definite no to a mavbe in terms

11 of whether or not the County could move forward with

12 this ordinance?

13 MS. FAHEY: I'm reasserting my previous
14 objections.

15 THE WITNESS: If you listen or read the

16 transcript of the BCC meeting where they discussed

17 preemption, I think you will hear -- actually, let me
18 refer to that record, if you don't mind.
19 So this is on Palm Beach County Bates stamp

20 number 392 and beyond. And Commissioner Abrams

21 expressed his concern a couple areas of inquiry. He
22 said -- and the first was what the County Attorney's
23 position was on the issue of jurisdiction. I replied to

24 that question by suggesting that it really should be

25 phrased in terms of preemption and that there were two
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1 ways for a local government to be preempted by the

2 legislature, express preemption and implied preemption,
3 and then went into more detail regarding the implied

4 preemption; that there had been no court in the State of
5 Florida tc address that gquestion and that there were two
6 sides to the argument, that one side concerned the

7 Florida legislature having left the door open for local
8 governmants to legislate in order to protect the health,
9 safety and welfare of children and that the other side
10 of the argument concerned the Patients' Bill of Rights
11 and extensive legislation regarding professional
12 assoclations.
13 BY MR. MIHET:
14 0. So there's no question that the argument changed
15 from a definite no to a maybe. My question is: What
16 was the reason for that change? Was there, for example,

17 any repeal of the Florida statutory scheme that was

18 previously considered to be pervasive?

19 A. No. There was no repeal of Florida Statute, as
20 far as I'm aware of.

21 Q. Okay. Was there -- what other reason was there
22 for this change in position on preemption from a

23 definite no to a maybe?

24 A. 1 think I would peoint to a recognition of the

25 first part of my answer which talked about proponents of
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1 the ordinance pointing to language in the Florida law
2 that said that counties enact ordinances to protect the

3 health, safety and welfare of the children. So I think

4 that was a change from an initial suggestion that there
5 was no allowance in the law for counties to regulate in
6 this area.

7 Q. Now, was that a —-- was that law that you're

8 referencing one that was enacted prior to June of 2016
9 or after?

10 A. No. It was enacted before, prior to.

11 Q. So that had always been the law for purposes of
12 this ordinance?

13 A. As far as I know.

14 Q. Okay. So that law hadn't changed?

15 A. The law hadn't changed. I think I stated,

16 though, a reccgnition of that statute.
17 Q. Were you nolt aware previously that counties can
18 legislate in the interest of the health, safety and

19 morals of their citizenry?

20 MS. FAHEY: Form.

21 Mischaracterizes testimony.

22 Cutside the scope.

23 THE WITNESS: I'm aware that the Palm Beach

24 County Charter as well as the State Constitution and

25 state statutes allow counties to legislate in the area

Florida Court Reporting
561-689-0999

Electronically signed by Rachele Cibula {201-150-076-9271)
Electronically signed by Rachele Cibula (201-150-076-8271) df0f6efd-3d1e-4d46-b7h3-63401d7abcc



Case 9:18-cv-80771-RLR Document 121-9 Entered on FLSD Docket 10/23/2018 Page 194 of
Case: 19-10604 Date Filed:A3416/2019  Page: 199 of 255

Otto v. City of Boca Helene Hvizd 9/20/2018

Page 194

1 of protecting the health, saféty and welfare of

2 children.

3 BY MR. MIHET:

4 Q. So the County Attorney's Office was aware of that
5 previously when it concluded that the argument on

6 preemption was a definite no. What changed to move that

7 argument from a definite no to a maybe?

8 MS. FAHEY: Form.

9 You're asking this witness for her legal
190 opinion and Ms. Nieman's legal opinion.
11 MR. MIHET: No, I'm not.
12 THE WITNESS: I can -~ I can clarify what I
13 intended when I said language in the Florida legislature

14 should have been Florida Statutes. And the recognition
15 concerned specifically the Department of Health's

16 statutory enabling statute or the Department of Health

17 statutes defining those professions over which they

18 regulate, one of them being licensed marital and family
19 therapists. And the language is cited in the County's

20 Motion to Dismiss --

21 BY MR. MIHET:

22 Q. Is that what you --

23 A -- so you'll find the statute number there.
24 Q. Is that what you said teo the Commissioners?
25 A T said: The proponents of this particular
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1 ordinance point to lanquage in the Florida
2 legislature -- and, again, it should have been Florida
3 Statutes -- that says that counties may protect the

4 health, safety and welfare of children. And they see
5 that as a statement of the legislature's intent not to

6 preempt counties from legislating in this area.

7 Q. So they wouldn't have had a reason to know that
8 you were referring to some statute that was cited, what,
9 six months later in the County's Motion to Dismiss,

10 would they?

11 MS. FAHEY: TForm, arqumentative.

12 THE WITNESS: I never did state the

13 Department of Health statutes when I spoke to them.

14 BY MR, MIHET:

15 Q. Other than that particular change, what else had
16 changed to move this preemption argument from a definite
17 no Lo a maybe?

18 A. I'm not aware of any other change.

19 Q. That was it. Okay.

20 A. When the legislature states in a statute that

21 they anticipate local governments will be allowed to

22 legislate in a particular area, we can view that as a

23 strong argument that we're not impliedly preempted from

24 legislating.

25 Q. But they had stated that pricr to June of 2016,
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1 correct?
2 A. Correct. And what I'm noting for you is is that

3 that language was noted and recognized between June ZC0th

4 of 2016 and September 7th of 2017. I'm not aware of

5 every single statute in the State of Florida. These six
6 large books are not all in my head.

7 ¢. Okay. DNow, in the next paragraph, Ms. Nieman

8 writes to the Commissioners: In addition to the legal

9 issues, after researching the history of conversion

i0 therapy, T felt it important to bring to your attention

11 some general observations as well as some practical
12 concerns. Most of the universal complaints seem to be
13 about religious organizations that the ordinance would

14 not legally be able to address.

15 Do you see that?

16 A. Yes.

17 Q. What is being conveyed to the County

18 Commissioners in that --

i9 MS. FAEEY: Fozm.

20 0. -—-— section?

21 MS. FAHEY: Scope.

22 THE WITNESS: I could just repeat the words

23 that you just said, if you'd 1ike me to do that.
24 MR. MIHET: No, I don't want you to do that.

25 BY MR. MIHET:
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1 Q. I want you to explain to me what the County
2 Commissioners were considering when they were being told

3 that the universal complaints came from religious

4 organizations that would not be able to be addressed in
5 the cordinance?

6 MS. FAHEY: Form. Scope.

7 THE WITNESS: Actually, it's not that the

8 universal complaints came from religious organizations,
9 rather it's that the complaints seem to be about
10 religious organizations and that the ordinance would not

11 legally be able to address.
12 MR. MIHET: Okay.

13 BY MR. MIBET:

14 Q. So what were the universal complaints about
15 religious organizations?

16 MS. FAHEY: Form. Scope.

17 THE WITNESS: I do not know what

18 Denise Marie Nieman intended by those words.

i9 BY MR. MIHET:

20 Q. What does the County Commission believe that she
21 was referring to?
22 A. Complaints about religious organizations that the

23 ordinance would not legally be able to address.
24 Q. Religious organizations doing what?

25 A. Conversion therapy.
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1 ¢C. And why would not the ordinance be able to
2 address conversion therapy engaged in by religious
3 organizations?
4 MS. FAHEY: Form,.
5 Calls for a legal opinion.
6 THE WITNESS: I can only tell you that the
7 draft ordinance presented to the Board of County
8 Commissioners had an exclusion from its definition of
9 provider for religious —-- actually, I believe it's
10 for -- let me get the ordinance exactly.
11 Q. Clergy?
12 A. So provider -- a provider does not include

13 members the clergy who are acting in their roles as

14 clergy or pastoral counselors and providing religious

15 counseling to congregants as long as they do not hold

16 themselves out as operating pursuant to any of the

17 aforenmentioned Florida Statute licensures.

18 Q. Well, the County Commission came to believe that
19 conversion therapy was harmful to minors, correct?

20 A. Correct.

21 Q. When provided by licensed therapists, correct?

22 A. Correct.

23 0. 1Is conversion therapy less harmful to mincrs when

24 provided by members of the clergy or religious

25 organizations?
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1 MS. FAHEY: Form. Cutside the scope.
2 THE WITNESS: T can't say whether the Board
3 .of County Commissioners had an opinion on that one way
4 or the other. There's nothing in our records that
5 demonstrates that.

6 BY MR. MTHET:

7 0. So you don't know what the County's position is
8 on that?

9 A. Correct.
10 Q. Why does the County believe that the ordinance

11 would not be able to legally address harmful conduct

12 engaged in by religious organizations?

13 MS. FAHEY: Form.

14 Calls for a legal opinion.

15 THE WITNESS: Without waiving my

16 attorney/client privilege or work-product privilege, the
17 concern would be government interference with the

18 practice of religion.

19 MR. MIHET: Okay.

20  BY MR. MIHET:

21 Q. I mean, I'm sure that -- that you and the County
22 Commissioners watch the news. And I'm sure you've secen,
23 you know, priests and clergy be arrested and go to jail
24 all the time for engaging in conduct that harms

25 children, right?
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1 MS. FAHEY: Form. OCutside the scope.
2 THE WITNESS: I actually avoid the news as
3 often as possible, and I find my life is much happier
4 because of that.
15} BY MR. MIHET:
6 Q. So you're not aware of the current controversy

7 involving the Catholic church and the allegations of

8 sexual abuse of minors?

9 A. TI've heard -—-
10 MS. FAHEY: Form. Outside the scope.
11 THE WITNESS: I'wve heard only rumblings, no

12 details.

13 BY MR. MIHET:

14 Q. Tt's the County's position then that the County
15 does not have the power to address or regulate harmful

16 conduct by religious organizations directed at children?

17 M3, FAHEY: Form.
18 THE WITNESS: No.
19 MR, MIHET: No.

20 BY MR. MIHET:

21 Q. That's not what was meant by complaints about
22 religious organizations that the ordinance would not
23 legally be able to address?

24 MS. FAHEY: Form.

25 THE WITNESS: At this point, I know that we
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1 had already been presented with several drafts of other
2 municipalities' ordinances that contain the same
3 language that we ultimately included in our ordinance,
4 which is that a provider does not include members of the
5 clergy who are acting in their roles as clergy or
6 pastoral counselors in providing religiocus counseling to
7 congregants as long as they don't hold themselves out as
8 operating pursuant to any of the aforementioned Florida

9 Statute's licensures. And I know that that language

10 remained in our ordinance in December when it was
11 presented to the Board of County Commissioners.
12 MR. MIHET: That's -- that's very nice that

13 you point that out, but that really wasn't my question.
14 THE WITNESS: I'm sorry. What was your
15 gquestion?

16 BY MR. MIHET:

17 Q. My question was --—

18 MR. MIHET: Can you ask —-—- read my last
19 question, please.

20 {Requested portion read back by the court reporter)

21 BY MR. MIHET:

22 Q. So I guess let me try to ask it a different way.
23 Is it not the County's position —-- strike that,
24 again.

25 Is it the County's position that the County is
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1 unable legally to address harmful conduct directed
2 towards children engaged in by religious organizations?
3 MS. FAHEY: Form. Ouitside the scope.
4 BY MR. MIHET:
5 Q. Does the County have a position whether or not it
6 has the legal authority to stop religious organizations
7 from engaging in harmful conduct towards minors in its
8 jurisdiction?
9 A. I'm not aware of a County position on that topic.
10 Q. Okay. Ms. Nieman continues in that same
11 paragraph: Further, all of the six therapists who have
12 been identified to us as practicing conversion therapy
13 in Palm Beach County are located in the incorporated
14 areas of the County, which I suppose is a plus because
15 one of the main concerns is enforcement. Did I read
16 that correctly?
17 A. Yes.
18 Q. Why is it a plus from an enforcement standpoint
19 that the six therapists are practicing in the
20 incorporated areas of the County?
21 A. T believe -- again, T'm not Denise Marie Nieman;
22 so I don't know what she was thinking when she wrote
23 those words. But, from the standpoint of the County
24 hearing those words --
25 Q. Or reading them?
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1 A. ~-- or reading them, rather, the County would
2 always prefer to have to expend less money and efforts
3 in enforcement of any of our ordinances. So it would be
4 a plus for us not to have to enforce an ordinance.

5 Monetarily, it would be a plus. We'd have less time

6 expended by our employees, et cetera, that could be used
7 for other purposes.

8 Q. But, if yocu have a County ordinance that applies
9 in unincorporated and incorporated areas, would the

10 County not be the entity that would be responsible for
11 enforcing that ordinance in the incorporated areas?

12 A. If the ordinance applies in both incorporated and
13 unincorporated areas, 1t 1s possible that the County

14 would be responsible for enforcing it in both.

15 Q. So how is it then a plus for the County to have
16 the ordinance -- or to have the six therapists, rather,

17 practicing conversion therapy all be located in

18 incorporated areas of the County?

18 A. By this time, September 7th of 2017, several

20 other municipalities in Palm Beach County had already
21 enacted ordinances banning conversion therapy. And, by
22 the terms of our countywide ordinance language, our

23 ordinance does not apply in any municipality that had
24 enacted an ordinance in conflict with ours. And

25 conflict is defined in terms of the most simple of
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1 differences; difference in the definition, difference in
2 penalties imposed, et cetera.
3 So if, in fact, all six therapists who have been
4 identified are practicing in incorporated areas of the
5 County, other municipal -- other municipal ordinances

6 would apply to them; and the County would not be
7 responsible for enforcing those.
8 Q. Okay. 8o we have most of the universal

9 complaints being about religious organizations that the

10 ordinance cannot legally address, right?

11 A. Those words are on this paper, vyes.

12 Q. And we have the six therapists practicing in
13 incorporated areas of the County where, perhaps, they're
14 already subject toc other bans on conversion therapy,
15 correct?

16 A. Correct.

17 . So why is there still a need then for an

18 ordinance at the County level?

19 MS. FAHEY: Form. Scope.

20 THE WITNESS: Well, there's still

21 unincorporated areas of the County that wouldn't be

22 covered by municipal ordinances. We're not certain that
23 these are the only six therapists that are practicing
24 conversion therapy in Palm Beach County. And, in fact,

25 there were quite a few who testified during both the
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1 December 5th and December 12th hearings.

2 MR. MIHET: Okay.

3 BY MR. MIHET:

4 Q. Now, on the subject of enforcement, Ms. Nieman

5 goes on and says: It's difficult to imagine how a

6 county code enforcement officer would be able to issue a
7 citation for a violation. How would an officer

8 determine 1f a violation occurred? The ordinances play

9 more of a deterrent role.

10 What is the County Commission being told with

il respect to whether or not this is going to be an

12 enforceable ordinance?

13 A. So, based on what I'm reading here, it appears as

14 if part of that, "it's difficult to imagine how a code
15 enforcement officer would be able to issue a citation
16 for a violation," some of that may apply to the

17 incorporated versus unincorporated area of the County
18 concept. To the extent that that applies to

19 unincorporated areas of the County where a code

20 enforcement officer would be able to issue a citation

21 rather -—-

22 ¢. Uh-huh.

23 A. -—- are you asking me how would an officer

24 determine if a vioclation occurred?

25 Q. Well, are county code enforcement officers not
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1 permitted to issue citations in the incorporated areas

2 of the County?

3 A. Not if there's an ordinance in conflict that we
4 can't enforce.
5 ¢. Okay. But, if there's not an ordinance in

6 conflict, are they permitted to issue a citation in an

7 incorporated area?

8 A. If Palm Beach County adopts an ordinance that

9 applies in incorporated and unincorporated areas, we can
10 enforce that ordinance in both incorporated and
11 unincorporated areas.
12 Q. Okay. Except that the County Commission is being

13 told that it's difficult to imagine how a code

14 enforcement officer would be able to issue a citation
15 for a viclation?

16 A. Correct.

17 Q. Because we don't know how an officer would

i8 determine if a violation occurred?

19 MS. FAHEY: Form.

20 THE WITNESS: No, I don't think those words
21 are on this paper. This paper says: How would an

22 officer determine if a violation occurred? That's a

23 question.

24 BY MR. MIHOET:

25 Q. Following the immediately preceding statement
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1 that says: It's difficult to imagine how a citation
2 could be issued.
3 A. Correct. It does follow that sentence.
4 Q. And so how would an officer determine 1f a
5 violation of the ordinance has occurred?
6 A. Are you asking me how that ordinance would be
7 enforced?
8 Q. Yeah. Well, I'm asking you, in light of the
9 statements here that say it's difficult for -- to

10 imagine how that would take place, how does the County

11 envision it taking place now? Has the County been able

12 to imagine it notwithstanding the asserted difficulty in
13 this communication?

14 MS. FAHEY: Forn.

15 THE WITNESS: Well, I believe, if vyou take a

16 loock at the transcripts of the meetings before the Board
17 of County Commissioners, you'll see that I was asked

18 that question by Mayor McKinlay. I believe it's during
19 the December 19th hearing where she asked me to explain
20 the complaint process. And I did answer the question.

21 All of the Commissioners were present and heard the

22 answer, so I would refer you back to that.

23 Q. Okay. So what was difficult about imaging that
24 then if you were able to answer that -- the question?
25 A. So you're asking me what Denise Marie Nieman
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1 meant on September 7th when she wrote that, and I can't

2 testify to what she meant.

3 Q. What did the County Commission understand was
4 difficult about the enforcement of this ordinance?
5 A. T can refer to the December 19th transcript when

6 I discussed for them what could be difficult. The

7 process would be complaint driven. There would be a

8 code enfofcement officer who would investigate. The

9 difficulty concerned collection of the evidence. There
10 would likely be, since it i1s complaint driven, a
11 complaint; and that would be some evidence regarding the
12 practice of conversion therapy having taken place. But
13 then difficulties could arise regarding the collecting
14 of evidence because of the patient/therapist privilege.

15 That was what the Board heard from me.

16 Q. Uh-huh. Does the code enforcement officer have
17 to observe a violation before he can iséue a citation?
18 A. No.

19 Q. So, if somebody calls and complains about trash
20 in somebody's yard, is the code enforcement cfficer able

21 to issue a citation to the owner of that property

22 without going out and visually confirming that trash, in
23 fact, exists in somebody's yard?

24 MS. FAHEY: Form. Scope.

25 THE WITNESS: I'm sorry. I may have
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1 misunderstood your first question. A code enforcement
2 officer issues a notice of viclation after there has
3 been some evidence collected of a violation. Do they
4 have to witness it in the case of conversion therapy?
5 No, they would not have to be in a therapist's office
& while conversion therapy was being practiced.
7 BY MR. MIHET:
8 Q. In the case of other violations that Ccde
9 Enforcement is charged with enforcing, would they have
10 to witness a viclation in order to issue a citation?
11 MS. FAHEY: Form. Scope.
12 THE WITNESS: T can't tell you whether they
13 would have to witness a violation as to every ordinance
14 that they enforce.
15 BY MR. MIHET:
16 Q. Can you think of any ordinances where they would
17 not have to witness a violation?
18 MS. FAHEY: Form. Scope.
19 THE WITNESS: I -- again, I thought the
29 whole issue of code enforcement ordinances, all of the
21 ordinances that they enforce were ~-- was removed [rom
22 the topics for today's deposition, if I'm not mistaken.
23 MR. MIHET: Why don't you let the attorneys
24 worry about what is and is not proper scope and just
25 answer the gquestion until you receive an instruction to
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1 the contrary from your attorney, please.
2 THE WITNESS: 1I've been prepared as a
3 30(b) (6) witness to testify regarding matters of
4 examination provided in your second amended with the
5 recognition that there would be no questions regarding

o number thirteen, the extent to which the Defendant

7 regulates any other clinical practices, any other

8 Lypes —-

9 MR. MIHET: This is not a question about the
10 extent to which the Defendant requlates other practices.

11 This is a question directed to enforcement.

12 BY MR, MIHET:

13 Q. And my question to you is: Are you aware of any
14 other instances where a code enforcement officer can go
15 out and -- or can issue a citation without first

16 visually confirming that a violation has taken place?

17 A; I don't know.

18 MS. FAHEY: Form. Beyond the scope.

19 MR. MIHET: You don't know. Okay. You

20 could have saved ten minutes if you had -just given me

21 that answer earlier, but we can trudge on if you require

22 me to pull it out of you.

23 THE WITNESS: I'm having some problems
24 understanding your questions. They seem somewhat
25 inarticulate.
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1 MR. MIHET: If that's the case, Ms. Hvizd,

2 if you misunderstand one of my questions, I'd like for

3 you to abide by the agreement we had at the beginning of
4 the session that we had today where we said that, if you
5 do not understand the question I'm asking, you would ask

6 me to repeat and clarify it.

1 THE WITNESS: I believe I've done that.
8 MR. MIHET: Actually, instead what you've
9 done is to assert that my question is going into an area

10 that's not within the scope of this deposition and a
11 whole host of other things but tell me that you didn't
12 understand my question. If you don't understand a

13 guestion that I ask, please let me know; and T will do

14 my best to rephrase it.

15 THE WITNESS: Will do.

16 MR. MIHET: Thank you.

17 MS. FAHEY: And the witness is absolutely
18 correct that you're asking her about ordinances that are
19 not the ordinance at issue.

20 MR. MIHET: Okay. Well, that's an objection
21 for you to make —-

22 MS. FAHEY: And I said --

23 MR. MIHET: -- not for the witness. So your
24 objection is noted for the record.

25 MS. FAHEY: And the witness has every right
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1 to let the record reflect for what she was prepared to
2 testify today because it needs to be clear what you're

3 asking her as the County and what you're asking her in

4 her individual capacity.

5 Is now a good time to take a comfort break?
6 MR. MIHET: Sure.

i {Recess)

8 (Plaintiffs' Exhibit No. 17 marked for identification)

9 BY MR. MIEET:
10 Q. Okay. Ms. Hvizd, I'm showing you now what we
11 have marked as Plaintiffs' Exhibit 17.
12 MS. FAHEY: The County is asserting 1its
13 objections that it had for the previous e-mails that
14 didn't involve the Board of County Commissioners.
15 MR. MIHET: Okay.
16 BY MR. MIHET:
17 Q. This is additional e-mail communications between
18 you and Ms. Nieman and Mr. Hoch and others. If you will
19 look at the very bottom of the first page, which is
20 PBC-15551, there's an e-mail from you. The header is at
21 the bottom, Wednesday, August 9, 2017. And then the
22 e-mail continues on the next page, the second page of
23 the exhibit. Do you see that?
24 A. Yes.

25 Q. And you say: Hello Rand. A guestion has
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i occurred regarding enforcement of a conversion therapy

2 ban ordinance. Enforcement of such an ordinance

3 necessarily implicates review of a minor's medical

1 records.

9 Do you see that?

6 A I do.

7 Q. So who raised the question?

8 A I don't recall.

9 Q. Okay. Now, you then ask: Will you please

10 address how a conversion therapy ban ordinance can be
11 enforced given the protections afforded a minor's
12 medical records and the patient/therapist privilege.
13 Do you see that?
14 A, Yes.
15 Q. 8o, unliike in the -- some of the pricr e-mails
16 that we've discussed, in this particular e-mail, you
17 specifically tell Mr. Hoch that someone had raised the
18 question. And you ask him to comment on it without
19 stating or implying that you, yourself, take that
20 position, correct?
21 MS. FAHEY: Form.
22 THE WITNESS: Incorrect.
23 MR. MIHET: Qkay.
24 THE WITNESS: The second sentence 1s exactly
25 that. Enforcement of such an ordinance necessarily
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1 implicates review of a minor's medical records. It
2 doesn't —-
3 MR. MIHET: OQkay.
4 THE WITNESS: -- because we can dget the
5 child to talk. If the child has a complaint and they
6 give it to us, we have evidence on which to move
7 forward. This, again, is my devil's advocate. 1 state
8 a point of view that's the most extreme opinion against
9 what I'm asking him to address.
10 .Q. So you're —-- you're specifically asking him to
11 address that point, right?
12 A. After I state as a fact that enforcement of an
13 ordinance necessarily implicates review of the minor's
14 medical records when it doesn't.
15 Q. Which is right after you say that a question has
16 arisen, correct?
17 A. Correct.
18 Q. Now, is it the County's position then that an
19 alleged violation of the ordinance can be prosecuted
20 without reviewing the minor's medical records?
21 A. Yes.
22 Q. How would that be possible?
23 A. The child would make a complaint that would be
24 observed, listened to and then repeated in front of a
25 special master during a hearing.
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1 Q. How would a therapist defend against that charge?
2 A. The therapist would present their case to the
3 special master.
4 Q. And would make use of the child's medical records
5 in the process®?
6 A. Could make use of the child's medical records.
7 Could simply testify regarding their recollections
8 without records.
9 Q. You say in the second paragraph: I'm copying
10 Robert Santos-Alborna, the County's Code Enforcement
11 Officer, and Shannon Fox, the Assistant County Attorney
12 who represents Code Enforcement. If we are given
13 direction to draft a Conversion Therapy Ban Ordinance,
14 Robert and Shannon will be invelved in the process.
15 Do you see that?
16 A. Yes.
17 Q. Were they involved?
18 A. Actually, yes. And I should clarify. This is
19 the Robert Santos-Alborna whose name I referenced as
20 probably having massacred when I said it the first time.
21 And there were two additional people that I didn't
22 mention to you who were involved in the process.
23 Shannon Fox, Assistant County Attorney, she does
24 represent Code Enforcement. She participated in a
25 meeting with Dr. Hamilton. And then also
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1 Dr. Tony Spaniol, he was involved in that same meeting.
2 So he also participated in drafting of the ordinance to
3 a certain extent. I mean, they certainly didn't put any
4 words on paper; but they were part of the process.
5 Q. What was their involvement in that process?
6 A, Both Shannon Fox and Tony Spaniol attended a
7 meeting with Dr. Hamilton. I believe there was an

8 attorney by the name of Mast who was on the phone at the
9 time of the meeting. Todd Boniarron was present. I was
10 present. And, if I didn't mention Dr. Ginsburg, she was

11 there, as well.

12 Q. Okay. Other than attending that meeting, did
13 these two individuals have any other involvement?

14 A. And, by the two individuals, you mean,

15 Tony Spaniol or Shannon Fox?

le 0. I'm sorry. I mean, Robert Santos-Alborna and
17 Shannon Fox.

18 A. Yes. Robert Santos-Alborna was consulted prior

19 to this deposition in preparation for this deposition.
20 I think, when you read 1it, you read him as a code

21 enforcement officer. In fact, he's the director that I
22 was speaking of. That's what I was trying to explain,
23_ Q. OCkay.

24 A. So Ramsay Bulkeley is the division -- is the

25 director of Planning, Zoning and Building.
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1 Robert Santos-Alborna 1s the County's Code Enforcement
2 director. So he's under Ramsay Bulkeley. And he was
3 consulted in helping me prepare for
4 enforcement-of-the-ordinance questions.
5 Q. Okay. In the e-mail above of one we Jjust read

6 which starts at the half of the first page, Mr. Hoch

7 responds to you and says: Helene, I truly do not
8 understand why you're making this so complicated.
9 Do you see that?
10 A. I do; That's someone not liking my devil's

11 advocate, again. I get this all the time.

12 Q. What did you think about his tone in this e-mail?
13 A. About his tone in this e-mail?

14 Q. Yeah.

15 MS. FAHEY: Objection. Relevance. Form.

16 THE WITNESS: I viewed him as being upset

17 with my statement of facts that I was calling on him to
18 try to contest. And, actually, there's another e-mail
19 where I think he expresses that tone even more clearly
20 suggesting that I shouldn't have anything to -- or that
21 I perhaps was not the best person to give this

22 assignment to. And I think you'll -- if you listen to
23 the transcripts, you'll hear him say that I fought with
24 him reqularly or challenged him reqularly throughout the

25 drafting of this ordinance. So he's made it clear that
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1 we had -- he did debate about the ordinance.

2 BY MR. MIHET:

3 Q. S8So he says in the second paragraph: For the

4 ordinance to be enforced, the minor has to come forward
5 and file a complaint. So the minor can clearly waive

6 confidentiality of his or her own medical records.

7 Do you see that?

8 A. Yes.

9 Q. So did that answer your question that you had

10 posed to him in that previous e-mail?

11 A. He provided me with an answer that -- T would

12 never rely on somecne else's answer without conducting
13 my own independent research though. And, during the

14 December 19th -- or perhaps it was the 5th. During the
15 December 5th hearing, I provided more detail for the

16 Board of County Commissioners regarding my

17 understandment -- my understanding, rather, of a minor's

18 ability to waive the patient/therapist priviliege.

19 Q. So, in your response to him —-- that's at the top
20 of this page —-- you say: Our Code Enforcement division
21 will be relying on complaints to begin their

22 investigaticon. We may not, in fact likely will not,

23 have a minor's consent. Of course, we would likely need
24 a minor's parent's consent, correct, to rely on in order
25 to secure a minor's medical records. Your help in
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1 addressing this concern is greatly appreciated.
2 So he had not yet addressed your concern, which
3 is why you were asking him for his continued input?
4 A. I think he started to address it, yes. I think
5 you just read the part where he was saying the minor has
0 to come forward and file a complaint so the minor can
7 clearly waive confidentiality. And then I was playing
8 devil's advocate in saying that we may not, in fact
9 likely will not, have a minor's consent. So what do we

10 do then?

11 Q. So, when you say: Of course, we would likely
12 need a minor's parent's consent, correct, you don't
13 actually mean that? You're just writing it down just to

14 test him to get him to respond back to you with --

15 A. TI'm taking --

16 Q. =-- his position?

17 A. Yes. I'm taking the most firm possession against
18 his in order to force him to consider it and give me

19 arguments against that.

20 Q. Okay. Let me ask you, with respect to code

21 enforcement, how many code enforcement officers does the

22 County of Palm Beach have?

23 A. I believe the total number is about twenty-five,
24 if I'm not incorrect. And there are five senior code
25 enforcement officers. And any conversion therapy --
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1 yeah, senior code enforcement officers. Any conversion

2 therapy complaints would be directed to the senior code

3 enforcement officers. So there would be five that would
4 be handling enforcement of the Conversion Therapy Ban

5 Ordinance.

6 Q. Now, the ordinance, itself, as I recall, does not

7 specify that it's going to be handled by the senicr code

8 enforcement officers.

9 A. No. Our ordinance would never differentiate

10 between one level or another of code enforcement

11 officers -~

12 0. 8So where does —--

13 A. ~—- as far as I know.

14 0. So where does that rule, for lack cf a better

15 term, come from then, that code -- that conversion

16 therapy complaints would be referred to the five senior
17 code enforcement officers?

18 A. In preparing for this deposition on behalf of the

19 County, I consulted with Robert. And I've given his

20 last name a couple of times. I'm not recalling it wvery
21 gquickly. He was the one as the -- excuse me.

22 Robert Santos-Alborna. And, in consulting with him, he
23 was the one who said that this ordinance would be

24 enforced by the five senior code enforcement officers.

25 Would be -- and I should clarify enforced. It would be
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1 their responsibility to create notices of violation and
2 conduct investigation and then prosecute the matter in
3 front of a special master.
4 Q. Is this a written rule that exists, or 1s this

just a matter of custom or practice that he has

5
6 developed for his department?

7 A. The code enforcement director has the discretion
8 to assign cases to code enforcement cfficers as he sees
9 fit. And he has expressed his -- orally expressed, not
10 in writing, his discretion would be to allow senior code
11 enforcement officers to enforce this ordinance.
12 Q. Did he express then the intention not to allow
13 enforcement for this ordinance to go to any of the other
14 twenty enforcement officers?
15 A. T was informed by Mr. Alborna, Santos-Alborna,

16 rather, that this ordinance would be enforced by the

17 senior code enforcement officers. And there are five of
18 Lhem.

19 Q. And, just so I'm clear, the five are part of the
20 twenty-five or in addition to the twenty-five?

21 A. Part of.

22 0. Part of the twenty-five.

23 A. And, if I could add this to the group of -- the
24 list of three other questions that I was able —-- that

25 I'm given permission, hopefully, to go back and verify,
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1 I would want to verify that precise number. I know
2 there are five senior code enforcement officers who will

3 enforce this. But I would like to be able to verify the

4 total number of code enforcement officers.

5 Q. Okay. Did Mr. Alborna tell you why he would

6 refer code enforcement investigations to the senior code
7 officers in -- for this ordinance?

8 A. Right. The director of the Code Enforcement

9 division believes that the Conversion Therapy Ban

10 Ordinance would require enforcement by people with
11 experience in enforcing County ordinances, the most
12 experience. And the senior code enforcement officers

13 are those people.

14 Q. And you said the -- who would believe that that
15 would -~

16 A. Mr. Alborna.

17 Q. Mr. Alborna. Okay.

18 A. Uh-huh.

19 Q. And why does he believe that enforcement would
20 reguire the most experienced officers?

21 A. I don't know that we got to the -- to the

22 question of why. TIf that was something that I was
23 supposed to be prepared about to testify today, I
24 certainly will try.

25 MS. FAHEY: Scope,.
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1 THE WITNESS: I guess I would simply suggest

2 that he believed that those with the most experience
3 would be the best.

4 BY MR. MIHET:

5 Q. What is the educational requirement for the five
6 senior code enforcement officers?

7 A. May I refer to the job description for the senior
8 code enforcement officers?

9 Q. Sure.
10 A. Thank you.
11 Q. Is that a document that has been produced in this

12 litigation?

13 MS. FAHEY: No.
14 MR. MIHET: Do you have a copy for me?
15 MS. FAHEY: We'll make one. Would you like

16 me to take a break and do it right now?

17 MR. MIHET: Let's do it. OCff the recoxrd.
18 (Recess)
19 (Plaintiffs' Exhibit No. 18 marked for identification)

20 BY MR, MIHET:

21 Q. Ms., Hvizd, we have marked a document that's

22 Exhibit 18. It's titled Senior Code Enforcement

23 Officer. Can you tell us what this document is?

24 A. Yes. This document is the job description for

25 the position of senior code enforcement officer for Palm
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1 Beach County.
2 Q. Okay. And, so looking at this document, are you

3 able to tell me what the educational requirements are

4 for the senior code enforcement officers?

5 A. So, as far as education, meaning, the education
6 they have to be hired, their minimum entrance

7 requirements on the second page, graduation from high
8 school or an equivalent recognized certification,

9 preferably supplemented with college-level course work

10 in public or business administration or

11 a closely~related field and then three years' experience
12 in the interpretaticon and enforcement of land use

13 regulations as a code enforcement officer including one
14 year experience in a supervisory capacity or any

15 equivalent combination of related training and

16 experience.

17 Q. How many of the five senior code enforcement

18 officers have educational training beyond a high school

19 diploma?

20 A. That answer 1 cannot give you. I can get it for
21 you, but I do not know as I sit here. I know they must
22 have at least a high school or egquivalent.

23 Q. Okay. Do the senior code enforcement officers
24 hold any professional licenses?

25 MS. FAHEY: Scope.
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1 THE WITNESS: There may be some senior code
2 enforcement officers that are licensed in other areas.
3 Do you mean related to code enforcement —-
4 MR. MIHET: No. I mean —-
5 THE WITNESS: -- or unrelated?
6 MR. MIBET: I mean, unrelated.

7 BY MR. MIHET:

8 Q. Are any of them, for example, licensed mental
9 health professionals by the State of Florida?
10 A. Oh, that, I wouldn't be able to answer.
11 MS. FAHEY: Scope.

12 BY MR. MIHET:

13 Q. You don't know?

14 A. I don't know.

15 Q. Okay. Have the senior code enforcement officers
16 received any training on how to investigate ceomplaints
17 arising under the ordinance?

i8 A. No.

19 Q. 1Is there any training planned for them?

20 A. Yes. They will be trained before they're asked
21 to enforce the ordinance.

22 Q. When will they be trained?

23 A, The training has not been assigned a date yet.

24 There's no date.

25 Q. Have the training materials been developed?
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1 A. No.
2 Q. I take it they have not been asked to take any
3 enforcement actions to date?
4 A. Correct.
5 Q. What will the training consist of?
6 A. We don't know yet because it's not been written
) down.
8 Q. Okay. Are there any enforcement guidelines or

9 memoranda that can be provided to the senior code
10 enforcement officers?
11 A. There are enforcement guidelines in general and

12 standard operating procedures that apply to the job of

13 senior code enforcement officer. So all of those would
14 apply.

15 Q. Are there any enforcement guidelines or memoranda
16 relating to the conversion therapy ordinance?

17 A. No.

18 Q. Okay. TIs there any plan to issue any enforcement
19 guidelines or memoranda with respect to enforcement of
20 the ordinance?

21 A, Yes.

22 Q. What is that plan?

23 A. To create standard operating procedure and to

24 implement it.

25 0. When will they be created?
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1 A. I don't know. The date's not been set.
2 Q. What will they include?
3 A. The standard operating procedures include
4 guidance offered for code enforcement officers regarding
5 the manner of investigation and the manner of

6 presentment of the case, presenting the case to the

7 special magistrate. So it would include the procedures
8 they should follow.

9 Q. Now, this ordinance has been in effect for just
10 about nine months. Actually, ten months, correct?
11 December 19th of 20177
12 A. I think it actually became effective when it was
13 filed with the state, if I'm not mistaken. Yeah. The
14 effective date is when it was filed with the state.
15 That was the 21lst of December.
16 Q. Okay. So just about ten months. Why haven't
17 those enforcement guidelines or memoranda been issued

18 already?

19 A. Because we haven't been enforcing the statute —-
20 the ordinance rather.

21 Q. So the plan is to wait until the first

22 enforcement situation arises and then issue the

23 guideiines or memoranda?

24 A, I don't know that there is a plan that's been

25 established. But, if there was, it wouldn't be to wait
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1 until -~
2 Q. Okay. So there is no plan?
3 A. As far as I know, there is no plan.
4 Q. Is there a current policy within the County not
5 to enforce the conversion therapy ordinance?
6 A, I'm not aware of a policy.
7 Q. Okay. 1If there's a complaint, it will be
8 enforced?
9 A. As far as I know, yes.
10 Q. Do the five senior code enforcement officers have
11 any expertise or experience in enforcing other
12 regulations against licensed professionals?
13 A. May I clarify my last question, please -- or my
14 last answer rather?
15 Q. Yes.
16 A. You asked, 1f there was a complaint, 1if it would
17 be enforced. So, obvicusly, that would depend on
18 whether the complaint occurred in an unincorporated area
19 of Palm Beach County or an incorporated area where our
20 ordinance applied. But, in that situation, yes, it will
21 be enforced.
22 Q. Okay.
23 A. So your question now? I'm sorry. I'm going to
24 have to ask you to repeat it.
25 0. Do the five senior code enforcement officers have
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1 any expertise or experience in enforcing other
2 regulations against licensed professiocnals?
3 MS. FAHEY: Form. Scope.
4 THE WITNESS: And I cannot answer that
5 question.

6 BY MR. MIHET:

7 Q. You don't know?
8 A. No, I believe my 3C(b) (6} asked me for
9 enforcement of this ordinance, not others. And I didn't

10 prepare an answer for other ordinances.

11 Q. Well, T think the magistrate judge was fairly

12 clear in stating that we would be permitted to ask

13 questions about the expertise and experience of the code
14 enforcers, and so I think that's related to that issue.
15 A. This sheet provides you with the experience:

16 Examples of work; nature of work; required knowledge,
17 skills and minimum entrance requirements for the people

18 who will be enforcing the ordinance.

19 Q. Okay. 8¢ you're not able to identify any

20 expertise or experience that the five senior code

21 enforcement officers have in enforcing reqgulations
22 against licensed professionals?

23 MS. FAHEY: Scope.

24 THE WITNESS: And, again, I can tell you

25 that these are examples of the work that they do. So
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1 they certainly supervise and review investigations of
2 complaints involving land use, noise, fences, related
3 matters arising from the enforcement of the zoning and
4 accessory codés.
5 Q. Okay.
6 A. That they prepare evidence against violators and
7 present cases at meetings of the Code Enforcement Board;
8 that they investigate citizen complaints to determine
9 validity; issue violation notices, notices to correct --
10 Q. Let me —-
11 A. -- and citations.
12 Q. I'm sorry. Let me interrupt because we'll make
13 it easier for the court reporter not -- not reading all
14 these extraneous things. Is there anything in this
15 document, Exhibit 18, that speaks to any expertise or
16 experience of the five senior code enforce officers in
17 enforcing regulations against licensed professionals?
18 MS, FAHEY: Form. Scope.
19 THE WITNESS: I believe that I know that
20 code enforcement does, in fact, enforce ordinances
21 against licensed contractors. So, yes, they do that.
22 BY MR. MIHET:
23 Q. Okay. What —-
24 A. And these are the things they would do;
25 investigate, prepare evidence and present cases.
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1 Q. What are you thinking of when you say ordinances
2 against licensed contractors?
3 MS. FAHEY: Form. Scope.
4 THE WITNESS: There are County ordinances
5 that require licensure for certain contractors. And so

3 those who practice without a license, there would be
7 code enforcement actions against them.

8 BY MR. MIHET:

9 Q. Anything else?

10 A. Oh, I -~

11 MS. FAHEY: Form.

i2 Scope. The request for additional

13 ordinances has already been ruled upon by

14 Judge Reinhart.

15 MR. MIHET: I'm asking only about experience
16 or expertise that the five senior code enforcement
17 officers have in enforcing reqgulations against licensed

18 professionals,
19 MS. FAHEY: I believe that falls under topic

20 thirteen.

21 MR. MIHET: I believe it falls under the

22 experience and expertise.

23 THE WITNESS: To the extent there are other
24 licensed professionals who may be cited with code

25 enforcement citations, they have experience in doing
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1 that.
2 BY MR. MIEBET:
3 C. Do the five senior code enforcement officers have
4 any expertise or experience in enforcing regulations
5 against licensed health professionals?
6 MS. FAHEY: Form. Outside the scope.
7 THE WITNESS: To the extent that there are
8 licensed health professioconals who might be violating a
9 county code, then they would have experience in
10 enforcing that.
11 BY MR. MIEHET:
12 Q. Like, for example, like a licensed health
13 professional having trash ocutside their office?
14 MS. FAHEY: TForm. Cutside the scope.
15 THE WITNESS: That would not be a citation
16 as far as I can tell based on their licensure. Are you
17 asking me based on their licensure or just simply based
18 on any code violaticn?
19 BY MR. MIHET:
20 Q. Well, I guess I'm asking -- you say, "to the
21 extent.” Do they or do they not have experience or
22 expertise in enforcing regulations against licensed
23 health professionals?
24 MS. FAHEY: Form. Outside the scope.
25 THE WITNESS: So, if you're asking me
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1 whether there are other code enforcement -- whether
2 there are other code provisions, rather, that are
3 written against -- or that are written in such a way
4 that they would impose a burden on a licensed mental
5 health professional, I'm not prepared to answer that
6 question. I understood it was removed from the scope of
7 today's examination.
8 Q. So I'm asking you if they have any expertise or
9 experience in enforcing regulations against licensed

10 health professionals?
11 A. I can't answer that question. I don't know.
12 Q. Okay. Does the County have any concerns about an

13 unlicensed individual having to determine whether a

14 licensed professional -~ health professional acted

15 correctly or incorrectly?

16 MS. FAEEY: Form.

17 TEE WITNESS: The County has placed the

18 enforcement of the conversion therapy ban on their Code
19 Enforcement divisicn, so they must not have concerns

20 about it.

21 MR. MIHET: Okay.

22 BY MR. MIEET:

23 Q. How is it possible for an unlicensed code

24 enforcement officer to determine whether a particular

25 mode of therapy provided by a licensed health
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1 professional violates the ordinance?
2 MS. FAHEY: Form.
3 THE WITNESS: I think code enforcement
4 officers would collect evidence and then determine,
5 based on the evidence they collected, whether a
6 violation of the ordinance had taken place.
7 BY MR. MIHET:
8 Q. And so, to do that, they would have to determine
9 what it is that the licensed health professional did or
10 did not do during the course of therapy, correct?
11 A. They would likely rely on complaints. I think
12 we've said that throughout.
13 Q. Yes.
14 A. And the Commissioners were advised that this
15 would be complaint driven.
16 Q. Yes.
17 A. So they would rely on a complaint and then
18 compare that complaint to the language of the ordinance
19 to determine whether, in fact, a licensed health
20 professional conducted a therapy that sought to change
21 an individual's sexual orientation or gender identity.
22 0. And so, in a typical case ~-~ not a typical. But
23 let's suppose that there's a case where a minor comes
24 forward and makes a complaint; and he says, during
25 therapy sessions, Ms. Hamilton said to me X, Y and Z

Florida Court Reporting
561-689-0999

Electronically signed by Rachele Cibula {201-150-076-9271)
Electronically signed by Rachele Cibula (201-150-076-9271) dfofeef0-3d1e-4d46-b7h3-63401d7abca




Case 9:18-cv-80771-RLR Document 121-9 Entered on FLSD Docket 10/23/2018 Page 235 of
Case: 19-10604 Date Filed:A3416/2019  Page: 240 of 255

Otto v. City of Boca Helene Hvizd 9/20/2018
Page 235
1 and I believe that wviolates the ordinance. What would
2 happen next in terms of enforcement?
3 A. There would be an investigation.
4 Q. Okay. And what would that consist of?
5 A. Well, you've given me a hypothetical with an X
6 and a Y and a Z. So, obviously, we would need guite a

7 bit more detail than that.

3 Q. Well, we would need to know what the X, Y and the
9 Z was that was said allegedly to the minor, correct?
10 A. At least.
11 Q. 2and then we would need someone to determine

12 whether the X, Y and the 7 that was said to the minor is

13 an acceptable mode of treatment or whether it runs afoul
14 o¢f the ordinance, correct?

15 MS. FAHEY: Form.

16 THE WITNESS: The ultimate decider of fact
17 in these cases is the special master.

18 BY MR. MIHET:

19 Q. Well, but the initial decider of fact would have
20 to be the code enforcement officer issuing a citation?
21 A. They would bring a notice of viclation to the

22 special master.

23 Q. And so, in order to issue the notice of

24 viclation, the code enforcement officer would have to
25 initially determine whether or not what was said, the X,
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1 Y and the %, is an acceptable mode of mental health

2 practice or whether it is something that's prohibited by

3 the ordinance?

4 A. They would -- the -- I will agree with you that
5 the code enforcement officer would need to compare the
6 evidence they had with the language of the ordinance to
7 determine whether, in fact, there was a provider who

8 sought toc change an individual's sexual orientation or

9 gender identity.

10 Q. And the County has no problems in trusting a --
11 an unlicensed code enforcement officer to —-- to make
12 that initial decision?

13 MS. FAHEY: Form.

14 THE WITNESS: Code enforcement officers

15 would be the ones who would initial -- who would

16 initiate a notice of violation. So no.

17 MR. MIHET: Okay.

18 THE WITNESS: The ultimate decider of fact

19 is the special master though.

20 (Plaintiffs' Exhibit Neo. 192 marked for identification)
2% MS. FAHEY: For the record, we reassert the
22 objections that we've been making for e-mails that don't
23 invelve the whole Board.

24 MR. MIHET: OCkay.

25 BY MR. MIHET:
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1 Q. I've just handed you what we've marked as Exhibit
2 19, which is some more e-mail communications between

3 Mr. Hoch and Ms. Nieman and you and Mr. Bonlarron.. I'llL

4 direct your attention, first, to the middle of the

5 second page where there is a December 12, 2017, e-mail

6 from Ms. Nieman to Mr. Hoch. Do you see that?

7 A. Yes,

8 Q. In this e-mail, Ms. Nieman says: Hi Rand, I know
9 a lot of work has gone into the ordinance and that
10 efforts are still being made now to make changes

11 acceptable to both sides; but the ordinance up for final

12 reading is what was before the BCC on the first reading
13 with some changes based on BCC comments.

14 Do you see that?

15 A. Yes.

16 Q. Then she says: The Tampa challenge of an

17 ordinance that is practically identical to ours changes

18 things now.

19 Do you see that?

20 A. Yes,.

21 Q. And then she says: I will be recommending that
22 the BCC not move forward until a determination is made
23 in that case. It would be crazy to adopt an ordinance
24 that is under review. Surely, you understand. When the
25 court rules, assuming all's well, we'll bring it back
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1 for first and second reading, again, eliminating all the

2 questions about its legality. We'll be on very solid

3 ground. I trust you understand.

4 Do you see that?

5 A. Yes,

6 Q. Why would it be crazy to adopt an ordinance that
7 is under review by a court?

8 MS. FAHEY: Form.

9 THE WITNESS: Ms. Nieman discussed that with
10 the Board of County Commissioners during the
11 December 19th meeting at the beginning of consideration
12 on second reading of the ordinance. And —-
13 Q. Did she tell them that it would be crazy to adopt
14 an ordinance that is under review?

i5 A. I believe she states, I would never recommend.

16 Let me find exactly what she states. So this is on PBC

17 Bates number 434. And she says: I would strong -- we
18 had a chance to review that complaint -- she's referring
19 £o the complaint in the City of Tampa case —- since last

20 meeting. And it really 1s an ordinance that's similar
21 to ours., I would strongly recommend that the Board not
22 take action on this but to hold cff and direct staff to
23 monitor the court proceeding. That way we can learn and
24  have a federal court case in Florida as to what the -~

25 the law is in Floridsa.
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1 Q. Okay. So I missed the part where she says why
2 it's crazy to adopt an ordinance that's under judicial
3 review.
4 MS. FAHEY: Form.
5 TEE WITNESS: She decesn't use the word
6 "crazy" --
7 MR. MIHET: Okay.
8 THE WITNESS: -~ but she strongly recommends
9 that you wait -- that the Board wait and not take any
10 action.
11 MR. MIHET: All right.
12 THE WITNESS: And then she does say: Then 1T
13 stopped short of this I believe -~ no, I think I may
14 have said -- we can learn and have a federal court case
15 in Florida as to what the law is in Florida. So I think
16 that's the basis for a statement that it would be crazy
17 because you'd want to know, if an identical ordinance
18 had been challenged, what the outcome of that challenge
19 was, as I believe you noted in several of her other
20 e~-mails —--
21 BY MR. MIHET:
22 Q. So did the --
23 A -— where she said --
24 Q. I'm sorry. Are you done?
25 A No.
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1 Q. Okay.
2 A. —-—- where she said she would want to see if other

3 municipalities' ordinances had been challenged and what
4 the outcome was.

5 Q. Okay. This was —-- this was finally the chance to
6 have that challenge with an outcome that would inform

7 the County on whether or not it would be wise to

8 proceed?

9 A. This was the first opportunity, correct.
19 Q. Okay. Now, did the County Commission adopt her
11 recommendation to hold off; or did they do what she

12 thought would be a crazy thing to do?

13 MS. FAHEY: Form.

14 THE WITNESS: They took a vote on that

15 matter and -- of postponing. And I believe the vote was
16 five to two against postponing. So they decided toc move

17 forward.

18 BY MR. MIHET:

19 Q. Okay. Now, when she explained this tc Mr. Hoch,
20 she said twice, I believe, "I'm sure you'll understand,"
21 or words to that effect. Did he understand?

22 A, I don't know.

23 Q. Well, if you'll lcok at the e-mail right above

24 the one we Jjust read, which is the top of page two of

25 this exhibit, you have an e-mail from Mr. Hoch to
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i_\

Todd Bonlarron, right?
2 A. Yes. T see an e-maill, December 12, 2017, at

3 eleven-of-four.

4 Q. Yes.

5 A. That's what you're referring to?

6 Q. Yes.

7 A, Yes,

8 Q. So he basically tells Mzr. Bonlarron that this
9 needs to —-- to move forward notwithstanding the

10 develcpments, correct?

11 A. Right. He notes the harm being done to children
12 in Palm Beach County and that it's real. And he

i3 suggests that to let this continue for years while the
14 fedéral courts consider a civil case should be a

15 decision left to the Board of County Commissioners. So
16 he's asking that 1t remain on the agenda.

17 Q. Okay. On the bottom of the first page,

18 Ms. Nieman responds to him. And she assures him that it
18 will still be on the agenda because it has to stay on

20 the agenda in that first line., Do you see that?

21 A. Yes.

22 Q. Okay. Why don't you read into the record the

23 next paragraph.

24 A. Oh, I'm sorry. Are you referring to the December

25 12th e-mail at eleven-twenty-four from Denise Marie
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1 Nieman?
2 Q. Yes.
3 A. Okay. So the first statement here is: It has to
4 stay on the agenda because it was advertised, so no
5 worries there.
6 0. Right.
7 A. Right.
8 Q. That's what I was saying. She's telling him it
9 has to stay on there because 1t was already advertised?
10 A. Correct.
11 Q.  Okay. 8o why don't you read the next paragraph
12 into the record.
13 A. Rand, I have never and would never recommend that
14 or county move forward with something under judicial
15 review. This is the ideal issue to go to schcocol on some

16 other local government. Of course, they don't have to

17 accept my recommendation. That has happened before.
18 Q. Okay. And go ahead and read the next one, as
19 well.

20 A. I'm surely in favor of doing whatever we can to
21 help our child -- excuse me -- I'm surely in favor of
22 doing whatever we can to help any child, adult or

23 animal. You should know this by now. But this is an
24 enforceable ordinance anyway. S0 we're assuming it will

25  have a deterrent effect. Why risk taxpayer exposure
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1 now?
2 Q. What do you think she's saying in that paragraph

3 that you just read?

4 MS. FAHEY: Form. Speculation, scope.
5 THE WITNESS: I don't know.
6 MR. MIHET: Okay.

7 BY MR, MIHNET:

8 Q. You hesitated a little bit when you read the

9 middle of that -- that second line. 1Is it because you
10 think, in context, what she meant to say is that this is
11 an unenforceable ordinance anyway?

12 MS. FAHEY: Form.

13 THE WITNESS: I don't know. I can't

14 possibly know what Denise Marie Nieman intended to say
15 in an e-mail she wrote.

16 MR. MIHET: Okay.

17 BY MR. MIHET:

18 Q. Does it make sense that we're assuming it will

19 have a deterrent effect if the ordinance is enforceable?
20 A. Yes.

21 Q. Okay. Does it make sense that we're assuming it

22 will have a deterring effect if the ordinance is

23 unenforceable?
24 MS. FAHEY: Form.
25 THE WITNESS: No.
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1 BY MR. MIHET:
2 Q. Why is she asking, "why risk taxpayer exposure
3 now"?
4 A. I don't know. I can't know why Denise Marie
5 Nieman said anything she said.
6 Q. Now, at the top of that same page, first page of
7 Exhibit 19, you see Mr. Hoch's response. And he says:
8 If the ordinance is not passed on the 19th, the County
9 Commissioners will be seen as giving credence tc the
10 Liberty Counsel, the Florida Family Association and the
11 other anti-LGBTQ hate groups who will run with this far
12 and wide. Remember, these groups have to publish the
13 real reasons why tThe BCC took this action, if they do;
14 and they won't.
15 Do you see that?
16 A. Yes.
17 Q. Was that a concern that the County Commissioners
18 took into account that, i1f they were to not pass the
19 ordinance on the 19th, that it would be seen as giving
20 credence to the Liberty Counsel and other hate groups?
21 MS. FAHEY: Form. To the extent you're
22 asking about individual Commissioner's motivations,
23 deliberative process, legislative privilege.
24 MR. MIHET: I heard nothing of the sort in
25 my question, but your objection is noted.
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1 THE WITNESS: Could you please repeat the
2 question?
3 (Requested portion read back by the court reporter)
4 THE WITNESS: None of the documentation that
5 I reviewed for preparation of a 30(b) (6) deposition on
6 behalf of the County indicates that they took into

7 effect that concern.

8 BY MR. MIEET:

9 Q. You mean, account? Took into account that
19 concern? I think you said took into effect.
11 A. Oh, took into account. Definitely that was my

12 intent.

13 Q. Okay. He says in the next to the last paragraph:
14 In the event, I can't get the votes, can we ‘just have it
15 pulled from the agenda at the meeting without

le explanation? Broward County is set to move forward on
17 their ordinance on the second reading in January. And I
18 wouldn't want your recommendation to also carry over to

19 a large County with a lot of at-risk kids.

20 Do you see that?

21 A. Yes.

22 Q. What was he asking you and Denise to do?

23 MS. FAHEY: Form.

24 THE WITNESS: In the event he could not get

25 the votes, he asked whether it could just be pulled from

Florida Court Reporting
561-689-0999

Electronically signed by Rachele Cibula (201-150-076-9271)
Electronically signed by Rachele Cibula (201-150-076-9271) df0i6ef0-3d1e-4d46-b7h3-63401d7abcel




Case 9:18-cv-80771-RLR Document 121-9 Entered on FLSD Docket 10/23/2018 Page 246 of
Case: 19-10604 Date Filed:A3416/2019  Page: 251 of 255

Otto v. City of Boca Eelene Hvizd 9/20/2018
Page 246
1 the agenda at the meeting without explanation.
2 BY MR. MIHET:
3 Q. And I didn't see a response to his request. Was
4 there a response to his request?
5 A. I don't recail.
6 Q. Was there a decision made as to whether or not it

7 would just be pulled from the agenda without

8 explanation?
9 A. Denise Marie Nieman's statement is that it has to
10 stay on the agenda because it was advertised. So that

11 was the case.

12 g. Okay.

13 {Plaintiffs’ Exhibit No. 20 marked for identification)
14 BY MR. MIHET:

15 Q. 8o, Ms. Hvizd, I've handed you a document we've

16 marked as Exhibit 20, which I'm sure you will recognize
17 to be the ordinance we have spent the day talking about

18 today, which is Ordinance Number 2017-046, correct?

19 A. Correct.

20 Q. Now, in this document, the way it's presented, we
21 have one ocordinance appearing in the first half, the

22 first seven pages. And then -- and then we have another
23 version, the final signed version of that same ordinance
24 in the second half, the last seven pages.

25 A. Correct.
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1 Q. Correct?
2 Is that -- is that a typical way of maintaining

3 County ordinances? I think this is how we pulled it

4 from the County's records.

5 So I guess my question is: Is it typical for the
6 County to maintain prior drafts of an ordinance?

7 A. When --

8 MS. FAHEY: Form. Scope.

9 THE WITNESS: When there is a strikethrough
10 version of an ordinance, it's presented along with a

11 clean copy.

12 MR. MIHET: Okay.

13 BY MR. MIHET:

14 Q. On ~- and my understanding -~ well, let me ask

15 you. What was your role in the drafting of this

16 ordinance?

17 A. I drafted the ordinance.

18 Q. Okay. And how much of the language in this
19 ordinance is original from you, and how much was

20 borrowed from other ordinances that you consulted?

21 MS. FAHEY: Scope. I'orm.

22 THE WITNESS: I made changes to placement of
23 language within this ordinance from others. But I

24 believe there is no original language from me. Oh, I'm

25 going to take that back. I believe, at the end of the

Florida Court Reporting
561-689-0999

Electronically signed by Rachele Cibula (201-150-076-9271}
Electronically signed by Rachele Cibula (201-150-076-8271}) dfof6ef0-3d1e-4d46-h7b3-63401d7abcet



Case 9:18-cv-80771-RLR Document 121-9 Entered on FLSD Docket 10/23/2018 Page 248 of

Case: 19-10604 Date FiledA3416/2019 Page: 253 of 255

Otto v. City of Boca Helene Hvizd 9/20/2018
Page 248
1 ordinance, from section five on page six, Bates number
2 PBC-06, viclations; section six, penalties; section
3 seven, enforcement; section eight, repeal of laws in
4 conflict; section nine, severability; section ten,
5 inclusion in the code of laws and ordinances; section
o eleven, captions; and, section twelve, effective date
7 were my language.
8 Q. Okay. And T'm sorry. I missed it. You begin
9 that listing at section five, violations?
10 A. Correct,
11 Q. Okay. 8o, prior to section five, the -- the
12 language in the ordinance, which is the whereas clauses
13 and sections one through four, I believe you said that
14 does not contain your original language? That was
15 borrowed from other ordinances?
16 MS. FAHEY: Scope.
17 THE WITNESS: Correct with just the sliight
18 variation to say, for example, the last whereas clause
19 says here the Palm Beach County Board of County
20 Commissioners desires to prohibit. And that language
21 was borrowed from ordinances of other municipalities
22 that would have had that municipality's name and not
23 Palm Beach County. So I made those changes throughout
24 the last several whereas cliauses.
25 Q. I got it.
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1 So, for example, on page four in line nine, the

2 whereas clause where it says: Whereas, the Palm Beach

3 County Board of County Commissioners hereby finds the
4 overwhelming research demonstrating that sexual

5 orientations and identity change efforts can pose

6 critical health risks -- I'm going to stop there --
7 that's language that you took from other ordinances; and
8 yvou swapped the name of the County Commission in this
9 case to insert the Palm Beach County Board of County
10 Commissioners?
11 A, Correct.
i2 MS. FAHEY: Scope.

i3 BY MR. MIHET:

14 Q. Do you remember -- strike that.

15 What ordinance did you take this language from?
16 MS. FAHEY: Scope.

17 THE WITNESS: This is an amalgamation of

18 several different ordinances, including West Palm Beach,
19 a draft ordinance that was provided to us by the -— that
20 was attached -- I believe it was Miami Beach's -- that
21 was attached to Rand Hoch's e-mail and viewing all of
22 the municipalities' ordinances that had already enacted
23 a conversion therapy ban. So I drew from all of them.
24 Q. Okay. On page three, line twenty-five --

25 A. I'm sorry. I need to expand my answer. 1 also
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1 considered New Jersey's ordinance as well as
2 California's law. Not ordinance but law. Thank you.
3 Q. Uh-huh.
4 And let's flip over to the second half of the
5 decument that has the final version of the ordinance.

6 So that's page eight of fourteen, if you look at the

7 top.

8 A. Right. It's the clean copy of the ordinance.

9 Q. Yeah, the clean copy.

10 A. Okay.

11 Q. 8o now going to page three there, line

12 twenty-five, it says: Whereas, Palm Beach County has a

13 compelling interest in protecting the physical and

14 psychological wellbeing of minors.

15 Do you see that?

le A. Yes.

17 Q. Why is this recitation in here?

18 MS. FAHEY: ©Scope.

19 THE WITNESS: To express Palm Beach County's

20 compelling interest to protect the physical and
21 psychological wellbeing of minors.

22 BY MR. MIHET:

23 Q. And why was 1t important to express that in the
24 ordinance?
25 A. The intent of an ordinance is helpful to express
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1 Commissioners what they considered. And they considered
2 these words, "conversion therapy is the practice of

3 seeking to change —-

4 Q. Let me stop you because that's -- that's really

5 not my guestion.

6 You alsc came here designated to testify about

7 the County's interpretation, enforcement and application
8 of the ordinance. And so I'm asking you the County's

9 position on what types of efforts to change behaviors,

10 gender identity or gender expressions are prohibited by
11 the ordinance? My understanding from your testimony is
12 that you cannot give me a specific example. If that's
13 your answer, please just state so; and we can move on.
14 A. I already said I could not give you an answer —-
15 Q. Okay.

16 A. -— to it --

17 Q. DNow, let me give you some examples then. If a
18 prepubertal child, say a ten-year-old, who was born a

19 boy has expressed a female gender identity, would the
20 ordinance prohibit a therapist from encouraging that

21 child to embrace his given male body and to align with

22 his assigned gender role?

23 A. If that practice seeks to change the

24 ten-year-old's gender identity, then it would constitute
25 conversion therapy.

Florida Court Reporting
561~689~0999

Electronically signed by Rachele Cibula (201-150-076-9271)
Electronically signed by Rachele Clbula (201-150-076-9271) dfof6ef0-3d1e-4d46-b7b3-63401d7abeot




Case 9:18-cv-80771-RLR Document 121-9 Entered on FLSD Docket 10/23/2018 Page 260 of
Case: 19-10604 Date Filedt184/16/2019 Page: 7 of 255

Otto v. City of Boca Helene Hvizd 9/20/2018
Page 260
1 Q. Okay. And how do you know if the practice seeks

2 to change the ten-year-old's gender identity?

3 A. You'd have to look at the facts of any individual
4 case. And I think you just laid out facts where someone
9 sought to change an individual's gender identity.

6 0. And so the answer to my question is the example I

7 just gave you would be prohibited by the ordinance?

8 A. As long as it does seek to change the gender

9 identity. I don't know that you were specific in

10 stating that. So...

11 Q. Well, what I stated, again, is suppose a

12 prepubertal child, a ten-year-old, who was born as a boy
13 has expressed a female gender identity, would the

14 ordinance prohibit a therapist from encouraging that

15 child to embrace his given male body and to align with
16 his assigﬁed gender role?

17 MS. FAHEY: Form.

18 THE WITNESS: If the practice does seek to
19 change the gender identity. So I think I would need to
20 know more facts about exactly what that therapy
21 consisted of.
22 MR. MIHET: Well, it consists of encouraging
23 the child to embrace his given male body, not his female
24 gender identity, and to align his identity with his

25 assigned gender role, that is, his male body.
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1 THE WITNESS: Okay. That —-
2 MR. MIHET: That's the practice.
3 THE WITNESS: That does sound as if the
4 practice is seeking to change his gender identity, sc it

5 would qualify as conversion therapy.

6 BY MR. MIHET:

¥ Q. And be prohibited by the ordinance?
38 A. Yes.
9 Q. Now, for that same child, would the ordinance

16 prohibit a therapist from verbally endorsing and

11 supporting behaviors and attitudes that align with the
12 child's sex assigned at birth and verbally discouraging
13 behaviors and attitudes that do not align with the

14 child's gender assigned at birth?

15 MS. FAHEY: Form.

16 THE WITNESS: Only ~- the conversion therapy
17 ordinance only bans practices that seek to change an

i8 individual's sexual identity.

i% MR. MIEET: Okay.

20 BY MR. MIHET:

21 Q. So a therapist could verbally endorse and support
22 behaviors and attitudes of the child that align with the
23 sex assigned at birth and discourage the behaviors and
24 attitudes of the child that don't align with the child's

25 sex assigned at birth and not -- or that not violate the
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1 crdinance?
2 MS. FAHEY: Form.
3 THE WITNESS: As long as there was no

4 practice that sought to change the gender identity, then
5 that would -- that would be the case.

6 BY MR. MIHET:

7 Q. So, as long as the therapist is not intending to
8 change the gender identity, he could -- he or she could
9 engage in the conduct just described without wviolating
10 the ordinance?
11 MS. FAHEY: Form.
12 THE WITNESS: Correct. The ordinance
13 requires that conversion therapy occurs when a practice
14 seeks to change an individual's gender identity. If

15 there is no seeking to change a gender identity, there
16 1s no conversicn therapy.

17 BY MR. MIHET:

18 Q. Well, the conduct itself, though, verbally

19 endorsing and supporting behaviors and attitudes that

20 align with the child's sex assigned at birth, whether or
21 not that conduct is —- is harmful, doesn't depend on

22 what's in the mind of the therapist, does it?

23 MS. FAHEY: Form.
24 THE WITNESS: That's —— how can I answer
25 that guestion? That's your opinion, right?
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1 BY MR. MIHET:

2 Q. Well, I guess I'm asking you. The child comes to
3 the therapist having adopted a female gender identity

4 even though the child was born a male; and the therapist
5 engages in a course of therapeutic practice where the

6 therapist is encouraging the child to act like a boy and
7 to have the attitudes of a boy, discouraging the child

8 from acting like a girl and having the attitudes of a

S girl. That particular therapeutic practice is going to
10 be either harmful or not harmful standing on its own
11 irrespective of what's in the mind of the therapist.

12 Would vyou agree with me or not?

13 MS., FAHEY: Form.
14 THE WITNESS: I can only speak to our
15 ordinance which bans a practice that seeks to change a

16 gender identity and finds that that practice is harmful,
17 MR. MIHET: Okay.

18 BY MR. MIHET:

19 Q. 8o, if the therapist deces not seek to change the
20 gender identity, then the therapist could engage in this
21 conduct all day lcng, could verbally endorse and support
22 behaviors that align with the child's male biological

23 body and could verbally discourage behaviors that do not
24 align with the child's male biological body without

25 viclating the ordinance?
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1 MS. FAEEY: Form.
2 THE WITNESS: TIn order to violate this
3 ordinance, the practice has to seek to change an
4 individual's sexual orientation or gender identity. If
5 that is not occurring, then there is no conversion

3 therapy.

7 BY MR. MIHET:

8 Q. So now that child ——

9 A, I think we've heard several people say they don't

10 seek to change.

11 0. Sure.

12 A. So that's not conversion therapy.

13 Q. So now that child leaves that therapy session and
14 walks from Ms. Hamilton's office to the code enforcement

15 officer and says, Ms. Hamilton spent a full day with me
16 verbally encouraging me to be a boy even though I

17 identify as a girl; and she spent a full day with me

18 discouraging me from engaging in behaviors and attitudes

19 that are not consistent with my bicleogical body. What

20 does the code enforcement cfficer have to do now to

21 determine whether or not Ms. Hamilton violated the

22 ordinance?

23 MS. FAHEY: Form.

24 THE WITNESS: The code enforcement officer

25 would take that complaint, determine whether or not that
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1 qualified sufficiently as meeting the definition of
2 conversion therapy in order to provide a notice of
3 violation. And then it would be up to the special
4 master to determine whether or not conversion therapy
5 occurred.

6 BY MR. MIHET:
7 Q. And what would he need to know to decide whether
8 or not the conduct complained of amounts to a practice

9 that seeks to change the gender identity of the

10 individual?

11 A. He likely would have enough, based on what you

i2 said, to file a notice of violation; and then additional
i3 investigation would occur.

14 0. What would have to be learned in that additional
15 investigation to determine whether or not Ms. Hamilton
16 violated the ordinance?

17 A, It would be up to the special master to determine

18 after hearing both sides, not just the complaint. But,

19 in this case, you're making it a viclation filed against
20 Dr. Hamilton. So Dr. Hamilton would appear in front of
21 the special master, as well. Additional evidence would
22 be taken from her. And the special master would

23 determine whether Dr. Hamilton's practice sought to

24 change the individual's gender identity.

25 Q. So, as long as Dr. Hamilton comes in and says,
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1 yes, I engaged in that conduct as described bul my
2 intent was not to seek to change the individual's gender

3 identity, then she's off scot-free?

4 MS. FAHEY: Form.
5 THE WITNESS: The special master would still
6 have to make that decision. Of course, in any -- 1in any
7 case where you argue, there's opportunities to question
8 the credibility of a witness's testimony.
9 Q0. So the special master would question witnesses,
10 including minors and children?
11 A. The special master is allowed to question.
12 Q. The witnesses?
13 A, Yes,.
14 0. ©Okay. What about a younger child, say a
15 six-year-old who was born a boy but who identifies as a

16 girl, likes to dress as a girl, likes to do things that
17 girls do, does not show any interest in things that boys
18 do? This child goes to Dr. Otto. Would the ordinance
19 permit Dr. Otto to seek to help this child to embrace

20 his boyhood and to feel good about being a boy through

21 talk therapy that encourages masculine activities,
22 increasing relationships with male role models, play
23 dates with other boys, et cetera, while discouraging
24 cross—gender behavior?

25 A. Again, the --
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1 MS. FAHEY: Form.
2 THE WITNESS: -- ultimate guestion is

3 whether or not the practice sought to change the

4 individual's gender identity. So there would have to be
5 a hearing. And all of the evidence would have to come

6 before the special master for that determination tc be

7 made .

8 BY MR. MIHET:

9 0. And, if it is determined that Dr. Otto sought to

10 change the individuali's gender identity, then he will

11 have engaged in a —-- in conduct prohibited by the

12 ordinance?

13 A. Correct.

14 Q. And, if the evidence reveals that Dr. Otto's

15 intent was not to seek to change the child's gender

16 identity, then he will have -- he will be found not to
17 violate the ordinance?

18 A. Correct.

19 MS. FAHEY: Form.

20 BY MR. MIHET:

21 Q. But, in either situation, the child has been
22 subjected to the same conduct, agreed?
23 MS. FAHEY: Form.

24 BY MR. MIHET:

25 Q. In other words, the child, when Dr. Otto is
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1 encouraging him to be a boy and to feel good about being
2 a boy and, you know, to engage in things that boys like
3 to do and when Dr. Otto is encouraging the child to
4 avoid activities that girls like to do, I mean, the
5 child is already experiencing that conduct and that

6 therapy irrespective of Dr. Ctto's intent, right?

) MS. FAHEY: Form,

8 THE WITNESS: I can only refer to the

9 language of the ordinance. If the practice seecks to

10 change gender identity or gender orientations, that act
11 constitutes conversion therapy. That's a decision that

12 has to be made after gathering all of the evidence.

13 MR. MIHET: Okay.

14 BY MR. MIHET:

15 0. What about an adoclescent who was born female but
16 has been identifying as a male for a time? If that

17 minor seeks therapeutic help in changing gender identity
18 behaviors and expressions back to match her biological
19 body, would the ordinance prohibit a therapist from

20 providing talk therapy to assist with that identity

21 change?

22 MS. FAEEY: Form.

23 THE WITNESS: If the practice seeks to

24 change the individual's gender identity, that would be

25 conversion therapy; and that would be prohibited.
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1 BY MR. MIHET:
2 Q. If the adolescent's intent is to change the
3 gender identity back to female and the therapist assists

4 the adolescent with that goal, that would be prchibited

5 by the ordinance?

6 MS. FAHEY: Form.

7 THE WITNESS: Yes. If the practice does

8 seek to change the adolescent's gender identity, that is
9 within the definition of conversion therapy.
10 MR. MIHET: Okay.

11 BY MR. MIHET:
12 0. And it doesn't matter who seeks to change the

13 gender identity, if -- whether it's the child or the

14 therapist, correct?
15 MS. FAHEY: Form.
16 THE WITNESS: I don't know that T would say

17 it doesn't matter.

18 BY MR. MIHET:

19 Q0. Well, if the child seeks to change the gender

20 identity or the sexual orientation, for that matter, and

21 the therapist engages in talk therapy to assist with

22 that goal, that would be a violation of the ordinance?
23 A. I think the question would then -- yes, that

24 would be a viclation of the ordinance --

25 Q. Okay.
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1 A, -- 1f that is a practice that seeks to change
2 gender identity.
3 MR. MIHET: Okay. Let's take a break.
4 (Recess)
5 BY MR. MIEET:
6 Q. Ms. Hvizd, getting back to the issue of
7 enforcement, does a complaint have to come from the
8 minor child, himself or herself, in order for it to be
9 investigated by Code Enforcement?
10 A. No.
11 Who else could the complaint come from?
12 A. Anyone.
13 Q. The parent of a child?
14 A. Correct.
15 Q. The friend of a child?
N3 A, Yes,
17 Q. Or, in Mr. Hoch's example, the mother of the
18 child of a friend —-- or the mother of a -—- let me try
19 that back.
20 In Mr. Hoch's example, it could come from the
21 mother whose son's friend was subjected allegedly to
22 therapy?
23 MS. FAHEY: Form,
24 THE WITNESS: A complaint can be made by
25 anyone,
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1 MR. MIHET: Okay.
2 BY MR. MIHET:
3 Q. 8o would a code enforcement officer have to speak
4 with the minor child himself in a situation like that
5 where the complaint comes from someone else in order to
6 determine whether or not a violation took place?
7 MS5. FAHEY: Form.
8 THE WITNESS: They would have to collect all
9 evidence available based on an investigation to make a

10 determination whether there was a potential violation.
11 The violation ultimately would be decided by the special
12 master.

13 BY MR. MIHET:

14 0. So, in a case where the minor child seeks and

i5 voluntarily assents to SOCE or GICE and the minor

16 child's parents are okay and have consented to it, as

17 well, but, you know, a neighbor or some other third

18 party bystander has reason to suspect that conversion

18 therapy has taken place, what would a code enforcement
20 officer have to do in order to investigate that kind of
21 an alleged violation of the ordinance?

22 MS. FAHEY: Form.

23 THE WITNESS: Well, code enforcement officer
24 would conduct an investigation that included examination

25 to the extent possible of anyone who had knowledge.
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1 BY MR. MIHET:

2 Q. So, 1in this particular case, since the child is
3 not complaining and the parent is not complaining and
4 the therapist certainly is not complaining, who else

5 would the code enforcement officer have to speak with?
6 M3, FAHEY: Form.
7 THE, WITNESS: The code enforcement officer
8 would attempt to speak to anyone that could have
9 knowledge.
10 MR. MIHET: Okay.

11 BY MR. MIHET:

12 Q. And, 1if no one has knowledge other than, you

13 know, a bystander who made the complaint, what is the
14 code enforcement cofficer to do in that case?

15 A. 1If no one has knowledge?

le Q. Yeah.

17 A. Then there will be no other evidence Lo collect.
18 Q. So the only evidence yvou would have is the

19 complaint of the bystander that says, hey, I think

20 something wrong is afoot in Dr. Hamilton's office?

21 M5. FAHEY: Form.

22 THE WITNESS: If no one else has knowledge,
23 correct, ves.

24 MR. MIHET: Okay.

25 (Plaintiffs' Exhibit No. 21 marked for identification)
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i BY MR. MIHET:
2 Q. Ms. Hvizd, I have now handed you a dcocument that

3 we have marked as Plaintiffs' Exhibit 21. And it 1s an

4 e-mail correspondence between Miss -- Dr. Julie Hamilton
5 andryourself. Do you see that?

6 A. Yes,

7 Q. Starting with the second e~mail on the first page

3 of this exhibit, this is a December 11, 2017, e-mail

9 from Dr. Hamilton to you and Todd Benlarron, subject,
10 tightening the ordinance. Do you see that?

11 A. Yes.

12 Q. And, in this e-mail, Dr. Hamilton suggestis an
13 amendment to the ordinance to make it apply only to
14 coercive counseling practices —-- sorry -- counseling

15 practices or treatments that seek to change an

16 individual's sexual orientation or gender identity

17 against the individual's will. Do you see that?
18 A. Yes,.
19 Q. Do yocu recall receiving this proposed

20 amendment —-

21 A. Yes.
22 Q. ~- from Dr. Hamilton?
23 And your response we see at the top of this

24 document, Exhibit 21, you say: Thank you for your

25 suggested edits to the ordinance. We made a couple of
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1 amendments to the ordinance, copy attached. And it is
2 currently circulating for agenda approval. I see that

3 you copied Todd. He would be the person to give me

4 final approval to make your suggested edits, so I will
5 awailt Todd's direction.

6 Do you see that?

7 A, Yes,

8 Q. Why was Todd the person to give final approval
9 for Miss -- for Dr. Hamilton's suggested amendment?
19 A. I would lock to Todd, as the Assistant County

11 Administrator, for direction on how he wanted the

1z ordinance to be presented to the Board of County

13 Commissioners. I signed off for legal sufficiency

14 already. So...

15 Q. Had he had input in the language of the ordinance

16 up to that point?

17 MS. FAHEY: Form. Scope.
18 THE WITNESS: Todd was involved in the
19 drafting of this ordinance. I think I mentioned he

20 attended the meeting with Dr. Hamilton, Shayna Ginsburg,
21 Tony Spaniol and Shannon.

22 You know, I might note, when I received this
23 e-mail, T remember reading it and thinking that these

24 changes were recommended. What Dr. Hamilton said is:

25 Instead of the current ordinance, I would recommend the
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1 attached resolution. And, in county government, there's
2 a large difference between an ordinance and a
3 resolution. An ordinance is considered the law as
4 enacted by the County. A resolution, which is —-- 1T
5 think ultimately what one of the other municipalities —-
6 MR. MIHET: TI'm sorry. I'm going to

7 interrupt you. &And T see that, and I didn't ask you
8 about that.

9 BY MR. MIHET:

1¢G Q. What she told you was that she didn't want this
11 ordinance, right?

12 A. Uh-huh.

13 Q. But then she says in the last sentence of that
14 first paragraph in her e-mail: However, if the HRC or
15 Commissioners are not willing to consider the attached
16 resclution, would you consider making the following

17 changes to the current ordinance?

18 Do you see that?

19 A. Right.

20 Q. So it was clear to you that what she was

21 suggesting as an alternative was to make these

22 amendments to the current ordinance that was under

23 consideration?

24 A. You know, now that I look at this and you state
25 that, I'm wondering was there an attachment to this
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1 e-mail? Is it on here?
2 Q. Well, there is an attachment because, when you

3 responded back to her --
4 A. Uh-huh.
5 Q. -- you say: We made a couple of amendments to

6 the ordinance, copy attached. ©So what's attached to

7 this is the red-lined version of the ordinance

8 containing the amendments that you made, right?

g A. Uh-huh.
10 Q. But the proposed language that Dr. Hamilton was
11 providing to you was actually incliluded in her e-mail to

12 you, and you see that at the very bottom paragraph of

13 the first page of Exhibit 21. Do you see that?

14 A. Yeah. I'm going back through the e-mail chain,
15 though; and 1I'm seeing -- T think, if you go all the way
16 back to Palm Beach County docket -- or Bates number,

17 rather, 6044 —-

i8 Q. OQOkay.

19 A. -~ and was that the first time that initial

20 e-mail was sent?

21 Q. Well, it lcoks to me like it's the same e-mail
22 and the same response.

23 A. Right. But was that the first time that it was
24 sent to either me or —--

25 Q. Well, it's the same time. It's still Decem